
 

 

 

21 February 2022 

At 5.00 pm 

 

Council 
 



Council 21 February 2022 

  

Agenda 
  
 

 

 
 
1.   Confirmation of Minutes 

 

 

2.   Disclosures of Interest 

 

 

3.   Minutes by the Lord Mayor 

 

 

 3.1   Vale Leon Parmeter Carter OBE 

 

 

 3.2   Donation to Tonga Disaster Appeal 

 

 

4.   Memoranda by the Chief Executive Officer 

 

 

 4.1   Council Committees - Functions, Membership and Election of 
Deputy Chairpersons 

 

 

 4.2   Central Sydney Planning Committee - Election of Councillors 

 

 

 4.3   Local Pedestrian, Cycling and Traffic Calming Committee - Policies 
and Procedures, Membership and Appointment of Chairperson 

 

 

 4.4   Central Sydney Traffic and Transport Committee - Nomination of 
Alternate Member 

 

 

 4.5   Council Representation on External Bodies - Southern Sydney 
Regional Organisation of Councils 

 

 

 4.6   Council Representation on Internal Committees, Advisory Panels 
and Working Groups 

 

 

 4.7   Local Government NSW Special Conference 2022 

 

 

5.   Matters for Tabling 

 

 

6.   Report of the Corporate, Finance, Properties and Tenders Committee 

 

 

 6.1   Disclosures of Interest 

 

 

 6.2   2021/22 Quarter 2 Review - Delivery Program 2017-2021 

 

 

 6.3   Investments Held as at 30 November 2021 

 

 

 6.4   Investments Held as at 31 December 2021  



Council 21 February 2022 

  

Agenda 
  
 

 

 

 6.5   Investments Held as at 31 January 2022 

 

 

 6.6   Lease Approval - Ground Floor Suite 3, Level 1 and 2, 46-52 
Mountain Street, Ultimo 

 

 

 6.7   Lease Approval - Levels 3, 4 and 5, 46-52 Mountain Street, Ultimo 

 

 

 6.8   Tender - T-2021-619 - Reject and Negotiate - Allan Davidson Oval, 
Alexandria - Cricket Nets 

 

 

 6.9   Cancellation of Tender - T-2020-461 - Environmental Monitoring 
Analysis and Reporting 

 

 

 6.10   Cancellation of Tender - T-2021-569 and Exemption from Tender - 
Improvement and Construction Work at Minogue Crescent Reserve, 
Tote Park and Park on Lyons Road 

 

 

 6.11   Exemption from Tender And Contract Variations - Sydney New 
Year's Eve 

 

 

 6.12   Public Exhibition - Precinct Activation Grants Guidelines 

 

 

 6.13   Commercial Creative and Business Event Sponsorship – BESydney 
2022-2023 

 

 

7.   Report of the Environment Committee 

 

 

 7.1   Disclosures of Interest 

 

 

 7.2   Project Scope – Oxford and Liverpool Street Cycleway 

 

 

 7.3   Project Scope - King Street Cycleway - Pitt Street to Phillip Street 

 

 

 7.4   Synthetic Sportfields Program 

 

 

 7.5   Joint Use Project Deed Variation - Alexandria Park Community 
School - Synthetic Field and Park Road - Additional Funds Request 

 

 

8.   Report of the Cultural and Community Committee 

 

 

 8.1   Disclosures of Interest 

 

 

 8.2   Policy - Adoption - Support for Charities Policy 

 

 



Council 21 February 2022 

  

Agenda 
  
 

 

9.   Report of the Transport, Heritage and Planning Committee 

 

 

 9.1   Disclosures of Interest 

 

 

 9.2   Employment Zones Review 

 

 

 9.3   Fire Safety Reports 

 

 

 9.4   Approved Variations to Development Standards Reported to the 
Department of Planning, Industry and Environment 

 

 

10.   Submission - Changes to NSW Infrastructure Contributions 

 

 

11.   Questions on Notice 

 

 

12.   Supplementary Answers to Previous Questions 

 

 

13.   Notices of Motion 

 

 

 13.1   Vale Sadie King OAM 

 

 

 13.2   Closing the Gap 

 

 

 13.3   Theatres and Studios 

 

 

 13.4   Harbour Baths 

 

 

 13.5   Protecting Cyclists and Proper Community Consultation on 
Cycleways 

 

 



Council 21 February 2022 
 

Item 1 

Confirmation of Minutes 

Minutes of the following meetings of Council are submitted for confirmation: 

Meeting of 15 November 2021 

Extraordinary Meeting of 23 December 2021 



Council 21 February 2022 
 

Item 2 

Disclosures of Interest 

Pursuant to the provisions of the City of Sydney Code of Meeting Practice and the City of 
Sydney Code of Conduct, Councillors are required to disclose pecuniary interests in any 
matter on the agenda for this meeting. 

Councillors are also required to disclose any non-pecuniary interests in any matter on the 
agenda for this meeting. 

This will include receipt of reportable political donations over the previous four years. 

In both cases, the nature of the interest must be disclosed. 

Local Government and Planning Legislation Amendment (Political Donations) 
Act 2008 

The Local Government and Planning Legislation Amendment (Political Donations) Act 2008 
(“the Act”) requires the disclosure of relevant political donations or gifts when planning 
applications are made to minimise any perception of undue influence. The amendments to 
the Act require disclosure to the Electoral Funding Authority of: 

 a reportable political donation as defined in the Election Funding and Disclosures 
Act 1981 (a donation of $1000 or more made to or for the benefit of the party, elected 
member, group or candidate or made by a major political donor to or for the benefit of 
a party, elected member, group or candidate, or made to the major political donor), or  

 a gift (as defined in the Election Funding and Disclosures Act 1981) to any local 
councillor or council employee (and includes a disposition of property or a gift of 
money or the provision of other valuable or service for no consideration or for 
inadequate consideration) when a relevant planning application is made to a council.  

A donation of less than $1000 can be a reportable political donation if the aggregated total of 
such donations was made by an entity or person to the same party, elected member, group 
or candidate or person. 



Council 21 February 2022 
 

Item 3.1 

Vale Leon Parmeter Carter OBE 

File No: S051491 

Minute by the Lord Mayor 

To Council: 

I wish to inform Council of the passing of Leon Parmeter Carter OBE, Town Clerk of the City 
of Sydney from 1974 to his retirement in 1992.  

Leon Carter was born on 10 May 1930 at Katoomba, New South Wales, the son of Norman 
Jack and Vennie Catherine Carter. Apart from a brief period driving a truck when he was 
young, he spent his whole working life in local government.  

He began as a Junior Clerk at Berrigan Shire Council in 1948, where his father had worked 
as an electrical engineer. Over the following years he moved to other rural councils, each 
time into a more senior position than the last. By 1954, he held the number three position at 
Kogarah Council. Five years later he crossed the harbour to become Deputy Town Clerk at 
Lane Cove, becoming Town Clerk the following year. In 1971, he crossed the harbour again 
to become a Deputy Town Clerk at Sydney City Council. Three years later, he reached the 
pinnacle of his career, becoming Town Clerk. He was 44.  

Leon arrived at the City three years after the Askin Liberal Government’s carve up of the 
City, with Glebe and Forest Lodge transferred to Leichhardt Council, part of Newtown to 
Marrickville and Paddington to Woollahra. Paddington South and the remaining area south 
of Cleveland Street was incorporated as South Sydney Council. These changes ensured 
that the business oriented Civic Reform Association won a majority on the new smaller City 
Council.   

Commissioning the late George Clark to develop the City’s first strategic plan was an early 
action of the new Council. This plan proposed a more pedestrianised city, including the 
creation of a car free Martin Place, tree lined boulevards and a heritage floor space scheme 
among other progressive reforms. Another outcome of the plan was the idea of creating a 
new civic square opposite Sydney Town Hall. As the Council’s most senior official, Leon was 
responsible for overseeing implementation of the plan and its update in 1976.  

In the early 1980s, Leon began the process of purchasing the properties needed to make 
the civic square idea a reality. It remains an integral part of our Sustainable Sydney 2030 
strategy. 

I first encountered Leon in early 1982, when the Wran Labor Government reversed much of 
the 1968 carve up by merging South Sydney Council with the City for political reasons. At 
the time I had been a South Sydney Alderman for just 15 months. 

I remember him as a man who was charming, helpful and “dapper”, a word we rarely hear 
these days. I appreciated his support for my efforts at getting trees planted and streets 
landscaped.  

He also had a reputation for being a great raconteur and having a wicked sense of humour. 



Council 21 February 2022 
 

These attributes enabled him to serve and manage the 28-member council created by the 
amalgamation (compared to 10 councillors today). He faced additional challenges after the 
1984 Council elections, which resulted in a Council comprising 12 Labor, six Liberals and 
nine Independents.  

Many people wrongly assumed Leon was a conservative, given his demeanour and his 
appointment by a Civic Reform Lord Mayor. He was the archetypal public servant able to 
serve both sides of politics and implement their policies. For many years he did not vote in 
elections to preserve his non-partisan position. In a 1983 interview he explained: 

"Whoever gets control here, I will give them my best advice. I give great 
support to whoever has responsibility for running the city, no matter their 
party. I don't want to be seen as too close to politicians. I don't want to be 
seen as a wheeler dealer who plays one against the other." 

In the same interview, he was asked what he thought was the most important thing the 
Council had done during his time as Town Clerk. He nominated the short-lived two per cent 
voluntary contribution developers made towards affordable housing, describing it as a “great 
social initiative” that worked – an initiative tragically kyboshed by the State Labor 
Government when it sacked the Council in 1987. Labor’s appointed Commissioners 
transferred the Council’s housing stock to the State Government at no cost. Leon later made 
it known that he had no part in the decision. 

One of the architects of that scheme was the late Tony Reeves, a journalist, who had a 
reputation as a leftwing firebrand. In 1985, Tony succinctly summed up Leon after admitting 
he had found his preconceived ideas about him were wrong. 

Tony said: 

“Leon is the most astute manager of the business of the Council. He is 
acutely aware of the politics that are played there and manages to carve 
his way through the political quagmire to keep the business running as 
smoothly as possible.” 

It is a view with which I fully concur. 

Leon will be remembered as an exemplary public servant, one of Sydney’s important 
identities of the late 20th century and a great liver of life. 

I am saddened by his passing and extend my sincere condolences to Ann and his family. 

  



Council 21 February 2022 
 

Recommendation 

It is resolved that: 

(A) all persons attending this meeting of Council observe one minute’s silence to 
commemorate the life of Leon Parmeter Carter OBE, former Town Clerk of the City of 
Sydney and his significant contribution to local government and the City of Sydney; 

(B) Council express its condolences to Leon’s widow Ann, his daughter Sally and son 
Charles; and 

(C) the Lord Mayor be requested to convey Council’s condolences to Leon’s family. 

COUNCILLOR CLOVER MOORE 

Lord Mayor 



Council 21 February 2022 
 

Item 3.2 

Donation to Tonga Disaster Appeal 

File No: S051491 

Minute by the Lord Mayor 

To Council: 

On 14 January 2022, the Hunga Tonga–Hunga Haʻapai volcano erupted on an island in the 
Tongan archipelago in the southern Pacific Ocean that created a vast ash cloud across the 
nation. The eruption reached a powerful climax on 15 January 2022, that caused tsunamis in 
Tonga, Fiji, American Samoa, Vanuatu, and along the Pacific rim, including damaging 
tsunamis in New Zealand, Japan, the United States, the Russian Far East, Chile, and Peru. 
At least three people were killed, some were injured, and many remain missing in Tonga 
from tsunami waves that were up to 15 metres high.  

On 19 January 2022, the Government of Tonga issued a State of Emergency.  Water 
supplies are seriously affected by volcanic ash, houses are destroyed and around 60 to 70 
per cent of livestock have perished because grazing land is damaged. While international 
communication links to Tonga are being restored, a severed undersea cable will take time to 
fix, and inter-island communications are challenging with limited satellite and radio links. 

I extend my deepest sympathy to the families of the victims who lost their lives, as well as to 
all the communities who have lost their homes and livelihoods from the volcanic eruption and 
tsunami. 

The United Nations has called on the international community to help Tonga’s people. They 
say they are going to need sustained support responding to a disaster of this scale. It is 
evident that the volcanic eruption and tsunami have caused significant damage to the 
remote island communities and relief supplies will be needed over the coming weeks and 
months. We have a close and special relationship with our Pacific neighbours, and they 
need our support.  

I recommend that the City of Sydney donate $50,000 to the Australian Committee for 
UNICEF Limited (ABN 35 060 581 437) as part of UNICEF Australia’s Tonga Recovery 
Appeal, and $50,000 to Oxfam Australia (ABN 18 055 208 636) who have established an 
international crisis fund for Tonga. Both are registered charities on the Australian Council for 
International Disaster register. 

Our donation to UNICEF would support emergency supplies including water, sanitation, and 
hygiene kits, as well as recreational kits for children that provide psychosocial recovery. 

Our donation to Oxfam would be directed to their International Crisis Fund donations, to 
support the affected areas. Oxfam is working with local partners on the ground in Tonga to 
support life-saving food distributions, clean water, shelter, hygiene kits, cash assistance and 
other essential items. 

  



Council 21 February 2022 
 

These donations comply with the City of Sydney Humanitarian Emergency Response 
Guidelines, adopted by Council in August 2010, the Support for Charities Guidelines which 
were approved by the Chief Executive Officer in May 2018, and are in line with previous 
donations.  

These donations are also consistent with the Draft Support for Charities Policy.  

Recommendation 

It is resolved that: 

(A) Council donate:  

(i) $50,000 to the Australian Committee for UNICEF Limited as part of their Tonga 
Recovery Appeal, from the 2021/22 General Contingency Fund; and 

(ii) $50,000 to Oxfam Australia as part of their International Crisis Fund for Tonga, 
from the 2021/22 General Contingency Fund; and 

(B) the Chief Executive Officer be requested to: 

(i) use City of Sydney online communication channels to encourage additional 
support for Tonga recovery appeals from City communities; and 

(ii) arrange a program for staff donations to Tonga recovery appeals and for Council 
to match dollar for dollar any contributions until the end of March 2022 from the 
2021/22 General Contingency Fund. 

COUNCILLOR CLOVER MOORE 

Lord Mayor 



Council 21 February 2022 
 

Item 4.1 

Council Committees - Functions, Membership, Election of Deputy 
Chairpersons 

File No: S062388 

Memorandum by the Chief Executive Officer 

To Council: 

In accordance with the provisions of section 360 of the Local Government Act 1993, the 
Local Government (General) Regulation 2021 and clause 18.2 of the City of Sydney Code of 
Meeting Practice (the Code), the council may establish such committees as it considers 
necessary. 

In 2019, Council resolved to adopt meeting times, functions, policies and procedures of the 
following Committees and Sub-Committees: 

 Corporate, Finance, Properties and Tenders Committee, inclusive of the Economic 
Development and Business Sub-Committee, commencing at 2.00pm. 

 Environment Committee, commencing at the conclusion of the Corporate, Finance, 
Properties and Tenders Committee. 

 Cultural and Community Committee, comprising two Sub-Committees: the Cultural and 
Creative Sub-Committee and the Healthy Communities Sub-Committee, meeting 
consecutively at the conclusion of the Environment Committee. 

 Transport, Heritage and Planning Committee, commencing at the conclusion of the 
Cultural and Community Committee. 

Committee Structure 

Following a review of the administrative arrangements associated with Council’s existing 
Committee structure, a number of amendments are recommended: 

 the establishment of four new Committees –  

o the Business and Economic Development Committee (previously a Sub-
Committee of the Corporate, Finance, Properties and Tenders Committee); 

o the Housing For All Committee;  

o the Cultural and Creative Committee; and 

o the Resilient Communities Committee.  

The Housing For All Committee, Cultural and Creative Committee and the Resilient 
Communities Committee replace the Cultural and Community Committee (comprising 
two Sub-Committees: the Cultural and Creative Sub-Committee and the Healthy 
Communities Sub-Committee). 



Council 21 February 2022 
 

 the Environment Committee and Transport, Heritage and Planning Committee be 
combined into the Transport, Heritage, Environment and Planning Committee  

The administrative arrangements associated with Council’s committees are detailed in the 
“Functions, Delegations, Policies and Procedures of Council Committees” (refer Attachment 
A). This document has been amended to reflect the changes in Committee structure detailed 
above. 

Election of Deputy Chairpersons  

Council may elect a Deputy Chairperson of each Committee in accordance with clauses 
18.15 and 18.16 of the Code of Meeting Practice.  

Previously, the Council has chosen to hold a separate election for each of the Deputy 
Chairperson positions. Elections were conducted by open, exhaustive voting (that is, by a 
show of hands or similar means for candidates duly nominated).  

At the Council meeting of 21 September 2020, Council elected Deputy Chairpersons for 
each of Council’s Committees and Sub-Committees for a term commencing immediately and 
ending on the day appointed for the next ordinary election of Council, with the Lord Mayor 
chairing all Committees. 

Council will be required to elect a Deputy Chairperson for each of the following Committees 
for the new term of office commencing immediately and ending on 30 September 2022: 

(1) Corporate, Finance, Properties and Tenders Committee 

(2) Business and Economic Development Committee 

(3) Housing For All Committee 

(4) Cultural and Creative Committee 

(5) Resilient Communities Committee 

(6) Transport, Heritage, Environment and Planning Committee 

  



Council 21 February 2022 
 

Recommendation 

It is resolved that: 

(A) the Functions, Delegations, Policies and Procedures of Council Committees, as shown 
at Attachment A to the subject Memorandum, be endorsed and adopted; 

(B) Council elect the Deputy Chairpersons of the Corporate, Finance, Properties and 
Tenders Committee, Business and Economic Development Committee, Housing For 
All Committee, Cultural and Creative Committee, Resilient Communities Committee 
and Transport, Heritage, Environment and Planning Committee for a term 
commencing immediately following the election and ending on 30 September 2022; 

(C) the method of voting be open, exhaustive voting; and 

(D) the Chief Executive Officer conduct the election forthwith. 

MONICA BARONE 

Chief Executive Officer 

Attachments 

Attachment A. Functions, Delegations, Policies and Procedures of Council Committees 



Attachment A 

Functions, Delegations, Policies and 

Procedures of Council Committees 



CORPORATE, FINANCE, PROPERTIES AND TENDERS 
COMMITTEE 

 
Meeting Time: Monday 2.00pm 

Venue: Council Chamber 

Chairperson: The Lord Mayor – Councillor Clover Moore 

Deputy Chairperson: (To be determined) 

Members: Councillor HY William Chan 
 Councillor (Waskam) Emelda Davis 
 Councillor Sylvie Ellsmore 
 Councillor Lyndon Gannon 
 Councillor Shauna Jarrett 
 Councillor Robert Kok 
 Councillor Linda Scott 
 Councillor Jess Scully 
 Councillor Yvonne Weldon 
   

Quorum: A majority of the members of the Committee 

Functions: To deal with all matters relating to: 

(a) Finance 

(b) Consideration of budgets and quarterly budget performance 

(c) Information technology policy 

(d) Asset management 

(e) Internal and external audit  

(f) Fees and charges 

(g) Rating matters 

(h) City vehicles and fleet management 

(i) City operational and property investment facilities 

(j) Industrial relations 

(k) Organisational policy  

(l) City property management, including management, 
maintenance, leasing, licensing and sale of Council property 
(excluding footways but including the use, leasing and purchase 
of other non-Council property) 

(m) Tenders valued at over $5 million  



BUSINESS AND ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT COMMITTEE 
 

 
Meeting Time: At the conclusion of the meeting of the Corporate, Finance, Properties 

and Tenders Committee 
 
Venue: Council Chamber 
 
Chairperson: The Lord Mayor 
 
Deputy Chairperson: (To be determined) 
 
Members: Councillor HY William Chan 
 Councillor (Waskam) Emelda Davis 
 Councillor Sylvie Ellsmore 
 Councillor Lyndon Gannon 
 Councillor Shauna Jarrett 
 Councillor Robert Kok 
 Councillor Linda Scott 
 Councillor Jess Scully 
 Councillor Yvonne Weldon 
 
Quorum: A majority of the members of the Committee 
 
Functions: To deal with all matters relating to: 
 

(a) Economic development and strategy 

(b) Global city relationships, trade and marketing 

(c) Innovation 

(d) Village economies 

(e) Small business 

(f) City retailing  

(g) Operational and promotional issues relating to restaurants and 
hotels 

(h) Tourism 

(i) Grants and sponsorships related to the above 

 

  



HOUSING FOR ALL COMMITTEE 
 

 
Meeting Time: At the conclusion of the meeting of the Business and Economic 

Development Committee 
 
Venue: Council Chamber 
 
Chairperson: The Lord Mayor 
 
Deputy Chairperson: (To be determined) 
 
Members: Councillor HY William Chan 
 Councillor (Waskam) Emelda Davis 
 Councillor Sylvie Ellsmore 
 Councillor Lyndon Gannon 
 Councillor Shauna Jarrett 
 Councillor Robert Kok 
 Councillor Linda Scott 
 Councillor Jess Scully 
 Councillor Yvonne Weldon 
 
Quorum: A majority of the members of the Committee 
 
Functions: To deal with all matters relating to: 
 

(a) Affordable and diverse housing 

(b) Social housing 

(c) Community housing 

(d) Grants and sponsorships related to the above 

  



CULTURAL AND CREATIVE COMMITTEE 

 

 
Meeting Time: At the conclusion of the Housing For All Committee 
 
Venue: Council Chamber 
 
Chairperson: The Lord Mayor 
 
Deputy Chairperson: (To be determined) 
 
Members: Councillor HY William Chan 
 Councillor (Waskam) Emelda Davis 
 Councillor Sylvie Ellsmore 
 Councillor Lyndon Gannon 
 Councillor Shauna Jarrett 
 Councillor Robert Kok 
 Councillor Linda Scott 
 Councillor Jess Scully 
 Councillor Yvonne Weldon 
 
Quorum: A majority of the members of the Committee 
 
Functions:  To deal with all matters relating to: 

(a) Arts, culture, creative industries and creative practice City events, 
programs and activities 

(b) Cultural and social diversity 

(c) Cultural, social and economic disadvantage 

(d) Liquor licensing 

(e) Cultural venue management 

(f) Tourism 

(g) the Film Industry 

(h) Grants and sponsorships related to the above 

  



RESILIENT COMMUNITIES COMMITTEE 

 

 
Meeting Time: At the conclusion of the Cultural and Creative Committee 
 
Venue: Council Chamber 
 
Chairperson: The Lord Mayor 
 
Deputy Chairperson: (To be determined) 
 
Members: Councillor HY William Chan 
 Councillor (Waskam) Emelda Davis 
 Councillor Sylvie Ellsmore 
 Councillor Lyndon Gannon 
 Councillor Shauna Jarrett 
 Councillor Robert Kok 
 Councillor Linda Scott 
 Councillor Jess Scully 
 Councillor Yvonne Weldon 
 
Quorum: A majority of the members of the Committee 
 
Functions:  To deal with all matters relating to: 

(a) Assistance to community and cultural organisations 

(b) Community services 

(c) Recreation services 

(d) Child care services 

(e) Library services 

(f) City Community facilities 

(g) City Playground facilities 

(h) Innovation 

(i) Grants and sponsorships related to the above 

  



TRANSPORT, HERITAGE, ENVIRONMENT AND PLANNING 
COMMITTEE 

 

 
Meeting Times: At the conclusion of the Resilient Communities Committee 
 
Venue: Council Chamber 
 
Chairperson: The Lord Mayor 
 
Deputy Chairperson: (To be determined) 
 
Members: Councillor HY William Chan 
 Councillor (Waskam) Emelda Davis 
 Councillor Sylvie Ellsmore 
 Councillor Lyndon Gannon 
 Councillor Shauna Jarrett 
 Councillor Robert Kok 
 Councillor Linda Scott 
 Councillor Jess Scully 
 Councillor Yvonne Weldon 
 
Quorum: A majority of the members of the Committee 
 
Functions:   To deal with all matters relating to:  

(a) Planning instruments, ie, LEPs, DCPs, Policies  

(b) Transport and access initiatives and issues  

(c) Parking policy  

(d) Traffic and the Local Pedestrian, Cycling and Traffic Calming 
Committee  

(e) Referrals from other authorities for comment on any of the 
above matters  

(f) All applications for footway usage approvals 

(g) Environmental management and sustainability 

(h) Parks and open spaces 

(i) Street trees 

(j) Green roofs 

(k) Green lanes 

(l) Urban infrastructure, including roads, stormwater, drainage and 
footpaths 



(m) Swimming in the harbour 

(n) Street and footpath maintenance and cleaning 

(o) Graffiti removal 

(p) Waste and recycling  

(q) Street furniture 

(r) Street lighting 

(s) Grants and sponsorships related to the above 

  



POLICIES AND PROCEDURES OF COMMITTEES 

 

 

(a) The structure and functions of Committees is standing policy of Council. 

(b) All correspondence from, or to, all Committees, and Sub-Committees, shall be 
handled through normal Council processes. 

(c) All Committees and Sub-Committees shall be advisory to Council and have no 
independent role, except where specific authorities are delegated to them by 
Council. 

(d) Matters dealt with in Committee shall be submitted to Council without 
recommendation only when the chairperson so determines. 

(e) The chairpersons of Standing Committees and Sub-Committees shall have a 
casting vote in the event of an equality of voting. 

 



Council 21 February 2022 
 

Item 4.2 

Central Sydney Planning Committee - Election of Councillors 

File No: S062388 

Memorandum by the Chief Executive Officer 

To Council: 

The Central Sydney Planning Committee (CSPC) is constituted by the City of Sydney Act 
1988 (the Act). 

Section 34(1) of the Act provides that the Committee shall consist of seven members: 

(a) the Lord Mayor of Sydney; 

(b) two councillors of the City of Sydney elected by the City Council; and 

(c) four persons (two of whom are senior State government employees and two of 
whom are not State or local government employees) appointed by the Minister 
administering Part 4 of the Planning Act, each having expertise in at least one of 
architecture, building, civic design, construction, engineering, transport, tourism, 
the arts, planning or heritage.  

The persons currently appointed by the Minister pursuant to clause (c) as members and 
alternate members are Ms Abbie Galvin, Mr Brett Whitworth, Mr Dick Persson AM, Mr 
Richard Horne, Ms Olivia Hyde, Mr David Gainsford, Mr Julian Frecklington and Mr Bruce 
James. 

Previously, the Council has chosen to hold a separate election for each of the two Council-
elected members; the elections were by open, exhaustive voting (that is, by a show of hands 
or similar means for candidates duly nominated).  

At the Council meeting of 21 September 2020, Council elected Councillors Philip Thalis and 
Jess Scully to the two positions on the Central Sydney Planning Committee, effective 
immediately until the day appointed for the next ordinary election of Council.  

The Act provides that Council may appoint an alternate for each of the elected members. At 
the Council meeting of 21 September 2020, Council appointed Councillor Linda Scott as 
alternate to Councillor Thalis and Councillor Robert Kok as alternate to Councillor Scully until 
the day appointed for the next ordinary election of Council. 

  



Council 21 February 2022 
 

Recommendation 

It is resolved that: 

(A) Council elect two Councillors to be members of the Central Sydney Planning 
Committee commencing immediately following the election and ending on 30 
September 2022; 

(B) the method of voting be open, exhaustive voting; 

(C) the Chief Executive Officer conduct the election forthwith; and  

(D) Council appoint alternates for each member elected. 

MONICA BARONE 

Chief Executive Officer 



Council 21 February 2022 
 

Item 4.3 

Local Pedestrian, Cycling and Traffic Calming Committee - Policies and 
Procedures, Membership and Appointment of Chairperson 

File No: S062388 

Memorandum by the Chief Executive Officer 

To Council: 

The Local Pedestrian, Cycling and Traffic Calming Committee is a statutory committee, 
established under the Roads Act 1993 and in accordance with administrative procedures 
required by Transport for NSW (formerly Roads and Maritime Services). 

Councils have been delegated certain powers by Transport for NSW regarding the regulation 
of traffic on local roads. A condition of this delegation is that councils must take into account 
the advice of their Local Pedestrian, Cycling and Traffic Calming Committee before 
exercising these powers. 

The Local Pedestrian, Cycling and Traffic Calming Committee has no decision-making 
powers. It is primarily a technical review body which is required to advise Council and City 
staff on traffic-related matters. Council and City staff are therefore not bound or required to 
implement a proposal supported by the Local Pedestrian, Cycling and Traffic Calming 
Committee. Any proposal supported by the Local Pedestrian, Cycling and Traffic Calming 
Committee must be approved by either the elected Council or authorised City staff 
(depending on the nature of the proposal) if it is to be implemented. This can only be done 
when the advice of the Committee is unanimous. Where the advice of the Committee is not 
unanimous, Council must separately notify and obtain the endorsement of Transport for 
NSW and NSW Police. 

The Local Pedestrian, Cycling and Traffic Calming Committee is made up of four formal 
(voting) members as follows: 

 one representative of Council (Chairperson or alternate Chairperson); 

 one representative of NSW Police; 

 one representative of Transport for NSW; 

 the local State Member of Parliament (MP) or their nominee;  

 one representative of a relevant NSW Government agency (where applicable)*. 

Representatives of NSW Police and State MPs can only vote on matters in their respective 
command or electorate. 

*The NSW Government agencies are formal (voting) members for matters relating to roads 
over which they have jurisdiction only (for example, Property NSW / Place Management 
NSW / Infrastructure NSW). The City of Sydney Council is not a formal (voting) member for 
these matters. 



Council 21 February 2022 
 

The Chairperson and alternate Chairperson are to be determined by Council, and Council’s 
representative may be any Councillor or City staff. Council (in consultation with the formal 
members of the Local Pedestrian, Cycling and Traffic Calming Committee) may also decide 
to have additional informal (non-voting) representatives who can provide non-binding input 
on matters under consideration. Informal (non-voting) members of the Local Pedestrian, 
Cycling and Traffic Calming Committee are as follows: 

 Transit Systems representative; 

 Transport Workers Union representative;  

 Cycling Representative appointed by the Lord Mayor; 

 Pedestrian Representative appointed by Council; and 

 Local Health District Representative appointed by Council. 

City staff convene meetings and provide administrative support for the Committee, including 
the preparation of agendas, reports and minutes, and formally represent Council when both 
the Chairperson and the alternate Chairperson are absent.  

At the Council meeting of 21 September 2020, Councillor Philip Thalis and Councillor Linda 
Scott were appointed Chairperson and alternate Chairperson of the Local Pedestrian, 
Cycling and Traffic Calming Committee respectively for a term of office ending on the day 
appointed for the next ordinary election of Council, subsequently held on Saturday, 4 
December 2021. 

In order to ensure there was capacity to deal with any urgent matters requiring the 
consideration of the Local Pedestrian, Cycling and Traffic Calming Committee during the 
post-election period, at the Council meeting of 15 November 2021, the Chief Executive 
Officer was appointed as interim Chairperson of the Local Pedestrian, Cycling and Traffic 
Calming Committee for the period 4 December 2021 to the day of the post-election 
extraordinary meeting of Council. 

As a further interim measure, at the extraordinary Council meeting of 23 December 2021, 
the Lord Mayor - Councillor Clover Moore was appointed as interim Chairperson of the Local 
Pedestrian, Cycling and Traffic Calming Committee for the period 23 December 2021 until a 
Councillor Chairperson and alternate Chairperson are appointed. 

  



Council 21 February 2022 
 

Recommendation 

It is resolved that: 

(A) the Policies and Procedures of the Local Pedestrian, Cycling and Traffic Calming 
Committee, as contained in Attachment A to the subject Memorandum, be endorsed 
and adopted; 

(B) the informal (non-voting) representatives to the Local Pedestrian, Cycling and Traffic 
Calming Committee, as outlined in the subject Memorandum, be endorsed;  

(C) Council appoint Councillor ……………………… as the Chairperson of the Local 
Pedestrian, Cycling and Traffic Calming Committee for a term commencing 
immediately and ending on 30 September 2022; and  

(D) Council appoint Councillor ……………………….. as the alternate Chairperson of the 
Local Pedestrian, Cycling and Traffic Calming Committee, for a term commencing 
immediately and ending on 30 September 2022. 

MONICA BARONE 

Chief Executive Officer 

Attachments 

Attachment A. Policies and Procedures of the Local Pedestrian, Cycling and Traffic 
Calming Committee 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Attachment A 
 

 

Policies and Procedures of the Local 

Pedestrian, Cycling and Traffic Calming 

Committee 



 

 
 

The Local Pedestrian, Cycling and Traffic Calming Committee is a statutory committee, 
established under the Roads Act 1993 and in accordance with administrative procedures 
established by Transport for NSW (formerly Roads and Maritime Services). 

 
Chairperson: To be determined 

Alternate Chairperson:To be determined 

Members: There are four formal members of the Traffic Committee: 
 

(a) Four formal (voting) representatives, one from each of the 
following - 

 City of Sydney Council (Chairperson) 

 NSW Police Service 

 Transport for NSW  

 Local State Members of Parliament or their nominee. 

 NSW Government Agencies** 

Note: representatives of the NSW Police Service and representatives 
of State MPs can only vote on issues in their command or electorate 
respectively. 

**The NSW Government agencies are formal (voting) members for 
matters relating to roads over which they have jurisdiction only (for 
example, Property NSW / Place Management NSW / Infrastructure 
NSW). The City of Sydney Council is not a formal (voting) member for 
these matters. 

(b) Informal (non-voting) representatives, where relevant, from each 
of the following – 

 Transit Systems representative 

 Transport Workers Union representative 

 a cycling representative appointed by the Lord Mayor and 

 a pedestrian representative appointed by the Lord Mayor. 

The Chairperson and their alternate shall be determined by Council. 
The views of informal members are considered but not binding. 

Administration: City staff convene meetings and provide administrative support for the 
Committee, including the preparation of agendas, reports and minutes, 
and formally represent Council when both the Chairperson and the 
alternate are absent. 

 
LOCAL PEDESTRIAN, CYCLING AND TRAFFIC CALMING 

COMMITTEE 



Function: Council has been delegated certain powers from Transport for 
NSW with regard to traffic matters on local roads. A condition of 
this delegation is that Council must take into account the advice 
of the Local Pedestrian, Cycling and Traffic Calming Committee. 
The Local Pedestrian, Cycling and Traffic Calming Committee 
has no decision-making powers. It is primarily a technical review 
body which is required to advise Council on traffic related 
matters. All proposals recommended by the Local Pedestrian, 
Cycling and Traffic Calming Committee must still be formally 
approved by either the elected Council or authorised City staff 
(depending on the nature of the proposal). This can only be done 
when the advice of the Committee is unanimous. Where the 
advice of the Committee is not unanimous, Council must 
separately notify and obtain endorsement from Transport for 
NSW and the NSW Police Service. 

 

Meetings/Attendance:  The Local Pedestrian, Cycling and Traffic Calming Committee 
generally meets every third Thursday of the month at 10.00am 
in the Council Chamber, Level 1, Sydney Town Hall, George 
Street, Sydney (or as advised). Members of the public are 
welcome to attend and speak to an item on the Local Pedestrian, 
Cycling and Traffic Calming Committee agenda. Addresses to 
the Committee are limited to 3 minutes, but this can be extended 
at the discretion of the Chairperson. If a member of the public 
wishes to attend, it is requested that they inform the Committee 
Secretary in  advance on 9265 9648. 

 



Council 21 February 2022 
 

Item 4.4 

Central Sydney Traffic and Transport Committee - Nomination of Alternate 
Member 

File No: S111818 

Memorandum by the Chief Executive Officer 

To Council: 

In 2012, the Central Sydney Traffic and Transport Committee (CSTTC) was established 
following amendments to the City of Sydney Act 1988. 

The primary function of the Central Sydney Traffic and Transport Committee is to coordinate 
transport policy and major transport related works between the City of Sydney and the NSW 
Government.  

The Central Sydney Traffic and Transport Committee is comprised of seven members:  

 the Secretary of the Department of Transport (Chair);  

 three persons nominated by the City of Sydney and appointed by the Minister; and  

 three persons representing the NSW Government and appointed by the Minister.  

The current members of the Central Sydney Traffic and Transport Committee nominated by 
the City of Sydney are:  

 Lord Mayor Clover Moore (alternate member Councillor Philip Thalis);  

 Graham Jahn, Director City Planning, Development and Transport (alternate member 
Andrew Thomas, Executive Manager, Planning and Development); and  

 Sebastian Smyth, Executive Manager, City Access and Transport (alternate member 
Andrew Aspden, Manager Transport Planning). 

The term of office of Councillor Thalis concluded on Friday, 3 December 2021. Therefore, in 
accordance with section 51G (b) and Schedule 2 of the City of Sydney Act 1988, approval of 
Council is requested for the following:  

 revocation of the current nomination of Councillor Philip Thalis as the alternate 
member of the Central Sydney Traffic and Transport Committee for the Lord Mayor 
Clover Moore; and 

 the nomination of a new Councillor as the alternate member for the Lord Mayor Clover 
Moore. 



Council 21 February 2022 
 

Recommendation 

It is resolved that: 

(A) the nomination of Councillor Philip Thalis as an alternate member for the Lord Mayor 
Clover Moore of the Central Sydney Traffic and Transport Committee be revoked; and 

(B) Council nominate Councillor …………………..…. to the position of alternate member of 
the Central Sydney Traffic and Transport Committee for the Lord Mayor Clover Moore. 

MONICA BARONE 

Chief Executive Officer 



Council 21 February 2022 
 

Item 4.5 

Council Representation on External Bodies - Southern Sydney Regional 
Organisation of Councils 

File No: S111818 

Memorandum by the Chief Executive Officer 

To Council: 

The Lord Mayor and Councillors represent the City of Sydney on various external bodies 
such as the Southern Sydney Regional Organisation of Councils (SSROC). 

Following the local government elections, some of Council’s previously appointed 
representatives to these bodies are no longer Councillors and it is therefore necessary for 
Council to appoint new representatives.  

Established in 1986, SSROC is a voluntary regional grouping of councils located in the 
southern Sydney metropolitan area. SSROC provides a forum for member councils to deal 
with common issues, particularly those that cross local government area boundaries. Key 
areas of focus include planning, environment, transport, sustainability, procurement and 
waste management. 

The City is represented by either elected Councillors or Council staff on the external body – 
Southern Sydney Regional Organisation of Councils (SSROC). 

Council is entitled to nominate two delegates and two alternate delegates to SSROC. 

Recommendation 

It is resolved that: 

(A) Council appoint the following Councillors as Council’s representatives on the external 
bodies listed below: 

Southern Sydney Regional Organisation of Councils (SSROC)  

(i) Councillors …………………… and ………………….. (2 delegates)  

(ii) Councillors …………………… and ………………….. (2 alternates) 

MONICA BARONE 

Chief Executive Officer 



Council 21 February 2022 
 

Item 4.6 

Council Representation on Internal Committees, Advisory Panels and Working 
Groups 

File No: S111818 

Memorandum by the Chief Executive Officer 

To Council: 

Council has established a number of internal committees, advisory panels and a working 
group with Council appointed Councillor representatives that provide advice on the policies 
and operations of the City of Sydney across various subject areas. Given the need for urgent 
recovery action in many areas of our community and the ongoing work needed for 
development and implementation of the City’s strategies it is recommended that Council 
revise the current advisory panels and establish some new panels and a working group to 
assist with high priority actions. 

It is recommended that Council  

 endorse the establishment of a Business, Economic Development and Covid 
Recovery Advisory Panel; 

 endorse the establishment of a Cultural and Creative Sector Recovery Advisory 
Panel; 

 endorse the establishment of a Housing For All Working Group; 

 endorse the establishment of a Multicultural Advisory Panel; and 

 appoint Councillor representatives to the various new and established internal 
committees, advisory panels and working group. 

Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Advisory Panel 

The Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Advisory Panel was established by Council in June 
2008. The purpose of the panel is to provide advice on the policies and operations of the 
City of Sydney in relation to matters of importance to Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander 
communities, including: 

• Advising Council on the needs of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people living 
in the City of Sydney’s Local Government Area. 

• Advising Council on the development and implementation of Sustainable Sydney 
2030-2050, the City of Sydney’s Reconciliation Action Plan and other relevant 
plans as they are adopted by Council. 

• Promoting an increased knowledge and understanding of Aboriginal and Torres 
Strait Islander culture and society in the wider community and representing the 
interests of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people in the local area. 

• Advising Council on programming of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander events. 



Council 21 February 2022 
 

• Providing input to policy development, planning and advice to Council across all 
areas where there is likely to be an impact on Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander 
people, including economic development, Indigenous employment and Aboriginal 
business development. 

• Actively promoting and facilitating reconciliation between Aboriginal and Torres 
Strait Islanders peoples and Council. 

Membership of the Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Advisory Panel will consist of up to 
17 members including the Lord Mayor (or delegate) and one City of Sydney Councillor. 

Audit, Risk and Compliance Committee 

The Audit, Risk and Compliance Committee plays an important role in the City’s governance 
framework. It provides Council with independent oversight and monitoring of the City’s audit, 
compliance and risk processes and its other internal control activities. 

The Committee reports to Council through the Corporate, Finance, Properties and Tenders 
Committee. 

The Audit, Risk and Compliance Committee has operated for several years as an integral 
part of the City’s corporate governance framework. The primary objectives of the Committee 
are to: 

• assist the Council in discharging their responsibilities relating to: financial reporting 
practices, business ethics, policies and practices, accounting policies, risk 
management and internal controls, compliance with laws, regulations, standards 
and best practice guidelines; and 

• ensure the integrity of the internal audit function. 

The Audit, Risk and Compliance Committee operates under the Audit, Risk and Compliance 
Committee Charter, which is endorsed by the Audit, Risk and Compliance Committee 
annually. 

Committee membership consist of: 

• the Lord Mayor (or delegate) 

• one Councillor 

• three independent external members (with an independent external member to be 
the chairperson). 

Following recent amendments to the Local Government Act 1993 to mandate Audit, Risk 
and Improvement Committees for all councils, new regulations and mandatory guidelines are 
currently being developed by the Office of Local Government. Following finalisation of those 
framework documents the City will review and update the Audit Risk and Compliance 
Committee charter and report back to Council as required.  

  



Council 21 February 2022 
 

Business, Economic Development and Covid Recovery Advisory Panel 

It is proposed that a Business, Economic Development and Covid Recovery Advisory Panel 
be established.  

The primary role of the Business, Economic Development and Covid Recovery Advisory 
Panel is to provide high-level independent expert advice to the City on: 

 Economic development activities and advocacy required to support the recovery of 
the City’s businesses and economy affected by the pandemic, including the retail 
and hospitality sectors as well as the return of workers to the CBD.  

 The development of the 24 hour economy in partnership with the NSW Government.  

 Strategies for the City to support a range of economic areas such as trade and 
investment attraction, talent attraction, the innovation economy, green economy, 
sustainable finance, equitable economy and the visitor economy. 

 The development and implementation of the Sustainable Sydney 2030-2050 vision 
and future economic strategies.  

The strategy will set the pathway for the City’s contribution over the medium term to 
sustainable recovery of the City of Sydney local economy, particularly the Sydney CBD - 
NSW’s most significant, but heavily impacted, economic centre in a post Covid-19 
environment. 

The membership of the Business, Economic Development and Covid Recovery Advisory 
Panel will include a broad range of members who are highly recognised in relevant 
professional fields and who have demonstrated experience and seniority (CEO or 
equivalent). 

This panel will provide an opportunity for the City to proactively seek expert advice from 
representatives of groups who are key to real and sustained economic recovery. 

It is proposed that membership will consist of up to 10 members including the Lord Mayor (or 
delegate) and one City of Sydney Councillor. 

Cultural and Creative Sector Recovery Advisory Panel  

It is proposed that a Creative and Cultural Sector Recovery Advisory Panel be established 
(formerly the Nightlife and Creative Sector Advisory Panel).  

The Panel will provide advice on issues affecting the cultural and creative sector as it 
recovers from the ongoing devastating impacts of the Covid-19 pandemic. This will include 
advising on how cultural and creative sector can contribute to the revitalisation of Sydney’s 
nightlife. It will help set the pathway for the City’s contribution over the medium term to 
sustainable recovery of the City’s creative and cultural life. 

An important role of the Cultural and Creative Sector Panel is to provide high-level 
independent expert advice to the City on the development and implementation of the 
Sustainable Sydney 2030-2050 and the City of Sydney Cultural and Creative Policy and 
Strategy.  

  



Council 21 February 2022 
 

The membership of the Cultural and Creative Sector Panel will include a broad range of 
members who are highly recognised in relevant professional fields and who have 
demonstrated experience, and knowledge in the arts, culture and creativity and their 
contribution to City living. Such people may include practitioners, business owners and 
people with related specialist expertise.  

It is proposed that membership will consist of up to 10 members including the Lord Mayor (or 
delegate) and one City of Sydney Councillor. 

Cycling Advisory Committee 

In April 2007, Council resolved to establish a Cycling Advisory Committee. 

The Committee’s role is to monitor progress on implementation of the Cycling Strategy and 
Action Plan and provide advice on issues associated with implementation of the Cycling 
Strategy and Action Plan. The Cycling Advisory Committee provides a consultation and 
feedback forum for the City’s key cycling stakeholders as part of Council’s ongoing 
commitment to cycling.  

The forum also provides a means for City staff to provide regular progress reports on the 
implementation of the City’s Cycle Strategy and Action Plan. 

The Committee comprises the Lord Mayor (or delegate), one City of Sydney Councillor and 
representatives of Bicycle NSW, Bike East, Bike Sydney, Transport for NSW and other 
external bodies. 

Housing for All Working Group 

It is proposed that a Housing for All Working Group be established.  

The primary role of the Housing for All Working Group is to bring together industry leaders 
and experts to share knowledge and provide strategic, expert advice and guidance to the 
City of Sydney (the City) on the development of agreed strategies and initiatives to increase 
the supply of affordable and diverse housing (including social housing) within the City of 
Sydney Local Government Area. 

The membership of the working group will include a broad range of stakeholders and 
organisations active within the affordable and diverse housing sector and peak bodies and 
agencies that represent the interests of the Sydney’s diverse communities.  

It is proposed that membership will consist of up to nine members including the Lord Mayor 
(or delegate) and one City of Sydney Councillor. 

  



Council 21 February 2022 
 

Inclusion (Disability) Advisory Panel 

The Inclusion (Disability) Advisory Panel was established by Council in November 2012 to 
provide expert advice to the City on inclusion and access for people with disability.  

The objective of the Inclusion (Disability) Advisory Panel, is to provide strategic, expert and 
impartial advice to the City on the development, implementation, monitoring and review of 
the City’s policies, strategies and plans to advance the inclusion of people with disability. 

Membership will consist of up to 12 members that live, work or study in the City of Sydney 
local government area and have experience of living with or caring for a person with 
disability and/ or demonstrate knowledge or experience in providing independent and 
strategic advice on disability access and inclusion issues, plus the Lord Mayor (or delegate) 
and one City of Sydney Councillor as a representative of Council. 

The City will endeavour to achieve as broad a representation as possible amongst panel 
members, with the aim of ensuring, as far as is possible, that a diverse range of disability 
issues is represented. At least 50 per cent of the Inclusion (Disability) Advisory Panel 
membership will be constituted by members who have a direct experience of disability 
whether personally or through a caring and support role. 

Multicultural Advisory Panel 

It is proposed that a Multicultural Advisory Panel be established.  

The Multicultural Advisory Panel will provide advice on policies and operations of the 
City of Sydney in relation to matters of importance to culturally diverse communities, 
including: 

• Advising Council on the needs of diverse and multicultural people living in the City 
of Sydney’s Local Government Area. 

• Advising Council on the development and implementation of Sustainable Sydney 

2030-2050 and other relevant plans as they are adopted by Council, including 
supporting the delivery of the City’s community engagement plan and strategy. 

• Promoting an increased knowledge and understanding of diverse cultures and 
society in the wider community and facilitating partnerships that nurture cultural 
diversity, capacity building, and increased community connections. 

• Advising Council on programming of multicultural events. 

• Providing input to policy development, planning and advice to Council across all 
areas where there is likely to be an impact on multicultural communities, including 
multicultural businesses and economic development.  

• Advocate on behalf of culturally diverse communities, including strategies to 
combat racism and discrimination, and promoting greater understanding and 
appreciation of multiculturalism. 

It is proposed that membership will consist of up to 10 members including the Lord Mayor (or 
delegate) and one City of Sydney Councillor. 

  



Council 21 February 2022 
 

City Advisory Panels 

Council has also established a number of Advisory Panels comprising of relevant expert 
members such as the Design Advisory Panel, the Design Advisory Panel Residential Sub-
Committee and the Public Art Advisory Panel. 

Advisory Panel member terms vary in length. Generally, terms are between two to four 
years. Member appointments are reliant on the availability of required skills and expertise. 
Further reports will be brought to Council seeking endorsement of the appointment of 
Advisory Panel members where required. 

Recommendation 

It is resolved that: 

(A) Council endorse the establishment of the Business, Economic Development and Covid 
Recovery Advisory Panel; 

(B) Council endorse the establishment of the Cultural and Creative Sector Recovery 
Advisory Panel; 

(C) Council endorse the establishment of the Housing for All Working Group; 

(D) Council endorse the establishment of the Multicultural Advisory Panel; 

(E) Council note the termination of Nightlife and Creative Sector Advisory Panel as it is 
replaced by the Cultural and Creative Sector Recovery Advisory Panel; 

(F) authority be delegated to the Chief Executive Officer to prepare Terms of Reference 
for the Advisory Panels and Working Groups detailed in (A) to (D) above and provide 
to Council via the CEO Update; 

(G) the Chief Executive Officer be requested to review the Terms of Reference for 
established Internal Committees, Advisory Panels and Working Groups and if 
amendments are recommended provide to Council for consideration; 

(H) Council appoint the following Councillors as Council’s representatives on the Internal 
Committees, Advisory Panels and Working Groups listed below: 

Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Advisory Panel 

(i) Councillor………………….  

Audit, Risk and Compliance Committee 

(ii) Councillor …………………  

Business, Economic Development and Covid Recovery Advisory Panel 

(iii) Councillor …………………  

Cultural and Creative Sector Recovery Advisory Panel  

(iv) Councillor………………….  



Council 21 February 2022 
 

Cycling Advisory Committee 

(v) Councillor …………………  

Housing for All Working Group 

(vi) Councillor …………………  

Inclusion (Disability) Advisory Panel 

(vii) Councillor …………………  

Multicultural Advisory Panel 

(viii) Councillor………………….  

MONICA BARONE 

Chief Executive Officer 



Council 21 February 2022 
 

Item 4.7 

Local Government NSW Special Conference 2022 

File No: X030976 

Memorandum by the Chief Executive Officer 

To Council: 

This memorandum seeks Council's confirmation of the appointment of Councillors as voting 
delegates to the Local Government New South Wales (LGNSW) Special Conference, 
including the debate and resolution of motions, currently scheduled to be held in-person at 
the Hyatt Regency Sydney, from Monday 28 February to Wednesday 2 March 2022. 

The Special Conference follows on from LGNSW's online 2021 Annual Conference, and will 
focus on how councils can drive a “locally led” employment and economic recovery, as we 
continue to grapple with the complex challenges posed by the global pandemic. 

LGNSW’s Annual Conference has traditionally provided the opportunity for member councils 
to bring forward policy motions for debate and resolution, thus helping to set the advocacy 
agenda for the year to come.  

Member feedback following the 2020 online conference experience indicated a strong 
preference for an in-person event at which more motions could be debated and resolved.  

The Special Conference Program is available at lgnswconference.org.au/program/ 

Due to timeframe constraints, all Councillors have been contacted and registered for the 
Special Conference and as voting delegates where they have indicated they can attend. 

Voting Delegates 

The City of Sydney is entitled to register up to 10 voting delegates for motions. It is proposed 
that Council confirm the nomination of the Lord Mayor and all Councillors as voting 
delegates. Voting delegates must be registered to attend the conference, and also be 
registered as a voting delegate on motions. It is noted that Councillors who cannot attend the 
Special Conference will be withdrawn as voting delegates. 

Motions 

The conference will include discussion and debate on a range of motions from councils 
relating to current and emerging policy issues facing local government in NSW.  

All members can put forward motions to be considered at the conference, which should be 
strategic, affect members state-wide, and introduce new or emerging policy issues and 
actions.  

The Motions Submissions Guide is available at: 
https://www.lgnsw.org.au/common/Uploaded%20files/Annual%20Conference%20documents
/Special_Conference/Conference_Motions_submission_guide_FINAL.pdf 

https://lgnswconference.org.au/program/
https://www.lgnsw.org.au/common/Uploaded%20files/Annual%20Conference%20documents/Special_Conference/Conference_Motions_submission_guide_FINAL.pdf
https://www.lgnsw.org.au/common/Uploaded%20files/Annual%20Conference%20documents/Special_Conference/Conference_Motions_submission_guide_FINAL.pdf


Council 21 February 2022 
 

The guide provides information on the criteria for motion submission, examples of motions, 
and what happens to motions after the conference.  

Member councils will receive an electronic copy of the business paper one week before the 
conference. 

Councillors' Expenses and Facilities Policy  

Councillors Craig Chung, Kerryn Phelps, Linda Scott, Jess Scully and Angela Vithoulkas 
were the City of Sydney delegates at the online 2020 LGNSW Conference. Expenditure 
incurred for the 2020 conference totalled $264.  

The Councillors' Expenses and Facilities Policy 2017 provides for Councillors to attend the 
LGNSW Annual Conference at the City’s expense. Funds are available in the 2021/22 
operating budget to cover registration fees, travel and other reasonable expenses incurred 
by Councillors. 

Recommendation 

It is resolved that: 

(A) Council confirm the appointment of the Lord Mayor and all Councillors as its voting 
delegates at the Local Government NSW (LGNSW) Special Conference to be held in-
person at the Hyatt Regency Sydney from Monday 28 February to Wednesday 2 
March 2022; 

(B) all registration fees and other reasonable expenses associated with the attendance of 
Councillors at the conference be met by the City in accordance with the Councillors' 
Expenses and Facilities Policy 2017; and 

(C) Council note that a spouse, partner or other guest may accompany a Councillor to 
some conference events, and the City will meet any associated ticket costs. 

MONICA BARONE 

Chief Executive Officer 



Council 21 February 2022 
 

Item 5 

Matters for Tabling 

5.1 Disclosures of Interest 

Disclosure of Interest returns that have been lodged in accordance with the City of Sydney 
Code of Conduct will be tabled. 

Recommendation 

It is resolved that the Disclosures of Interest returns be received and noted. 

5.2 Petitions 

(a) Fences at Sweetacres Park in Rosebery 

Councillor Scott gives notice that, at the meeting of Council on Monday, 21 February 2022, 
she will table and speak to a petition (with 262 signatures) with the following terms: 

The below signed call upon the City of Sydney to put fences up at Sweetacres Park in 
Rosebery. 

(b) Keep Fitness Passport Access to City of Sydney Pools 

Councillor Scott gives notice that, at the meeting of Council on Monday, 21 February 2022, 
she will table and speak to a petition (62 signatures as at 15 February 2022) with the 
following terms: 

On 3 December, the City of Sydney announced they would be phasing out involvement with 
the Fitness Passport program in favour of their own membership program. The Fitness 
Passport is heavily used by healthcare providers throughout NSW Health as a way to access 
many fitness facilities across the state with one simple membership.  

The City of Sydney pools have, until now, been a part of the Fitness Passport program.  This 
enables healthcare providers subscribed to the program access to all of the city's fitness 
facilities. The city pools are a huge asset in managing the health, including the mental 
health, of healthcare providers across the city. With the recent burdens the pandemic has 
placed on healthcare providers, taking away this healthy outlet in order to sell their own 
memberships is cruel. Help me to maintain access to City of Sydney Pools for Fitness 
Passport users, in particular the healthcare providers who desperately need a healthy outlet 
for the stresses endured working through the COVID-19 pandemic.   

Sign this petition and join me in demanding the City of Sydney continue to allow holders of 
the Fitness Passport to access their facilities and help ensure local healthcare providers 
continue to have access to this valuable resource without having to pay for additional 
expensive memberships! 

  



Council 21 February 2022 
 

(c) Redfern Park Toilets 

Councillor Scott gives notice that, at the meeting of Council on Monday, 21 February 2022, 
she will table and speak to a petition (with 9 signatures) with the following terms: 

This petition is to send to the City of Sydney Council (Ms Clover Moore). The Redfern Park 
Community has had enough of only one toilet being available to people who frequent this 
very large park. The toilet is either closed majority of the time, broken, or vandalised, or just 
not cleaned. We are requesting Ms Moore to open the bank of toilets under the grandstand 
and close this toilet once and for all! 

The community deserves better! 

Recommendation 

It is resolved that the Petitions be received and noted. 

S044250 



Council 21 February 2022 
 

 

 
 
 

Item 6 

Report of the Corporate, Finance, Properties and Tenders Committee - 14 February 
2022 

Item 6.1 

Disclosures of Interest 

Councillor Linda Scott disclosed a less than significant, non-pecuniary interest in Item 6.8 on the 
agenda, in that her husband is the Secretary of Marrickville Cricket Club, who regularly use the 
cricket nets under discussion in this item. 

Councillor Lyndon Gannon disclosed a less than significant, non-pecuniary interest in Item 6.12 on 
the agenda, in that he is a member of the Independent Bars Association, the President of which 
spoke to this item. 

No other Councillors disclosed any pecuniary or non-pecuniary interests in any matters on the 
agenda for this meeting of the Corporate, Finance, Properties and Tenders Committee. 



Council 21 February 2022 

 
 

The Committee recommends the following: 

Item 6.2 

2021/22 Quarter 2 Review - Delivery Program 2017-2021 

It is resolved that Council: 

(A) note the financial performance of Council for the second quarter, ending 31 December 2021, 
including a Quarter 2 Net Surplus of $23.4M and the full year Net Surplus forecast of $8.3M, 
as outlined in the subject report and summarised in Attachment A to the subject report; 

(B) note the Quarter 2 Capital Works expenditure of $82.8M and a revised full year forecast of 
$211.3M, and approve the proposed adjustments to the adopted budget, including bringing 
forward $4.4M of funds into 2021/22 capital budget as detailed in Attachment B to the subject 
report;  

(C) note the Information Services capital expenditure of $7.8M, net of disposals, and a full year 
forecast of $23.7M and approve the proposed adjustments to the adopted budget, including 
bringing forward $0.6M of funds into 2021/22 capital budget and transfer of $0.4M from the 
capital works contingency, as detailed in Attachment B to the subject report; 

(D) note the Quarter 2 Plant and Assets expenditure of $2.2M, net of disposals, and a revised full 
year forecast of 12.5M, and approve the proposed adjustments to the adopted budget by 
transferring $0.6M from capital works contingency, as detailed in Attachment B to the subject 
report;  

(E) note the Quarter 2 Property Divestment of $33.8M, and the full year forecast net Property 
Divestment of $24.1M; 

(F) note the operational performance indicators and Quarter 2 achievements against the 
Operational Plan 2021/22 objectives, as detailed in Attachment C to the subject report; 

(G) note the supplementary reports, including contracts issued over $50,000, major legal issues 
and the Quick Response, Banner Pole and Reduced Rate Grant Programs in Quarter 2, as 
detailed in Attachment D to the subject report; 

(H) extend the period for the Community Recovery Plan to June 2022; and 

(I) note the second quarter 2021/22 Community Recovery Plan report, as shown at Attachment 
E to the subject report. 

(Note – at the meeting of the Corporate, Finance, Properties and Tenders Committee, this 
recommendation was moved by the Chair (the Lord Mayor), seconded by Councillor Scully, and 
carried unanimously.) 

X039568 



Council 21 February 2022 

 

 

The Committee recommends the following: 

Item 6.3 

Investments Held as at 30 November 2021 

It is resolved that the Investment Report as at 30 November 2021 be received and noted. 

(Note – at the meeting of the Corporate, Finance, Properties and Tenders Committee, this 
recommendation was moved by the Chair (the Lord Mayor), seconded by Councillor Kok, and 
carried unanimously.) 

X020701 



Council 21 February 2022 

 
 

The Committee recommends the following: 

Item 6.4 

Investments Held as at 31 December 2021 

It is resolved that the Investment Report as at 31 December 2021 be received and noted. 

(Note – at the meeting of the Corporate, Finance, Properties and Tenders Committee, this 
recommendation was moved by the Chair (the Lord Mayor), seconded by Councillor Scully, and 
carried unanimously.) 

X020701 



Council 21 February 2022 

 

 

 

The Committee recommends the following: 

Item 6.5 

Investments Held as at 31 January 2022 

It is resolved that the Investment Report as at 31 January 2022 be received and noted. 

(Note – at the meeting of the Corporate, Finance, Properties and Tenders Committee, this 
recommendation was moved by the Chair (the Lord Mayor), seconded by Councillor Kok, and 
carried unanimously.) 

X020701 



Council 21 February 2022 

 
 

The Committee recommends the following: 

Item 6.6 

Lease Approval - Ground Floor Suite 3, Level 1 and 2, 46-52 Mountain Street, Ultimo 

It is resolved that:  

(A) Council approve a lease to Torrens Global Education Services Pty Ltd for a term of five years 
with one further option of five years for Ground Floor Suite 3, Level 1 and Level 2, 46-52 
Mountain Street, Ultimo on the terms and conditions contained in Confidential Attachment A 
to the subject report; and  

(B) authority be delegated to the Chief Executive Officer to finalise the terms of the lease, 
including the exercise of the lease option term.  

(Note – at the meeting of the Corporate, Finance, Properties and Tenders Committee, this 
recommendation was moved by the Chair (the Lord Mayor), seconded by Councillor Scully, and 
carried unanimously.) 

S099555 



Council 21 February 2022 

 

 

 

The Committee recommends the following: 

Item 6.7 

Lease Approval - Levels 3, 4 and 5, 46-52 Mountain Street, Ultimo 

It is resolved that:  

(A) Council approve a lease to Torrens Global Education Services Pty Ltd for a term of five years 
with one further option of five years for Ground Floor Suite 3, Level 1 and Level 2, 46-52 
Mountain Street, Ultimo on the terms and conditions contained in Confidential Attachment A 
to the subject report; and 

(B) authority be delegated to the Chief Executive Officer to finalise the terms of the lease, 
including the exercise of the lease option term. 

(Note – at the meeting of the Corporate, Finance, Properties and Tenders Committee, this 
recommendation was moved by the Chair (the Lord Mayor), seconded by Councillor , and carried 
unanimously.) 

S099955 



Council 21 February 2022 

 
 

The Committee recommends the following: 

Item 6.8 

Tender - T-2021-619 - Reject and Negotiate - Allan Davidson Oval, Alexandria - 
Cricket Nets 

It is resolved that: 

(A) Council decline to accept the tender offer received for the Allan Davidson Oval Alexandria 
Cricket Nets for the reasons set out in Confidential Attachment B to the subject report; 

(B) Council enter into negotiations with any person (whether or not the person was a tenderer) 
with a view to entering into a contract in relation to the subject matter of the tender; 

(C) Council note that the reason for determining to enter into negotiations is that inviting fresh 
tenders would not attract additional suitable vendors or terms over and above those that have 
responded to this tender and the preceding request for quotation; 

(D) authority be delegated to the Chief Executive Officer to enter into negotiations with any 
person with a view to entering into a contract in relation to the subject matter of the tender; 

(E) authority be delegated to the Chief Executive Officer to negotiate, execute and administer the 
contracts relating to the tender; and 

(F) Council be informed of the successful vendor via the CEO Update. 

(Note – at the meeting of the Corporate, Finance, Properties and Tenders Committee, this 
recommendation was moved by the Chair (the Lord Mayor), seconded by Councillor Kok, and 
carried unanimously.) 

2021/567255 



Council 21 February 2022 

 

 

 

The Committee recommends the following: 

Item 6.9 

Cancellation of Tender - T-2020-461 - Environmental Monitoring Analysis and 
Reporting 

It is resolved that Council: 

(A) cancel the tender for Environmental Monitoring, Analysis and Reporting; 

(B) invite new tenders for the works; and 

(C) note that a six-month contract is currently being implemented following a competitive Request 
for Quotation process (Q-2021-649), in order to allow time for the retendering process to be 
completed and to ensure business continuity. 

(Note – at the meeting of the Corporate, Finance, Properties and Tenders Committee, this 
recommendation was moved by the Chair (the Lord Mayor), seconded by Councillor Kok, and 
carried unanimously.) 

X027380 



Council 21 February 2022 

 
 

The Committee recommends the following: 

Item 6.10 

Cancellation of Tender - T-2021-569 and Exemption from Tender - Improvement and 
Construction Work at Minogue Crescent Reserve , Tote Park and Park on Lyons 
Road 

It is resolved that: 

(A) Council cancel Tender T-2021-569 – Improvement and Construction Work at Minogue 
Crescent Reserve, Tote Park and Park on Lyons Road as no tenders were received prior to 
the tender closing date and time; 

(B) Council approve an exemption from tender for the Improvement and Construction Work at 
Minogue Crescent Reserve, Tote Park and Park on Lyons Road in accordance with section 
55(3)(i) of the Local Government Act 1993 noting that, a satisfactory result would not be 
achieved by inviting fresh tenders to deliver the improvements and construction work at the 
Minogue Crescent Reserve, Tote Park and Park on Lyons Road; 

(C) Council note the reason why a satisfactory result would not be achieved by inviting fresh 
tenders is that going to tender will not result in any submissions in addition to the submissions 
received as part of the tender process that is recommended at (A) to be cancelled, and will 
extend the time and cost associated with the project; 

(D) authority be delegated to the Chief Executive Officer to enter into negotiations with any 
person with a view to entering into a contract in relation to the subject matter of the tender; 

(E) authority be delegated to the Chief Executive Officer to execute and administer the contracts 
relating to the tender; and 

(F) Council be informed of the successful vendor via the CEO Update. 

(Note – at the meeting of the Corporate, Finance, Properties and Tenders Committee, this 
recommendation was moved by the Chair (the Lord Mayor), seconded by Councillor Scully, and 
carried unanimously.) 

X025396.001 



Council 21 February 2022 

 

 

 

The Committee recommends the following: 

Item 6.11 

Exemption from Tender and Contract Variations - Sydney New Year's Eve 

It is resolved that: 

(A) Council approve an exemption from tender to enter into a one-year agreement with Foti 
International Fireworks Pty Ltd for the provision of pyrotechnic services for the 2022 Sydney 
New Year's Eve event; 

(B) Council approve an exemption from tender to enter into a one-year agreement with Polaris 
Marine Pty Ltd as Trustee for Polaris Marine Trust No 1 for the provision of barges and tugs 
for the 2022 Sydney New Year's Eve event; 

(C) Council note the reasons a satisfactory outcome would not be achieved by inviting tenders is 
due to the following extenuating circumstances: 

(i) uncertainties relating to the event caused by the Covid-19 pandemic, the City's 
procurement timeline has been delayed for the provision of these services; and 

(ii) the delivery of the 2022 event would be impacted if a tender process were to be 
undertaken; 

(D) Council approve the variation of the contract for the provision of pyrotechnic services for 
Sydney New Year's Eve for the price outlined in Confidential Attachment A to the subject 
report, for a period of one year to cover the 2022 Sydney New Year's Eve event; 

(E) Council approve the variation of the contract for the provision of barges and tugs for Sydney 
New Year's Eve for the price outlined in Confidential Attachment A to the subject report, for a 
period of one year to cover the 2022 Sydney New Year's Eve event; and 

(F) authority be delegated to the Chief Executive Officer to finalise negotiations and enter into 
any necessary documentation to give effect to these resolutions. 

(Note – at the meeting of the Corporate, Finance, Properties and Tenders Committee, this 
recommendation was moved by the Chair (the Lord Mayor), seconded by Councillor Scully, and 
carried unanimously.) 

X080346.003 



Council 21 February 2022 

 
 

The Sub-Committee recommends the following: 

Item 6.12 

Public Exhibition - Precinct Activation Grants Guidelines 

It is resolved that: 

(A) Council note the 26 July 2021 Resolution of Council requesting that the Chief Executive 
Officer develop a grant program for delivery of an additional $4 million to support business 
and creatives in the recovery of the city economy including the funding for resources to do so, 
with the proposed program to be reported back to Council, as shown at Attachment C to the 
subject report; 

(B) Council endorse the draft Precinct Activation Guidelines as shown at Attachment A to the 
subject report for public exhibition for a period of 28 days in accordance with the 
requirements of the Local Government Act 1993; 

(C) Council endorse the draft Operational Plan 2021/22 - Addendum as shown at Attachment B 
to the subject report for public exhibition, concurrently with the Precinct Activation Guidelines, 
for a period of 28 days in accordance with the requirements of the Local Government Act 
1993; 

(D) Council approve the continuation of existing Covid-19 related fee waivers up to 30 June 2023 
only for projects funded through the Precinct Activation grant program and note the potential 
revenue forgone at an estimated value of $700,000 per annum; and 

(E) authority be delegated to the Chief Executive Officer to make minor changes to the draft 
Guidelines and Operational Plan 2021/22 Addendum for clarity or correction of drafting errors 
prior to public exhibition. 

(Note – at the meeting of the Corporate, Finance, Properties and Tenders Committee, this 
recommendation was moved by the Chair (the Lord Mayor), seconded by Councillor , and carried 
unanimously.) 

S117847 

Speaker 

Karl Schlothauer addressed the meeting of the Corporate, Finance, Properties and Tenders 
Committee (Economic Development and Business Sub-Committee) on Item 6.12. 



Council 21 February 2022 

 

 

 

The Sub-Committee recommends the following: 

Item 6.13 

Commercial Creative and Business Event Sponsorship – BESydney 2022-2023 

It is resolved that: 

(A) Council approve a cash sponsorship of $300,000 (excluding GST) per annum for a two-year 
period (2021/22 and 2022/23) to a maximum value of $600,000 (excluding GST), to support 
Business Events Sydney Limited in its ongoing activities to attract both domestic and global 
business events to Sydney; and 

(B) authority be delegated to the Chief Executive Officer to negotiate, execute and administer a 
sponsorship agreement with Business Events Sydney Limited. 

(Note – at the meeting of the Corporate, Finance, Properties and Tenders Committee, this 
recommendation was moved by the Chair (the Lord Mayor), seconded by Councillor Scully, and 
carried unanimously.) 

X017237 

Speaker 

Ms Lyn Lewis-Smyth addressed the meeting of the Corporate, Finance, Properties and Tenders 
Committee (Economic Development and Business Sub-Committee) on Item 6.13. 



Council 21 February 2022 
 

 

 
 
 

Item 7 

Report of the Environment Committee - 14 February 2022 

Item 7.1 

Disclosures of Interest 

Councillor Sylie Ellsmore disclosed a less than significant, non-pecuniary interest in Item 7.4 on the 
agenda, as she is an employee of the University of Sydney and sporting clubs at the university 
were consulted for this item. Councillor Ellsmore stated that she is not a member of these sporting 
clubs and has not been in correspondence with them or anyone else from the university about this 
item. 
 
No other Councillors disclosed any pecuniary or non-pecuniary interests in any matter on the 
agenda for this meeting of the Environment Committee. 



Council 21 February 2022 

 
 

Item 7.2 

Project Scope – Oxford and Liverpool Street Cycleway 

The Environment Committee decided that consideration of this matter shall be deferred to the 
meeting of Council on 21 February 2022. 

Officer’s Recommendation 

The officer’s recommendation to the Environment Committee was as follows – 

It is resolved that Council: 

(A) approve the concept design for the Oxford and Liverpool Street cycleway as shown in 
Attachment B to the subject report for detailed documentation and construction tender; and 

(B) note the estimated project costs as detailed in Confidential Attachment D to the subject 
report. 

Officer’s Report 

The officer’s report on this matter can be found at Item 2 on the agenda of the Environment 
Committee on 14 February 2022. 

X037203 

Speakers 

Albert Kruger (Mardi Gras), Theo Onisforou, Peter McLean (Bicycle NSW) and Sara Stace 
addressed the meeting of the Environment Committee on Item 7.2. 



Council 21 February 2022 

 

 

 

The Committee recommends the following: 

Item 7.3 

Project Scope - King Street Cycleway - Pitt Street to Phillip Street 

It is resolved that Council: 

(A) approve the concept design for the King Street Cycleway, between Pitt Street and Phillip 
Street, as shown in Attachment B to the subject report, for progression to final design and 
construction; 

(B) note the estimated project costs as detailed in confidential Attachment D to the subject report; 
and 

(C) note that the City has accepted a funding offer from the NSW government as part of the 
Transport for NSW Federal Road Safety Stimulus Program for the design and construction of 
the project, conditional on the works being completed in the 2021/22 financial year. 

(Note – at the meeting of the Environment Committee, this recommendation was moved by the 
Chair (the Lord Mayor), seconded by Councillor Scully, and carried unanimously.) 

S084591 

Speaker 

Peter McLean (Bicycle NSW) addressed the meeting of the Environment Committee on Item 7.3. 



Council 21 February 2022 

 
 

Item 7.4 

Synthetic Sportfields Program 

The Environment Committee decided that consideration of this matter shall be deferred to the 
meeting of Council on 21 February 2022. 

Officer’s Recommendation 

The officer’s recommendation to the Environment Committee was as follows – 

It is resolved that Council: 

(A) note the progress of the Synthetic Sportsfields Program;  

(B) does not proceed with the proposal for synthetic sportsfields at Turruwul Park or at Waterloo 
Oval; 

(C) approve the transfer of funds to related projects, including the Sportsfield Development 
Program as set out in Confidential Attachment B to the subject report; and 

(D) approve the development of concept designs for multi-purpose synthetic sportsfields at 
Mandible Street, Alexandria. 

Officer’s Report 

The officer’s report on this matter can be found at Item 4 on the agenda of the Environment 
Committee on 14 February 2022. 

X006324 

Speakers 

Garnet Brownbill addressed the meeting of the Environment Committee on Item 7.4. 



Council 21 February 2022 

 

 

 

The Committee recommends the following: 

Item 7.5 

Joint Use Project Deed Variation - Alexandria Park Community School - Synthetic 
Field and Park Road - Additional Funds Request 

It is resolved that: 

(A) Council approve an increase in capital funds and contingency to accommodate for the design 
and construction of the Park Road public domain works as outlined in Confidential 
Attachment B to the subject report; 

(B) Council approve an increased in capital funds and contingency to accommodate for additional 
site remediation and project delays as outlined in Confidential Attachment B to the subject 
report; and 

(C) authority be delegated to the Chief Executive Officer to negotiate, execute, and administer a 
variation to the Joint Use Project Deed in line with the above resolutions. 

(Note – at the meeting of the Environment Committee, this recommendation was moved by the 
Chair (the Lord Mayor), seconded by Councillor Scully, and carried unanimously.) 

X017664 



Council 21 February 2022 
 

 

 
 
 

Item 8 

Report of the Cultural and Community Committee - 14 February 2022 

Item 8.1 

Disclosures of Interest 

No Councillors disclosed any pecuniary or non-pecuniary interests in any matter on the agenda for 
this meeting of the Cultural and Community Committee. 



Council 21 February 2022 

 

Item 8.2 

Policy - Adoption - Support for Charities Policy 

The Cultural and Community Committee decided that consideration of this matter shall be deferred 
to the meeting of Council on 21 February 2022. 

Officer’s Recommendation: 

The officer’s recommendation to the Cultural and Community Committee was as follows - 

It is resolved that: 

(A) Council adopt the draft Support for Charities Policy as shown at Attachment A to the subject 
report;   

(B) Council rescind the current Humanitarian Crisis Response Guidelines 2010, as shown at 
Attachment B to the subject report, which are superseded by the Support for Charities Policy; 

(C) Council rescind the current Support for Charities Guidelines 2018, as shown at Attachment C 
to the subject report, which are superseded by the Support for Charities Policy; and 

(D) authority be delegated to the Chief Executive Officer to make minor editorial amendments to 
the Support for Charities Policy. 

Officer’s Report 

The officer’s report on this matter can be found at Item 2 on the agenda of the meeting of the 
Cultural and Community Committee (Healthy Communities Sub-Committee) on 14 February 2022.  

X080317 

 



Council 21 February 2022 
 

 

 
 
 

Item 9 

Report of the Transport, Heritage and Planning Committee - 14 February 2022 

Item 9.1 

Disclosures of Interest 

Councillor Linda Scott disclosed a less than significant non-pecuniary interest in Item 9.2 on the 
agenda, in that she owns an apartment in trust for a family member with a disability in one of the 
zones listed for translation. Councillor Scott stated that as the item is for noting, rather than for 
making a decision, and City staff have advised that no zoning changes are proposed for the area 
that the apartment is in, she will be voting on the item.  

Councillor Lyndon Gannon disclosed a less than significant non-pecuniary interest in Item 9.2 on 
the agenda, in that he has a development application currently with Council which may be affected 
by the agenda item. Councillor Gannon stated that he considers that this non-pecuniary conflict of 
interest is not significant and does not require further action in the circumstances because this item 
is just for noting. 

Local Government and Planning Legislation Amendment (Political Donations) Act 2008 

No disclosures were made by any members of the public at this meeting of the Transport, Heritage 
and Planning Committee. 



Council 21 February 2022 

 
The Committee recommends the following: 

Item 9.2 

Employment Zones Review 

It is resolved that: 

(A) Council note the preliminary translation of current zones in relevant local environmental plans 
undertaken by the Department of Planning, Industry and Environment, summarised at 
Attachment A to the subject report; and 

(B) Council note the impact analysis and resulting technical review made by the City to the 
Department of Planning, Industry and Environment, summarised at Attachment A to the 
subject report.   

(Note – at the meeting of the Transport, Heritage and Planning Committee, this recommendation 
was moved by the Chair (the Lord Mayor), seconded by Councillor Chan and carried unanimously.) 

X081951 



Council 21 February 2022 

 

 

The Committee recommends the following: 

Item 9.3 

Fire Safety Reports 

It is resolved that Council: 

(A) note the contents of the Fire Safety Report Summary Sheet, as shown at Attachment A to the 
subject report; 

(B) note the inspection report by Fire and Rescue NSW, as shown at Attachment B of the subject 
report; and 

(C) note the content of Attachment B to the subject report and not exercise its power under the 
Environmental Planning and Assessment Act 1979 to issue a Fire Safety Order at 12-20 
Argyle Street, The Rocks. 

(Note – at the meeting of the Transport, Heritage and Planning Committee, this recommendation 
was moved by the Chair (the Lord Mayor), seconded by Councillor Scully and carried 
unanimously.) 

S105001.002 



Council 21 February 2022 

 
The Committee recommends the following: 

Item 9.4 

Approved Variations to Development Standards Reported to the Department of 
Planning, Industry and Environment 

It is resolved that the subject report be received and noted. 

(Note – at the meeting of the Transport, Heritage and Planning Committee, this recommendation 
was moved by the Chair (the Lord Mayor), seconded by Councillor Scully, and carried 
unanimously.) 

S040864 



Council 21 February 2022 
 

Item 10 

Submission - Changes to NSW Infrastructure Contributions 

File No: X037193 

Summary 

The NSW Government has proposed changes to the NSW infrastructure contribution 
system. The proposed changes: 

 introduce a new Regional Infrastructure Contribution levy to be collected locally but 
paid to NSW Treasury and spent regionally on infrastructure;  

 curtail local infrastructure contributions, and  

 delay the collection of local contributions from the beginning to the end of the 
construction phase for certain large-scale developments. 

The City estimates that in the first five years of the new contributions system, the City will 
receive $193 million less in contributions income than if the current contributions system 
were maintained. To 2040/41, the City estimates that the contributions income as a result of 
the changes is expected to be $650 million lower than if the current system were maintained.  

The proposed changes to local infrastructure contributions will impact upon the City’s 
capacity to deliver critical infrastructure needed to support our status as Australia’s global 
city and as the nation’s economic powerhouse. The proposed changes will severely restrict 
the City’s ability to contribute towards the necessary public infrastructure, putting future 
urban renewal at risk and ultimately impacting on the State’s ability to recover from the 
significant economic impacts of the Covid-19 pandemic. 

The City's submission recommends that the current proposals be abandoned, and that 
regional infrastructure contributions should not proceed. Local contributions should remain 
the key focus of the contributions system. The submission recommends that s7.12 
contributions should remain as a percentage of development cost and councils who already 
have higher rate levies should maintain them. It also recommends that for s7.11 
contributions, councils should retain existing decision-making powers on what infrastructure 
is funded and how much it costs to deliver, based on community need.  

The proposed changes were on exhibition from 28 October to 10 December 2021, which 
coincided with the local election period. Council staff were required to submit technical 
submissions in December 2021. Newly elected councils have until one week after their first 
meeting in early 2022 to submit endorsed submissions.  

City staff prepared and submitted the submission at Attachment A to the NSW Government 
and to the Independent Pricing and Regulatory Tribunal (who have been working on some of 
the proposals for the NSW Government).  

  



Council 21 February 2022 
 

This report recommends that Council endorse the submission at Attachment A to be sent to 
the Department of Planning, Industry and Environment and the Independent Pricing and 
Regulatory Tribunal. 

GRAHAM JAHN AM 

Director City Planning, Development and Transport 

Tim Wise, Manager State Planning Projects 

Siobhan Fox-Roberts, Senior Planner 

Recommendation 

It is resolved that Council:  

(A) endorse the City submission detailed at Attachment A to the subject report, on the 
NSW Government's changes to the infrastructure contributions system to be sent to 
the Department of Planning, Industry and Environment and the Independent Pricing 
and Regulatory Tribunal; 

(B) approve up to $80,000 from the 2021/22 General Contingency Fund to produce and 
distribute a further community flyer and/or advertisement in order to notify the 
community of this matter and its impact on the City of Sydney 

Attachments 

Attachment A. Submission on NSW Government Infrastructure Contributions Changes 



Attachment A 

Submission on NSW Government 
infrastructure contributions changes 



 

Submission on  
NSW Government 
infrastructure 
contributions changes 

 

Submission 
December 2021  
 



Submission on  
NSW Government infrastructure contributions changes 

2 

Contents 
Executive summary 3 

Regional Infrastructure Contributions 10 

Local levy conditions  (s7.12) 15 

Local infrastructure conditions (s7.11) 24 

Deferral of contribution payments 44 

Land Value Contributions 47 

Land use planning process changes 49 

Other matters 51 

 

Table of figures 
Figure 1. Financial impact on the City from proposed changes 3 

Figure 2. Case study areas by land use 10 

Figure 3. Scenarios and assumptions 11 

Figure 4. Impact of Regional Infrastructure Contributions, water charges and s7.12 contributions 13 

Figure 5. Financial impact on City as a result of s.7.12 changes 16 

Figure 6. Proposed Greater Sydney East rates 16 

Figure 7. Comparison of forecast s7.12 contributions to 2040/41: current contributions plan vs 
proposed rates 18 

Figure 8. Financial impacts on City from s.7.11 changes 26 

Figure 9. Comparison of IPART benchmark costs and City Schedule of Rates 35 

Figure 10. Financial impact on City since July 2020 of deferral of contributions payments 45 

Figure 11. Land Value Contribution procedure and process 48 

 

 



Submission on  
NSW Government infrastructure contributions changes 

3 

Executive summary 
The proposed changes will leave the City financially worse off  
The City is currently positioned to lead Australia’s economic and social recovery in a post Covid-19 
pandemic world. The City’s Central Sydney Planning Framework along with our innovative work for 
Oxford Street, Botany Road and North Alexandria signal our strong commitment and ability to 
support a growing population and economy while improving liveability and making the City 
attractive for investment. 

The NSW Government’s proposed changes to infrastructure contributions threaten this.  

The City estimates that in the first five years of the new contributions system, the City will receive 
$193 million less in contributions income than if the current contributions system were 
maintained (business as usual).  

To 2040/41, the City estimates that the contributions income as a result of the changes is 
expected to be $650 million lower than if the current system were maintained (business as 
usual). 

Both the Minister for Planning and Public Spaces (the Minister) and the Department of Planning, 
Industry and Environment (the Department) have repeatedly provided assurances that councils will 
be no worse off as a result of the infrastructure contribution reforms.  

There is clear evidence that the City will be financially worse off as a result of the proposed 
reforms. This has far reaching implications for our ability to lead Australia’s recovery from 
the pandemic and support our communities with the infrastructure they need to work and 
live. The proposed changes should be abandoned. Any future proposals must keep local 
infrastructure as the key focus of the contributions system and be designed with early and 
meaningful consultation with councils.  
 

Figure 1. Financial impact on the City from proposed changes 

 
  



Submission on  
NSW Government infrastructure contributions changes 

4 

Sydney’s global city status is at risk from these changes 
Under the proposed changes the City’s local contributions income will be significantly decreased. 
This will impact upon the City’s capacity deliver critical infrastructure needed to support our status 
as Australia’s global city and as the nation’s economic powerhouse.  

The City is host to over 1.3 million people daily (pre-COVID), which is predicted to grow to 1.7 
million by 2036 and 2 million by 2050. The recently commenced Central Sydney planning controls 
will unlock an unprecedented period of growth in the CBD.  

By 2036, we expect to deliver over 130,000 additional jobs on top of the existing 540,000 jobs 
already located in the City and house 75,000 more residents.  

The City’s substantial contribution to the delivery of complex public infrastructure to support urban 
renewal in key locations like Central Sydney, Pyrmont and Green Square is important for attracting 
tourism, new investment and maintaining our status as a global city.  

To meet NSW Government housing targets, the City undertakes urban renewal for key sites 
usually resulting in higher density developments. Providing essential local infrastructure like 
childcare centres, libraries and sports fields as well as footpaths and drains is a critical part of the 
social contract we have with the community for increasing density. 

Infrastructure not only supports the everyday needs of residents, workers and visitors, but also 
encourages stronger communities, and makes our city resilient to the impacts of climate change. 

The proposed changes will severely restrict the City’s ability to contribute to public infrastructure, 
which will mean less urban renewal and ultimately impact on the State’s ability to recover from the 
significant economic impacts of the Covid-19 pandemic. 

The proposed changes are seriously flawed  
The City’s review of the proposed changes has identified some serious flaws with the 
proposals that put into question the entire reform package. The proposed changes are 
significantly increasing the restrictions on local councils’ collection and spending of 
contributions while concurrently introducing a new and unconstrained source of 
government revenue, in the form of Regional Infrastructure Contributions, to which none of 
the same restrictions will be applied. 

Breaking the nexus 
Infrastructure planning in NSW has long been based on the principle of nexus - new development 
contributes towards the cost of infrastructure that will meet the additional demand it generates and 
benefits from. The proposed changes fundamentally undermine the principle of nexus in the 
following ways: 

– the proposed Regional Infrastructure Contributions take infrastructure dollars paid in some of 
Australia’s increasingly densest communities and provide no guarantee that this money will be 
spent on infrastructure to support those communities. Regional Infrastructure Contributions 
generated by a new development in Penrith could be spent over 60 kilometres away benefitting 
communities in Bondi; and  

– mandatory Essential Works Lists will dictate to all councils what types of infrastructure they are 
allowed to fund through local infrastructure conditions (s7.11 contributions), which breaks the 
connection between development and demand. This fails to recognise that the infrastructure 
needs of worker, visitor and residential populations vary in different locations and means that 
even if there is an obvious community need for infrastructure arising from new development, 
councils may not be able to use s7.11 contributions to deliver it.  



Submission on  
NSW Government infrastructure contributions changes 

5 

The Greater Sydney Region Plan, the five district plans and councils’ local strategic planning 
statements all seek to align infrastructure with growth. These plans are agreements with the 
community and industry for where the city could grow and most importantly how it will grow. 

By breaking the nexus between proposed development and community demand, the NSW 
Government is unreasonably restricting the ability for councils to plan for the needs of their 
communities. At the same time, the NSW Government is failing to place strong legislative 
restrictions on themselves, equivalent to those placed on councils, to spend contributions where 
they are collected.  

Rather, the Government will capture new Regional Infrastructure Contributions in one part 
of Sydney and then spend them wherever and on whatever NSW Treasury deem 
appropriate. As multiple high-profile government infrastructure funding programs have 
demonstrated, a failure to have a transparent and fair program for the collection and 
spending of public money, supported by the community following full and transparent 
consultation, can lead to outcomes not in the public interest. 

Regional Infrastructure Contributions  
In terms of the proposed Regional Infrastructure Contributions, the Department’s feasibility 
analysis: 

– does not model a residential, commercial or mixed-use case study for the City of Sydney; 

– does not model any form of development that could be considered commensurate with the 
scale of certain development seen in the City of Sydney; 

– does not model proposed commercial, retail and tourist accommodation s7.12 rates at all, and; 

– does not model proposed residential 7.12 rates for residential projects. 

Despite these fundamental flaws, the Department’s Regional Infrastructure Contributions feasibility 
analysis and s7.12 development contributions review of charges still conclude that “if water 
infrastructure charges and residential s7.12 rates were implemented together with Regional 
Infrastructure Contributions rates, there could be substantial impact on feasibility, resulting in 
development that is not feasible.”  

It is evident that if the impact of the proposed Regional Infrastructure Contributions was 
accurately modelled it would demonstrate that the proposal is entirely unfeasible and 
making it feasible is likely to impact on councils’ ability to charge appropriate local 
infrastructure and affordable housing contributions. 

Certainty and clarity 
The rhetoric behind these reforms is that they are intended to bring increased “certainty and clarity” 
to the process. In practice what is currently proposed will not achieve those goals. The current 
proposals are more likely to bring greater complexity and opacity than the current system. For 
example, the proposed changes to s7.12 contributions do nothing other than to change from a 
simple approach to a complex one, with a mixture of calculations depending on development type 
and various rates based on geographical locations. The proposed changes to s7.12 will give rise to 
many challenges around interpretation, and it is likely that applicants will choose to game the 
system by manipulating proposals to reduce contributions liability. This will inevitably lead to 
disagreements between councils, certifiers and applicants. 

The consequences of imposing a rushed and flawed system are too great. Infrastructure 
contributions are public monies. The public expects that strategic plans to collect and expend 
infrastructure contributions are well considered, justified and based on sound evidence. The new 
approach undermines existing evidence-based planning by councils to align infrastructure with 
growth in strategically important centres such as the Central Sydney. 



Submission on  
NSW Government infrastructure contributions changes 

6 

The right infrastructure will not be delivered at the right time  
Deferring the payment of contributions until the point of occupation allows development to be 
occupied long before councils have the financial ability to provide the necessary public 
infrastructure for access, safety and amenity to support growth.  

Since the implementation of the temporary Covid-19 related Direction in July 2020 which allows 
developers to defer payment of contributions from the construction certificate to the occupation 
certificate stage, the City is aware of $26.5 million in contributions where payment has been 
deferred. This is $26.5 million in public monies that the City should currently be spending to deliver 
new infrastructure.  

Infrastructure lag behind new development is already a long-held concern by the property industry, 
and deferring the payment of contributions will exacerbate that. Communities shouldn’t have to 
wait to see local infrastructure to support new development in their areas. There is an increased 
chance of developers not paying contributions but they will still have their development. This policy 
takes away councils’ leverage to make sure they pay before they start work. 

The issue of private certifiers failing to properly attend to their obligations has been well 
documented and is now widely acknowledged to be a considerable factor in the current crisis 
regarding the safety of residential apartment buildings. If contributions are not paid but occupation 
certificates issued, the burden of enforcement is currently proposed to fall on councils. The risk of 
revenue loss to councils is significant particularly if the development company becomes insolvent 
and is wound up when the development is complete. It is not appropriate to force councils to 
accept the significant ongoing financial risks arising if this policy becomes permanent. The NSW 
Government should commit up front to ensuring it will compensate in full all councils who lose 
contributions if this proposal is implemented on a permanent basis.  

 

  



Submission on  
NSW Government infrastructure contributions changes 

7 

The City makes the following recommendations 
Recommendation 1 
The Government should abandon its current proposals. Local infrastructure should 
remain the key focus of the contributions system, rather than being muscled out by 
new state-based contributions. The Government should commit to fresh engagement 
with local councils with a proper willingness to listen and understand the barriers that 
exist to the application of contributions funds in a more timely manner.  
The current proposals divest the focus of the contributions system from funding local 
infrastructure to a new broad-based regional contribution. The proposed changes to s7.11 
contributions clearly represent an efficiency drive on local infrastructure which can be traced to 
the NSW Government’s desire for the expansion of the contributions funding regime to deliver 
more state infrastructure at the expense of councils’ ability to deliver for their communities at a 
local level. 

As a first step towards a better local infrastructure contributions system, the Government 
should undertake true and meaningful engagement with local councils to get to the core of the 
issues which burden the existing system. This includes gaining a full appreciation, from a 
council perspective, of what are the barriers to contributions funds being applied in a timely 
way. Any impacts from proposals that emerge from fresh engagement with local councils and 
other stakeholders should be carefully worked through so that no council is worse off.  

 

Recommendation 2: Regional Infrastructure Contributions  
The Government should abandon its plans for Regional Infrastructure Contributions. 
The proposal is fundamentally unfair to communities. The geographical size of the 
proposed regions means that there may be very little connection between where 
contributions are collected and spent. The Government has not demonstrated that 
Regional Infrastructure Contributions can feasibly co-exist alongside local development 
contributions and affordable housing contributions. The feasibility analysis they have 
provided is seriously flawed. The proposed legislative amendment does not address 
the fundamental concern, that the long term outcome of the introduction of Regional 
Infrastructure Contributions will be a shift of funds from councils to NSW Treasury.  
Local infrastructure contributions should be prioritised. The proposed Regional Infrastructure 
Contributions merely serve to derogate from councils’ ability to fund local infrastructure and 
affordable housing.  

The City remains unconvinced that Regional Infrastructure Contributions, as a new 
Government funding stream, will not impact on development feasibility and housing 
affordability. In fact, the Department’s own economic analysis (inadequate as it is) has shown 
the opposite, that Regional Infrastructure Contributions are entirely unfeasible without taking 
away councils’ ability to charge appropriate local infrastructure and affordable housing 
contributions. 

The proposed Regional Infrastructure Contributions framework does not guarantee the 
transparent prioritisation and funding of regional infrastructure. This is of grave concern given 
the Government’s history of funding infrastructure projects which have not always been in the 
wider public interest.   

  



Submission on  
NSW Government infrastructure contributions changes 

8 

Recommendation 3: Local levy conditions (s7.12 contributions) 
s7.12 levies should remain as a percentage of development cost. Councils that already 
have higher rate levies should maintain them.  
The proposal to implement higher rate levies for s7.12 should be maintained, but the 
calculation method should remain as a percentage of development cost. The Government 
should abandon its proposed maximum dollar rates based on geographical location and 
development type which are fraught with complexities which will arise at implementation stage.  

Councils that have already justified the need for higher rate levies to support strategic growth 
should retain their existing percentage-based levies through Regulation to ensure that they are 
left no worse off by the reforms. In the City of Sydney, this should apply to both our new 
Central Sydney Development Contributions Plan 2020 and our forthcoming Pyrmont 
Development Contributions Plan, which is being developed in collaboration with the 
Department.  

 

Recommendation 4: Local infrastructure conditions (s7.11 contributions) 
Councils should retain existing levels of autonomy in decision making for s7.11 
contributions. There is a lack of clarity around the s7.11 contributions proposals which 
means that councils are facing significant uncertainty about the financial impacts of 
these changes. The current IPART reviews must be ceased, as they have been subject 
to inappropriate restraint through the Terms of Reference which is not enabling a full 
and transparent assessment of issues.  
Despite the opportunity to do so through the current exhibition, the Government has not 
provided sufficient clarity in relation to proposed s7.11 changes, in particular what is proposed 
for the outdated caps on residential contributions. This means that councils are unable to 
determine the financial implications of these changes with much certainty.  

The proposal to apply the Essential Works List to all s7.11 contributions plans should be 
abandoned.  

Councils should retain the ability to fund community infrastructure works through local 
contributions. They are vital infrastructure needed to support growing local communities and 
the current apportionment methodology ensures new development does not pay for existing 
community needs.  

Councils should be left to determine for themselves the standard of infrastructure that they 
consider appropriate to provide for their communities. They should not be forced to only 
provide infrastructure that achieves a base level of performance.  

Councils are best placed to determine the costs of local infrastructure taking into account local 
circumstances and constraints. Councils should not be forced to apply standardised 
benchmark costs for local infrastructure, nor expected to prepare detailed cost estimates for 
projects at the contributions plan making stage. The City has strong concerns that these 
changes will result in significant additional imposts on resources as part of the plan 
preparation process, which will have the perverse effect of slowing the process down.  

The current IPART reviews are fundamentally flawed, hampered by inappropriate terms of 
reference and a completely inadequate timeframe. It is not appropriate for IPART to form any 
conclusions or produce any reports based on the current process.  

  



Submission on  
NSW Government infrastructure contributions changes 

9 

Recommendation 5: Proposal to make permanent deferral of contributions payment to 
Occupation Certificate stage  
The Government must not proceed with making permanent the deferral of payment of 
contributions from construction certificate to occupation certificate stage for certain 
large-scale developments. Once the current Ministerial Direction allowing this expires, 
the payment time for contributions should permanently revert to the construction 
certificate stage.  
The City maintains strong opposition to this proposal. It is in direct conflict with the NSW 
Government’s aim of delivering the right infrastructure at the right time and presents a further 
challenge to the ongoing stability of councils. It is also at odds with the Government’s proposal 
to encourage councils to forward fund infrastructure. Councils cannot reasonably be expected 
to borrow to forward fund infrastructure if their contributions payments are significantly 
delayed.  

Should this unjustified and unsupported policy be implemented, the NSW Government should 
legislate for a full indemnification of all local contributions not paid due to the insolvency, the 
winding up of shell development companies or other default of developers prior to payment. 
This is the only way to ensure that councils are not left out of pocket and unable to deliver 
infrastructure when these situations arise.  

 

Recommendation 6: Land Value Contributions 
Land value contributions should apply to infill councils as well as greenfield release 
areas. There needs to be sufficient flexibility to allow councils to adopt an approach 
which best suits their specific circumstances.  
The current land value contributions proposal has been designed for greenfield release areas, 
but high and rising land values in metropolitan areas makes it important that infill councils are 
also captured. Metropolitan councils should have the choice to use a land value contribution 
mechanism in urban renewal areas where land and monetary contributions are required to 
deliver necessary public infrastructure.  

It is critical that the proposed land value contributions system does not prevent existing 
measures for capturing a proportion of land value either now or in the future.  

 

Recommendation 7: Land use planning process changes 
The Government should develop more precise criteria to determine if a new or updated 
contributions plan needs to be prepared alongside a planning proposal, so that there is 
less discretion in the assessment of the direction. Clarity is also needed on procedure 
to be followed when there is disagreement as to whether a new contributions plan is 
warranted.  
For inner city councils dealing with urban infill areas, planning proposals can be frequent. It is 
an additional administrative burden for councils to have to document an assessment of each 
planning proposal against the new Direction for submission with a Gateway Determination 
request and will inevitably delay outcomes. There may also be disagreements between 
councils, proponents or the NSW Government about whether a new contributions plan is 
warranted. There needs to be clear procedural guidance as to how those situations should be 
resolved to avoid delays in the planning proposal process.  

  



Submission on  
NSW Government infrastructure contributions changes 

10 

Regional Infrastructure 
Contributions 
The feasibility analysis is seriously flawed and misleading 
The Department engaged a consultant to prepare a feasibility analysis in relation to the current 
Regional Infrastructure Contributions proposal. The feasibility analysis identifies case studies to 
model the impact of Regional Infrastructure Contributions on different land uses in isolation and 
alongside the proposed changes to water infrastructure charges and s7.12 contributions. A 
summary of the case studies is reproduced in Figure 2 below: 

Figure 2. Case study areas by land use 
Land use Case study 

location 
Existing schemes 
(AH = Affordable Housing Levy) 

Modelled development   
(st = storey) 

Houses  Edmondson Park s7.11 34 detached dwellings 

Schofields s7.11 16 townhouses 

Warriewood s7.11 10 detached dwellings 

Other 
residential 

St Marys s7.11 9 st mixed use (30 units) 

Bankstown s7.11 6 st residential (50 units) 

Chatswood s7.11, AH 7 st mixed use (30 units) 

Industrial Erskine Park s7.12 Industrial strata units 

Auburn s7.12 Warehouse/offices  

Alexandria s7.12 Industrial units/offices 

Commercial Penrith s7.11, s7.12 6 st commercial office 

Sydney OP ICF, AH 6 st commercial office 

Macquarie Park s7.11 8 st commercial office 

Retail Leppington s7.11 Mixed use  

Marsden Park s7.11 Mixed use 

Green Square s7.11, AH Mixed use  

The City raises the following concerns regarding the case studies:  

– the only case studies that are located within the City of Sydney relate to industrial and retail 
land use categories; 

– none of the modelled developments could be considered commensurate with the scale of 
residential and commercial developments seen in the City of Sydney, and; 

– a tourist accommodation case study is not modelled. 



Submission on  
NSW Government infrastructure contributions changes 

11 

The feasibility analysis applies three scenarios to the case studies. A summary of the three 
scenarios is reproduced in Figure 3 below. For the City, our interest and focus are on Scenario 3 
where the feasibility impact of the Regional Infrastructure Contributions is tested alongside the 
proposed changes to water infrastructure charges and the local levy condition (s7.12 
contributions). 

Figure 3. Scenarios and assumptions 
Scenario Contributions assumed 
1. Baseline feasibility • all applicable fees and charges, including s7.11 or s7.12, 

affordable housing contributions  

• Special Infrastructure Contribution (if applicable)  

• 3% pa net market growth  

2. Regional 
Infrastructure 
Contribution impact 
testing 

• all baseline applicable fees and charges, including s7.11 or 
s7.12, affordable housing contributions  

• Proposed Residential Regional Infrastructure Contribution rates 
o $12,000 per dwelling (house)  
o $10,000 per dwelling (residential unit)  

• Proposed non-residential Regional Infrastructure Contributions  

• Alternate Regional Infrastructure Contribution rates (as required)  

3. Regional 
Infrastructure 
Contribution, Water 
Charges, Residential 
s.7.12 impact testing 

• all baseline applicable fees and charges, including s7.11 or 
s7.12, affordable housing contributions  

• Proposed Residential Regional Infrastructure Contribution rates 
o $12,000 per dwelling (house)  
o $10,000 per dwelling (residential unit)  

• Proposed non-residential Regional Infrastructure Contributions  

• Water infrastructure charges: 
o $7,500 per dwelling (house)  
o $4,000 per dwelling (residential unit)  

• Residential s7.12 rates (replacing existing s7.12 rates where 
applicable) 
o $10,000 per dwelling (house)  
o $8,000 per dwelling (residential unit)  

Of concern, Scenario 3: 

– doesn’t model proposed commercial, retail and tourist accommodation s7.12 rates; 

– only models proposed residential s7.12 rates where they replace an existing s7.12 rate; 

– there are no existing s7.12 rates for the ‘house’ and ‘other residential’ case studies, so it is 
assumed the proposed s.7.12 residential rates have not been modelled, and; 

– if the proposed residential s.7.12 rates have been modelled, they are the lower Regional NSW 
and Greater Sydney West rates, not the higher Greater Sydney Central ($12,000 per dwelling) 
or Greater Sydney East rates ($15,000 per dwelling). 



Submission on  
NSW Government infrastructure contributions changes 

12 

These concerns are considered to be significant and put into question the utility of the feasibility 
analysis in supporting the proposed Regional Infrastructure Contributions. To reflect the true 
impact of the Regional Infrastructure Contributions, an accurate feasibility analysis would model: 

– a commercial, other residential and tourist accommodation case study within Central Sydney; 

– the proposed commercial, retail and tourist accommodation s7.12 rates across each of the 
case studies (where applicable), and; 

– assume a s.7.12 plan is in place for Central Sydney and the Pyrmont Peninsula. 

Whilst the feasibility analysis was prepared at the time when a s.7.12 plan was not in place in 
Central Sydney or the Pyrmont Peninsula, the Department was aware of and involved in the plan 
preparation process for Central Sydney and a new contributions plan is recommended for the 
Pyrmont Peninsula as part of the Department’s Infrastructure Delivery Plan. For the Department to 
know this and fail to address this as part of the feasibility analysis is potentially misleading and 
could be construed as deliberate for the purpose of trying to present a more favourable picture of 
feasibility than if all the relevant information was included. 

Despite all of these fundamental inadequacies, the Department’s feasibility analysis still concludes 
that the Regional Infrastructure Contributions could still substantially impact feasibility: 

If water infrastructure charges and residential s7.12 rates were implemented 
together with Regional Infrastructure Contribution rates, there could be 

substantial impact on feasibility, resulting in development that is Not Feasible  

Regional Infrastructure Contributions Feasibility Analysis, 
Atlas Urban Economics, September 2021 

With the residential case study scenarios, the introduction of Regional Infrastructure Contributions, 
Water Charges and residential s7.12 rates turns projects from “feasible” to “not feasible” (see 
Figure 4). The Manly case study appears to remain feasible, however this result is highly 
questionable given its feasibility reduces after a 1% market growth rate is applied (all other case 
studies improve after applying a 1% market growth rate). This is clearly an error, meaning the 
conclusion of the feasibility analysis that high value markets like Manly are at less risk of impact is 
incorrect and misleading. 

Projects remain marginally feasible for the industrial, commercial and retail case studies but the 
proposed commercial, industrial and retail s7.12 rates are not modelled, so the results are 
meaningless and don’t provide councils, industry and the community with the evidence required to 
make a meaningful assessment of the proposal. 

As the feasibility analysis notes, “All development contributions cumulatively have an impact on 
development feasibility”. However, no guarantee is provided that implementing Regional 
Infrastructure Contributions will not derogate from a council’s ability to fund local infrastructure and 
affordable housing.  

Councils’ ability to levy appropriate levels of local infrastructure contributions (s7.11 or s7.12) must 
be protected first and foremost, and affordable housing contributions must also be protected as a 
primary consideration. 

It is evident that if the impact of the proposed Regional Infrastructure Contributions was 
accurately modelled it would demonstrate that the proposal is entirely unfeasible. This 
means that the Regional Infrastructure Contributions model will not be able to exist without 
taking away councils’ ability to charge appropriate local infrastructure and affordable 
housing contributions. The current legislative proposals, including the recently introduced 
amendments, do not guarantee that the local contributions will not be the first to be 
reduced when the foreshadowed feasibility issues arise. The Regional Infrastructure 
Contributions proposal should not proceed on this basis. 



Submission on  
NSW Government infrastructure contributions changes 

13 

Figure 4. Impact of Regional Infrastructure Contributions, water 
charges and s7.12 contributions 
Source: Adapted from RIC Feasibility Analysis, Atlas Urban Economics, September 2021 

 
 

  



Submission on  
NSW Government infrastructure contributions changes 

14 

The NSW Government is restricting councils while granting itself 
unrestrained flexibility 
To be able to levy local infrastructure contributions, councils must prepare contributions plans with 
work schedules that detail the type of infrastructure to be delivered on specific sites, the estimated 
cost of that infrastructure and a timeframe for delivery. 

Councils are required to place draft local infrastructure plans on public exhibition, and consider any 
submissions made on draft plans. 

Councils are required to demonstrate a direct nexus between the contribution to be imposed and 
the demand for the infrastructure, or at least describe the relationship between the expected types 
of development in an area to which the plan applies and the demand for additional public amenities 
and services to meet that development.  

The NSW Government proposal now introduces layers of additional procedural consideration for 
councils around Essential Works Lists and benchmark costs under the guise of “certainty and 
clarity”. 

At the same time, the NSW Government is introducing their own Regional Infrastructure 
Contributions framework that places no strong legislative restrictions on themselves in spite of the 
fact that it is being used to capture infrastructure contributions in one part of Sydney and then 
spend them wherever and on whatever NSW Treasury deem appropriate. 

The Regional Infrastructure Contributions “Guideline” outlines oversight arrangements, addressing 
how regional infrastructure will be prioritised and funding allocated, but as a guideline, it is non-
statutory and non-binding. The proposed amendment to the Environmental Planning and 
Assessment Amendment (Infrastructure Contributions) Bill 2021 (“the Infrastructure Bill”) does not 
significantly increase rigour, as Regional Infrastructure Contributions will still be able to be spent in 
any part of the Greater Sydney region with no requirement for proximity or relationship to the 
development in relation to which they were collected. Even the existing Special Infrastructure 
Contributions framework is area specific with funds collected in an area required to be spent in that 
area. There are no such requirements included in the Regional Infrastructure Contributions 
framework. 

As multiple high-profile government infrastructure funding programs have recently demonstrated, a 
failure to have a transparent, consulted upon and fair program for the collection and spending of 
public money leads to outcomes not in the public interest. 

The proposals demonstrate that the NSW Government does not believe it necessary to 
adhere to the same level of transparency and accountability as it requires for local councils 
in how it plans for infrastructure and how it spends contributions that end up with NSW 
Treasury.  



Submission on  
NSW Government infrastructure contributions changes 

15 

Local levy conditions  
(s7.12) 
Section 7.12 contribution plans 
The City is strongly opposed to the proposed changes to how levies could be collected 
under s7.12 contributions plans. The City estimates that under the proposed s7.12 changes, 
it would receive an average of $35.7 million (or 67 per cent) less contributions income each 
year compared to the what it would receive under the new Central Sydney Contributions 
Plan 2020. This equates to a projected $607 million loss of contributions to fund public 
infrastructure for Central Sydney from 2024/25 to 2040/41.  

A loss of contributions funding on this scale seriously jeopardises the City’s ability to deliver the 
infrastructure needed to support Central Sydney’s status as the core of our global city and the key 
driver of the national economy. The recently adopted planning controls for Central Sydney position 
the CBD for unprecedented growth over the coming years.  

The proposed changes also place at risk the NSW Government’s vision for the Pyrmont Peninsula 
under the Pyrmont Peninsula Place Strategy, where a new s.7.12 contributions plan is 
recommended. The Department has undertaken extensive economic analysis, utilising external 
consultants, which has confirmed that there will be significant additional infrastructure required in 
the Peninsula to support the growth proposed under that Strategy. As a result, a 3% contributions 
levy has been recommended. Any departure from this position would need to be accompanied by a 
commensurate reduction in the proposed development growth proposed for the Peninsula. 

When compared to existing s7.12 contribution plans where levies are charged as a percentage of 
development cost, the City does not consider that the proposed changes to a maximum dollar rate 
meet the Government’s intention to achieve administrative efficiency, consistency and simplicity.  

While the City notes that the proposed maximum dollar approach was recommended by the 
Productivity Commissioner (without adequate justification or consultation), the current proposal 
demonstrates the significant challenges with implementing such an approach in practice. The 
provisions establishing the new rates in the draft Regulation cannot be considered simple or 
transparent on any interpretation. As proposed, multiple factors will need to be considered for each 
calculation including geographical location, development type, whether a development is a new 
build or an alteration and which measure applies (eg. square metre of floor space / dwelling / 
bedroom / bed). Even this complex model does not adequately cover all situations and 
circumstances because it is impossible to prepare an exhaustive list of development types.  

This approach will not provide “mum and dad” renovators with any more clarity than the current 
system. However, it will create significant loopholes for developers and private certifiers who will be 
able to manipulate proposals to reduce compensation liability and game the system.  

The current overcomplicated proposal should be abandoned. The NSW Government should 
retain fixed percentage levies which are simple, transparent and provide certainty for all 
parties. 



Submission on  
NSW Government infrastructure contributions changes 

16 

Figure 5. Financial impact on City as a result of s.7.12 changes  

 

A new approach to s7.12 contributions 
The Infrastructure Bill and draft Regulations seek to make changes to how levies can be collected 
under s7.12 contribution plans. It is proposed to change from the current maximum percentage 
levy (as a percentage of development cost) to new ‘local levy condition rates’ which will charge 
dollar rates for named development types by geographical area. It is proposed that the City of 
Sydney be in the “Greater Sydney – East” area with the contribution rates as set out in Figure 6. 

As recommended by the NSW Productivity Commissioner, the intention is for the proposed s7.12-
dollar rates to be equivalent to three per cent of the cost of residential development and one per 
cent of the cost of non-residential development. 

It is proposed that these new local levy condition rates be reviewed every four years, and that they 
be indexed each quarter using the Producer Price Index (Road and Bridge Construction – NSW). 

Figure 6. Proposed Greater Sydney East rates 
Development type Rate Per 

Dwelling House $15,000 dwelling 

Other residential (e.g. multi-unit, dual occupancies) $15,000 dwelling 

Residential additions  $6,000 room 

Commercial (new / alterations) $50 / $25 sqm 

Retail (new / alterations) $35 / $17.50 sqm 

Industrial (new / alterations) $35 / $17.50 sqm 

Boarding houses/group homes/student 
accommodation/hotels/motels/serviced apartments 

$6,000 bedroom 

Aged care facilities/nursing homes/hostels/ 
backpackers accommodation 

$6,000 bed 



Submission on  
NSW Government infrastructure contributions changes 

17 

Our economic and social recovery from Covid-19 is at risk 
The Central Sydney Development Contributions Plan 2020 came into effect on 26 November 2021. 
This Plan allows the City to levy contributions at a sliding scale up to maximum rate of three per 
cent1 for both residential and non-residential development, based on development cost. This Plan 
seeks to ensure appropriate funding to enable the delivery of the public infrastructure needed to 
support the significant population increases expected as a result of large increases in development 
potential that have recently been created through changes to the planning controls for Central 
Sydney. The proposed changes to s7.12 seriously risk undermining the City’s capacity to deliver 
the infrastructure enhancements needed in Sydney’s CBD.  

In their November 2021 Ministerial Media Release addressing their much-delayed endorsement of 
the City’s Central Sydney Planning Framework, the Premier and Minister stated: 

Sydney’s heart is shaping up for its comeback, with planning complete on the 
next steps to unlock a potential 2.4 million square metres of new commercial and 

employment floor space in Central Sydney and Pyrmont. 

Sydney is the nation’s only global city and we have a once in a generation 
opportunity, as we come out the other side of the pandemic, to continue 

transforming it into one of the world’s greatest cities. 

The proposed changes to s7.12 threaten this “comeback”. The proposed changes to s7.12 
will result in a loss of around two thirds of local contributions income to fund public 
infrastructure in Central Sydney when compared to what is projected to be derived under 
the new contributions plan.  
Figure 7 demonstrates the difference in the projected s7.12 contributions income under the new 
Central Sydney Development Contributions Plan 2020 compared to the NSW Government’s 
proposed dollar levy rates. 

There are huge ramifications for Central Sydney in terms of infrastructure provision if the City is 
required to replace its new contributions plan with an alternative one aligning with the proposed 
regime by mid-2024. The City’s new contributions plan contains a Schedule of Works which 
describes almost $650 million of infrastructure that the City has identified for part or whole funding 
through development contributions collected under the plan. The works items on this list include 
significant projects critical to transforming our public domain, open space and transport facilities to 
ensure they befit our status as Australia’s global city. A reduction in contributions on the magnitude 
of 67 per cent per annum for Central Sydney would put many of these important projects at serious 
risk. 

This will not only have direct impacts on the workers, residents and visitors to Central Sydney, but 
will impact on our status as Australia’s most important economic region. Major landowners and 
businesses tell us they are willing to invest and provide world class buildings in our CBD because 
they have confidence in the City’s ability to provide and maintain public domain infrastructure that 
is commensurate with their level of investment. A reduction in contributions on this scale will impact 
our ability to fund and deliver the infrastructure that stimulates and supports other economic activity 
and investment. 

 

 
1 A transitional introduction rate of 2% applies to developments with a cost of more than $1 million. On 1 July 2022, this 
rate will increase to 3%.  



Submission on  
NSW Government infrastructure contributions changes 

18 

The City estimates that for non-residential development in Central Sydney, the projected 
s7.12 contributions income is estimated to be on average $32.7 million (or 69 per cent) less 
each year over the 20 years to 2040/41.  

Most of the forecast decline in s7.12 contributions income in Central Sydney would result from non-
residential development because:  

– under the new Central Sydney Contributions Plan 2020, the contribution rate for non-residential 
development is up to three per cent of the development cost, while the proposed maximum 
dollar rates for non-residential development only are intended to be the equivalent of one per 
cent of the development cost;  

– around 88 per cent of the income under the new Central Sydney Contributions Plan 2020 is 
projected to derive from non-residential development, and; 

– contributions for ‘alterations’ are only proposed to be charged at half of the maximum rate 
applicable and there is a high volume of refurbishment activity in Central Sydney. 

Figure 7. Comparison of forecast s7.12 contributions to 2040/41: 
current contributions plan vs proposed rates  

 

The approach undermines existing evidence-based planning  
Clause 25K(1)(b) of the EP&A Regulation lists areas that are subject to higher maximum s7.12 
levies. There are currently ten areas within NSW where higher rate maximum percentage levies 



Submission on  
NSW Government infrastructure contributions changes 

19 

can be charged, including Central Sydney. There is no differentiation between residential and non-
residential development under these current provisions.   

It is likely that each council with an existing higher rate levy plan will incur financial loss on their 
s7.12 plans as result of the proposal to limit the dollar rate for non-residential development to the 
equivalent of 1% of the development cost. In the City’s case, this financial loss is substantial given 
the high volume of non-commercial development coupled with high development costs associated 
with the dense urban environment. This also reflects the significantly higher cost of developing and 
delivering infrastructure in the CBD.  

It is unreasonable to expect these councils to forgo higher rate levies that have previously been 
justified to the Department, typically to support strategic areas of growth through the funding and 
delivery of infrastructure.  

In the process of seeking the Minister’s approval for a higher rate levy, the City provided the 
Department with extensive justification of why a contribution levy of up to three per cent was 
appropriate. This included an economic analysis which demonstrated that the proposed 
contributions increase would not impact on development feasibility, or that the impact on the 
overall cost of development would be relatively minor.  

Pyrmont Peninsula Place Strategy  
Case study in collaborative evidence-based planning 
The City has been working in collaboration with the Department on the implementation of the 
Pyrmont Peninsula Place Strategy. This NSW Government strategy forecasts that in the next 
20 years as a result of new development there could be 8,500 more residents and up to 
23,000 more jobs in the Pyrmont Peninsula. Delivery of significant infrastructure to support 
these large population increases is identified as a key aspect of the Strategy itself. A local 
infrastructure contributions plan is currently being prepared to ensure that this significant 
growth is supported by adequate infrastructure.  

As part of the work to prepare a local contributions plan, income forecasts have been modelled 
for s7.11 and s7.12 plans to inform decisions about the infrastructure to be funded through 
local contributions. The Infrastructure Delivery Plan exhibited by the Department recommends 
a 3 per cent residential and non-residential rate for the Pyrmont Peninsula to appropriately 
support the growth envisaged by the NSW Government’s strategy for the Peninsula. It states:  

“This Infrastructure Delivery Plan considers a s7.12 plan with a 3 per cent levy may be the 
optimum approach for funding the local works included in the Infrastructure Schedule. 
Preliminary analysis by GLN suggests that a draft plan which seeks a 3% levy would meet the 
criteria set out in the Department’s 2021 Practice Note, which addresses higher rate levies.” 

The proposed changes jeopardise the NSW Government’s vision for the Pyrmont Peninsula 
under the Place Strategy and fail to specifically address the significant evidence-based 
planning already undertaken by the Department in collaboration with the City. 

  



Submission on  
NSW Government infrastructure contributions changes 

20 

Discounted rates for alterations have adverse financial impacts 
It is proposed that where a development is an alteration to an existing development, the maximum 
rate chargeable will be 50 per cent of that which would apply if the development were new or the 
addition of floorspace. This differs from the existing s7.12 regime, where contributions are payable 
on certain alterations and additions at the same rate as for new buildings. The implication of this 
proposed change is that it would reduce the quantum of contributions that can be collected. This is 
a particular concern for the City, where there is a high volume of refurbishment activity in Central 
Sydney.  

It is the City’s experience that ‘alterations’ of non-residential floor space typically lead to the 
intensification of use of that floor space. In Central Sydney, there is a strong depth of market 
demand which drives high rental potential and asset performance. Furthermore, there is a large 
proportion of buildings, including heritage items, where comprehensive redevelopment is not an 
option. Upgrades to buildings, including fit outs, typically assist in unlocking increased density of 
use and therefore revenue generation potential. While this work requires expense, it typically 
enables the proponent to secure stronger financial outcomes by avoiding vacancy, securing higher 
rent or more robust lease arrangements.  

The Department’s own economic analysis on the proposed s7.12 charging methodology also 
observed the trend in intensification of non-residential floorspace. In fact, it cites the City’s 5 yearly 
Floor Space and Employment Survey (FES) to demonstrate this. For the CBD and Harbour village, 
the City’s FES shows that the average floorspace occupied per worker fell in the ten years 
between 2007 to 2017 from 11.5 workers to 8.8 workers. This trend was evident in several of the 
City’s village groupings throughout the local government area. The Department’s study2 of the 
s7.12 charging methodology stated that the FES data suggests that: 

floorspace is increasingly being used more intensively (that is, accommodating 
more workers per square metres of floor space), regardless of whether new floor 

space is added  

s7.12 Development Contributions 
Contributions Reform - Review of Charging Methodology,  

Atlas Urban Economics, September 2021 

There is clear evidence that in Central Sydney, alterations lead to intensification of land use and a 
decrease in workspace ratios. This results in a higher worker population and more business activity 
and subsequently more demand for public infrastructure.  

The Department’s study of the s7.12 charging methodology recommends that s7.12 rates be levied 
on alterations and additions activity. Notably, this recommendation does not suggest any discount 
to the levy rates for alterations. Therefore, there is no justification for a 50 per cent discount for 
alterations.  

Alterations have the potential to generate equivalent infrastructure demand as new development or 
additions. Consequently, the levies charged should be commensurate with this. Furthermore, 
providing a discount for alterations adds complexity to what is already an over complicated 
proposal.  

  

 

 
2 Atlas Urban Economics for Department of Planning, Industry and Environment (DPIE), s7.12 Development 
Contributions. Contributions Reform – Review of Charging Methodology. September 2021. 



Submission on  
NSW Government infrastructure contributions changes 

21 

The new approach adds considerable complexity  
The City currently administers both s7.11 and s7.12 contributions plans and therefore has the 
benefit of understanding at a practical level the full extent of work involved in preparing and 
implementing both types of plans.  

The City considers that the existing s7.12 regime, where contributions are calculated as a 
percentage of development cost, is administratively efficient and simple in terms of plan 
preparation and implementation. The link to development cost provides developers with certainty 
as to what local development contributions are likely to be payable, given that budgeting and 
costings are fundamental components of the development process (including being required to be 
nominated for the purposes of development application fees and consent authority thresholds). An 
additional advantage is that indexing is also captured through the calculation of the development 
cost, which cuts out the need to index rates as a routine exercise each quarter or year.  

The proposed changes will add considerable complexity to the s7.12 contributions regime at 
implementation stage. For each development application / Complying Development Certificate 
(CDC), planners and certifiers will need to:  

– determine the region within which a site is located; 

– determine which development type applies to the proposed development (for mixed use sites, 
this could be several);  

– decide if the development is ‘new’ or ‘altered’ floorspace (sometimes this is not readily obvious 
e.g. enclosure of existing balconies, indoor/outdoor rooms); 

– decide if the development is an ‘alteration’ to an existing development, and; 

– decide if the development involves a change of use (this is not always straightforward).  

Difficulties are likely to arise for planners and certifiers when making the decisions set out above. 
The proposed development types are not exhaustive and fail to capture all types of uses, which 
inevitably means that there will be times when planners and certifiers do not know how to 
categorise certain land uses for contributions purposes. There may also be times when there are 
mixed uses, and the applicant argues that one use is ancillary to the other – should the planner / 
certifier apply contributions charges based on the mixture of uses, or opt to go with the dominant 
use? Even when undertaking such calculations, it may not be easy to differentiate which floorspace 
is used for what activity (e.g. indoor amusement centre combined with a licensed bar use).  

The requirements to make decisions about how to categorise developments for contributions 
purposes will inevitably give rise to opportunities for developers and applicants to game the 
system. Information provided with an application will be presented in a way which minimises the 
amount of contribution payable (for example, whether additional rooms being added to a residential 
dwelling constitute “bedrooms”) and developers and applicants will be able to exploit loopholes to 
their advantage. 

While the Department has indicated that a digital tool will be made available to assist with 
contributions calculations, it remains that there will be new layers and complexities involved in 
determining what information should be input in the tool. A digital tool might only help with 
mechanical calculation – not in the multiple layers of decisions that will need to be made before 
determining what data to input.  

From an implementation perspective, similarities can be drawn between the existing s7.11 
contributions regime and the proposed regime for s7.12 plans. These similarities indicate that the 
proposed 7.12 regime will require more input from planners/certifiers to determine the contributions 
payable than the current s7.12 regime. It is well known that the existing s7.11 regime is not only 
more resource intensive in terms of plan preparation but also in terms of implementation. The 
additional resource implications of the new s7.12 regime should not be underestimated and will 
place additional and unreasonable administration burdens on councils.  



Submission on  
NSW Government infrastructure contributions changes 

22 

Transitional arrangements  
The City faces the very real possibility that its new Central Sydney Development Contributions 
Plan 2020 will only have a short life, given that the draft Regulation’s transitional arrangements 
(Clause 33B) states that a council must review existing plans and approve new plans prepared in 
accordance with the new regime by 1 July 2024 (“the review date”).  

The draft Regulations state that if a council fails to do this by 1 July 2024, the existing plans cease 
to have effect. While the draft Regulations propose that councils may seek extensions to this 
review date, there is no indication of the circumstances under which such extensions may be 
granted.  

These transitional arrangements completely underestimate how resource intensive the preparation 
of contributions plans is for councils. The newly commenced Central Sydney Development 
Contributions Plan 2020 was over two years in the making, including a wait of 11 months for the 
Department to amend Clause 25K of the Regulation to give effect to the higher rate levy. 

The proposed transitional arrangements mean that this plan will only benefit from a two-and-a-half-
year life span and most of that time will be spent preparing a replacement plan.  

There is no guarantee that councils with an existing higher rate under Clause 25K of the 
Regulation will be able to retain their existing 7.12 contributions plan for the life of the plan. This is 
despite repeated assurances by the Minister and the Department that no councils will be worse off 
under the proposed reforms.  

The only way to ensure that the commitment to councils being “no worse off” can be met, as noted 
above, is for councils with existing s7.12 rates above the current one per cent threshold to retain 
the ability to levy at their existing rates upon the expiry of their current plans should they provide 
adequate evidence to demonstrate ongoing demand to justify the higher rates. There is no reason 
why councils should not be able to retain the ability to levy at higher rates in perpetuity should they 
be able to adequately justify this approach. It is accepted that this should be reassessed when 
each new plan is proposed to ensure the underlying assumptions remain current. However, as 
currently proposed, the Infrastructure Bill and draft Regulation do not leave this option available, 
regardless of whether or not councils can demonstrate ongoing need for higher levies. 

Other matters that require justification  
No justification for certain dollar rates 

There is no explanation or justification as to how the proposed dollar rates have been derived for 
the following development categories:  

– additional bedroom(s); 

– boarding houses/group homes/student accommodation/hotels/motels/serviced apartments; 

– aged care facilities/nursing homes/hostels/backpackers’ accommodation; 

– caravan parks/manufactured home estates, and; 

– solar and wind farms.  

Are these rates also intended to be the equivalent of 3% of residential development costs and 1% 
of non-residential development costs? If not, what else has been used to determine them?  

Additional bedrooms  
The proposal to levy contributions on ‘additional bedrooms’ will add complexity to the proposed 
s7.12 regime. It is likely that some applicants will choose to game the system by notating new 
bedrooms on development application plans as ‘media rooms’ or ‘studies’ to avoid paying 



Submission on  
NSW Government infrastructure contributions changes 

23 

contributions. This is made even more likely by the fact that there is no proposal to charge 
contributions where there are substantial renovations to dwellings that do not involve additional 
bedrooms. This approach will add time and complexity to contributions decisions on development 
applications and complying development certificates, which in turn increases workloads.  

As currently drafted, for residential alterations and additions, where more than two additional 
bedrooms are proposed, the contributions would exceed those levied for a new dwelling (of any 
size). This is a significant inconsistency and demonstrates the challenges in adopting the approach 
recommended by the Productivity Commissioner, rather than the current fixed percentage of cost. 

Non-private residential and tourist accommodation  
The rationale behind the development type groupings of ‘boarding houses/group homes/student 
accommodation/hotels/motels/service apartments’ and ‘aged care facilities/nursing 
homes/hostels/backpackers accommodation’ is not clear. No justification has been provided as to 
why some of these use types are charged a per bed rate and others a per bedroom rate.  

In the City’s experience, boarding houses, group homes, student accommodation, hostels and 
backpackers accommodation are typically intensive uses, sometimes with up to 8-10 beds 
proposed per bedroom. Residents of these accommodation types are often heavily reliant on 
public infrastructure such as libraries and parks due to the constrained nature of common areas 
within these properties. It is illogical that intensive uses which drive infrastructure demand have not 
all been grouped together, but instead some of these intensive uses have been grouped with less 
intensive uses like aged care facilities and nursing homes.  

  



Submission on  
NSW Government infrastructure contributions changes 

24 

Local infrastructure 
conditions (s7.11) 
s7.11 changes raise significant uncertainty for councils  
The NSW Government has introduced an amendment to the Infrastructure Bill to defer the 
mandatory application of the proposed Essential Works List to all s7.11 contributions plans for 
three years. Department staff have advised councils that the purpose of this deferral is to enable 
an assessment of the impacts of the other proposed changes. However, the Government is still 
proposing to proceed with the legislative changes to s7.11 as part of the current package, meaning 
that the implementation of those changes is inevitable regardless of the assessment to be 
undertaken at the three year point. More troublingly, IPART has not been asked to pause or defer 
its current work to factor in this deferral period and enable a more fulsome consideration of all the 
issues. In the interim, what is on exhibition and what the City is required to comment on is an 
incomplete and unclear package with uncertainty as to many aspects of its future implementation. 

The proposed changes to the s7.11 infrastructure contributions regime raise significant uncertainty 
for local councils, including:  

– what will happen to the current IPART trigger thresholds3 beyond the three-year deferral 
period? 

– why does IPART have to conduct a review of the Essential Works List and benchmark rates at 
this time, with strongly limited terms of reference and inadequate timeframes for proper 
assessment and consideration, when the Government has committed to deferring the 
introduction of these requirements for a further three years?  

– why does the Government need to legislate to introduce these provisions at this time if the 
reason for the three-year deferral period is to enable an assessment of the impacts of the first 
tranche of reforms? 

– once the mandatory Essential Works List is implemented, what will be the criteria for the IPART 
review of s7.11 contribution plans?  

– will councils who are currently recouping contributions for works items which will not be on the 
mandatory Essential Works List (such as community facilities works) be able to continue doing 
so under new plans?  

– how stringently the “development contingent” tests are implemented by the Government, as 
significant judgement is required in this process?  

– when the benchmark cost proposals will be implemented – will this commence in mid-2022 or 
is a three year deferral also proposed? and; 

 

 
3 The IPART trigger thresholds serve as a trigger for when a s7.11 contributions plan is to go through the IPART review 
process. The City is subject to a $20,000 trigger threshold per lot/dwelling. This means that if the City wishes to charge a 
contribution rate above $20,000 per lot/dwelling, it’s contributions plan would need to go through the IPART review 
process.  



Submission on  
NSW Government infrastructure contributions changes 

25 

– given that the Cardno technical reports4 prepared for IPART appear to be in draft form and 
further analysis is being undertaken, when will there be certainty around what exactly is 
proposed in terms of benchmark items and costs as well as adjustment factors?  

The uncertainty around what the NSW Government is proposing demonstrates why the 
package of s7.11 changes is premature and should be abandoned so that the individual 
circumstances of councils can be properly understood to inform any future changes to the 
current system.  

Financial impacts are uncertain 
While the current IPART trigger thresholds ($20,000 for infill councils like the City and $30,000 for 
specified greenfield areas) will continue to apply for this three year deferral period, there is no 
indication of what will happen to the trigger thresholds at the end of this three year period. In 
practice, these thresholds still serve as a maximum cap on the development contributions that can 
be charged per residential dwelling in many councils, including the City. As a result of this 
uncertainty, councils cannot be guaranteed that they will not be financially worse off as a result of 
the proposed s7.11 reforms.  

The City has previously advocated for the review or removal of the $20,000 trigger threshold. In its 
April-June 2020 consultation5 on the issue, the NSW Government stated that the trigger threshold 
should increase because “the thresholds that trigger the review process do not currently reflect 
increasing infrastructure delivery costs and land values over the past 10 years”. In this 
consultation, the NSW Government led councils to believe that the trigger threshold for the IPART 
review of plans would be increased. Three options were provided as to how this could be done. 
Making the review or removal of the threshold contingent upon s7.11 plans being more restrictive 
(both in terms of application of the Essential Works List and benchmark costs) was not put forward 
as an option.  

It is disappointing that the NSW Government seems to have disregarded its previous proposals to 
increase the threshold, instead opting to replace them with recommendations arising from the 
NSW Productivity Commission’s Final Report, much of which was not the subject of the original 
consultation process. Given that the NSW Government acknowledges itself that the trigger 
thresholds are inadequate, it is grossly unfair to councils for a decision on the thresholds 
to be delayed by a further three years and to be tied to the significant negative impacts of 
the current s7.11 proposals. 
Based on two different scenarios, the City raises concern that if the existing $20,000 cap on 
residential contributions continues beyond 2025/26:  

– Under scenario 16, s7.11 contributions income would be reduced by $4.0m per annum on 
average, or $65m in total by 2040/41; 

– Under scenario 27, s7.11 contributions income would be reduced by $8.7m per annum on 
average or $139.3m in total by 2040/41.  

 

 
4 Cardno Pty Ltd for the Independent Pricing and Regulatory Tribunal (IPART). Draft Benchmarking Items and Costing 
Methodology: Benchmark Costs for Local Infrastructure. 27 October 2021; Cardno Pty Ltd for the Independent Pricing 
and Regulatory Tribunal (IPART). Supplementary Report – Benchmark Datasheets: Benchmark Costs for Local 
Infrastructure. 10 November 2021.  
5 Department of Planning, Industry and Environment.  Improving the review of local infrastructure contributions plans – 
Discussion Paper. April 2020. 
6 Scenario 1: $20,000 cap on contributions continues beyond 2025/26. Mandatory application of Essential Works List 
means community facilities works cannot be funded through contributions.  
7 Scenario 2: $20,000 cap on contributions continues beyond 2025/26. Mandatory application of Essential Works List 
means no ability to fund community facilities works through contributions. Application of IPART benchmark costs results 
in 25% reduction in all works items costs (i.e. open space embellishment, transport and drainage works costs) eligible to 
be funded through contributions.   



Submission on  
NSW Government infrastructure contributions changes 

26 

These scenarios were produced before IPART’s benchmark costs were released, which was 
during the current exhibition period. Scenario 2 sought to test the impact of applying benchmark 
costs, as they are intended to be efficient costs for infrastructure that achieves a base level of 
performance. Scenario 2 was based on the assumption that there may be a 25 per cent reduction 
in the works items that could be funded through contributions. Having reviewed the benchmark 
costs and applying them to real life examples, the City now believes that there will be a 
greater percentage reduction in the works costs for which contributions can be levied. The 
effect of this is that the financial impacts on s7.11 contributions could be worse than 
estimated in this scenario.  
The City continues to raise strong objection to the ongoing existence of the $20,000 
contributions cap because when combined with the proposed s7.11 changes, our ability to 
fund vital local infrastructure is further jeopardised.  

Figure 8. Financial impacts on City from s.7.11 changes  

 
  



Submission on  
NSW Government infrastructure contributions changes 

27 

IPART’s five step framework for s7.11 plans 
IPART proposes the following five step framework apply to the preparation and implementation of 
all s7.11 contributions plans:  

Step Description 
Step 1: Essential Works List  Determine if the proposed infrastructure is on the 

proposed Essential Works List 
Step 2: Development contingent  Determine if the proposed infrastructure is 

development contingent 
Step 3: Efficient design and delivery  Determine if the proposed infrastructure meets 

efficient design and delivery principles 
Step 4: Determine costs to be levied Determine what costs can be included in the 

initial contributions plan 
Step 5: Plan updated over time Determine how and when costs within a plan 

can change.  

This framework represents a multi-layered divestment of councils’ autonomy to provide 
communities with vital local infrastructure. Councils are best placed to determine the infrastructure 
needs of their local communities.  

Under the proposals, for an infrastructure item to be included within a Schedule of Works in a 
s7.11 plan, the infrastructure will need to be listed on the proposed Essential Works List, 
considered to be “development contingent” and meet the principles of efficient design and delivery. 
Demonstrating cumulative compliance with each of these criteria represents a significant resource 
impost on councils, who should be left to determine for themselves what infrastructure their 
communities need rather than having to onerously justify why and how the infrastructure they wish 
to provide meets State mandated criteria.  

Step 1: Essential Works List 
Application of the Essential Works List to all s7.11 plans  
The City raises strong objection to the proposal to apply an updated Essential Works List to all 
s7.11 contributions plans, notwithstanding the NSW Government’s three year pause on 
implementation so that the existing arrangements can continue in the meantime (including in 
relation to the IPART review trigger thresholds). The proposal is fundamentally unfair and does 
not give councils the autonomy they need to tailor the provision of infrastructure according 
to need.  
Section 7.11 contribution plans are based on the principle of nexus, where there is a connection 
between the proposed development and the demand for infrastructure it creates. This proposal 
fundamentally undermines this principle. By dictating to councils what types of infrastructure they 
can fund through s7.11 contributions, the connection between development and demand is broken. 
If there is a community need or demand for a particular type of infrastructure, why should this be 
artificially restricted through the mandatory application of the Essential Works List?  

The mandatory application of the Essential Works List introduces a “one size fits all” approach for 
s7.11 contributions plans. This approach does not recognise that the infrastructure needs of 
worker, visitor and residential populations differ in different locations. The infrastructure needs of 
populations in urban infill councils like the City will differ to the needs of populations in regional and 
rural areas. It is therefore unreasonable to restrict councils across NSW to an arbitrary 
infrastructure list which may not allow them to collect contributions to fund the 
infrastructure that their communities need.  



Submission on  
NSW Government infrastructure contributions changes 

28 

In the Terms of Reference8 provided to IPART requesting a review of the Essential Works List, the 
Minister for Planning and Public Spaces specifically stated that the “essential works list must not 
expand beyond the current parameters and community facilities works must not be included”. This 
unexplained and troubling directive from the Minister to IPART was pre-emptive, and in the context 
of the proposal to apply the Essential Works List to all plans, served to break the principle of nexus 
for s7.11 plans. It deliberately prevented the opportunity for full, thorough and transparent 
consultation on what infrastructure items councils consider to be essential. This direction effectively 
sets restrictive parameters for the delivery of infrastructure, meaning that even if there is an 
obvious community need or demand for type of infrastructure not listed on the Essential Works 
List, there is no way of funding it through s7.11 contributions.  

Proposed Essential Works List  
IPART propose the following Essential Works List apply to all s7.11 plans:  

Land and/or facilities for open spaces 

Land or strata space for community facilities 

Land and/or facilities for transport 

Land and/or facilities for stormwater management  

The costs of plan preparation and administration 

Borrowing costs to forward fund infrastructure  

The proposed Essential Works List demonstrates a lack of true understanding about the 
infrastructure infill councils need to deliver to make communities liveable to align with growth. It 
does not adequately address the infrastructure needs of dense infill areas where there is less 
demand for new roads, footpaths and stormwater management (compared to greenfield areas) and 
more demand for open space and community facilities (including buildings). 

It is unclear whether public domain improvement works are on the EWL as a form of open space. 
Public domain improvement works, such as town squares, plazas and civic spaces are important 
areas for social interaction, recreation and congregation. This is particularly the case in high 
density urban areas where public domain areas can often function as crucial open space areas in 
much the same way as more traditional parkland open space does in less densely populated 
areas. 

In dense urban environments, indoor recreation facilities are also highly utilised and provide a 
strong community benefit. This is particularly the case where there is a mix of housing types, 
including newer residential models such as student accommodation. Indoor recreation facilities, 
such as basketball courts, provide valuable spaces for exercise and recreation. They serve the 
same community purpose as outdoor recreation facilities such as football fields and tennis courts. 
They only differ from outdoor courts because they are roofed and enclosed.  

The proposed Essential Works List is silent on whether land and facilities for transport includes car 
parking, while the existing list expressly excludes car parking. The City raises strong objection if 
car parking is now considered to be essential works. The City would never categorise car parking 
as ‘essential’ and therefore it should not be on any essential works list. 

 

 
8 NSW Department of Planning, Industry and Environment. Essential Works List and Nexus Terms of Reference. July 
2021. https://www.ipart.nsw.gov.au/documents/terms-reference/terms-reference-essential-works-list-and-nexus-july-2021 

https://www.ipart.nsw.gov.au/documents/terms-reference/terms-reference-essential-works-list-and-nexus-july-2021


Submission on  
NSW Government infrastructure contributions changes 

29 

Community facilities works are essential works 
The City’s concerns regarding the mandatory application of the Essential Works List are 
compounded by the fact that important items of infrastructure needed to support our communities 
have been expressly prohibited from being even considered for inclusion on the list.  

The City strongly asserts that community facilities buildings are essential works which should be 
eligible to be funded and delivered through infrastructure contributions. 

In its Final Report on the Infrastructure Contributions System, the NSW Productivity Commission 
defined “public infrastructure” as “infrastructure where the government plays a leading role to 
ensure its delivery, and lists community facilities such as “community centres and libraries, schools 
and hospitals” as public infrastructure. By not allowing for s7.11 contributions to be collected for 
this important public infrastructure, the NSW Government will effectively be forcing councils and 
their communities to go without, or to use general revenue to fund them. Reliance on general 
funding demonstrates that this proposed policy represents a cost shift from new development 
(bringing new populations) to rate payers.  

The Ministerial directive to prohibit the inclusion of community facilities works on the 
proposed Essential Works List is entirely unjustified. Community facilities such as child care 
centres, integrated multipurpose facilities, local community centres and libraries are vital to the 
fabric of urban life. They provide spaces for the City’s diverse communities of residents and 
workers to enjoy creative and recreational pursuits, education and training, entertainment and rest 
and respite in an increasingly dense inner-city environment. Leaving these facilities off the 
Essential Works List means that councils may not be able to strike the right balance of 
infrastructure to be funded through their contributions plans, with it potentially being skewed too 
heavily towards “hard” infrastructure types such as roads, footpaths and stormwater drainage.  

The City argues that community facilities buildings can be development contingent, with need 
driven by new development rather than simply general population growth, as demonstrated by the 
Green Square case study (see page 30 of this submission). It is reasonable that new development 
continues to pay local contributions to fund the community facilities buildings that their future 
populations will be using.  

The City is also in the process of recouping $41.3 million from community facilities works that it 
forward funded to ensure the timely delivery of this vital infrastructure for our communities, which 
will also provide benefit to future residents, workers and visitors. Expenditure on community 
facilities works had been anticipated to be recouped over time, as the forward funding of these 
works has drawn from other contributions categories and general funds. Removing community 
facilities off the Essential Works List and potentially Council’s ability to recoup funds already spent 
for that purpose puts the City at considerable financial risk. Based on average contributions over 
the last four years, recoupment of this forward funding is likely to take in the order of 11 years, 
although this time frame is also at risk given that the City is already feeling the financial impacts of 
the current deferral arrangement for the payment of contributions from construction to occupation 
certificate stage.  
  



Submission on  
NSW Government infrastructure contributions changes 

30 

Green Square 
Fulfilling the need for community facilities buildings  
Green Square is one of the largest urban renewal projects in Australia. It includes the suburbs 
of Zetland and Beaconsfield and parts of Alexandria, Waterloo and Rosebery. An average of 
50 new apartments are completed in Green Square each week. Currently, there are around 
42,000 residents, which means that more than half of the expected residential population of 
70,000 have already moved in. As Green Square continues to grow, the planning and 
management of community facilities is of paramount importance. The City has spent decades 
planning Green Square, and prepared an Infrastructure Strategy and Plan in 2015 to identify 
and guide the delivery of the physical and social infrastructure required to support growth. The 
City of Sydney Development Contributions Plan 2015 apportioned approximately $73 million of 
community facilities to the new population in the South Precinct (which contains Green 
Square).  

These facilities are of critical importance to the communities of Green Square. The newly 
opened Gunyama Park aquatic centre provides families with a local swimming pool where 
children can learn to swim - a valuable life skill. The Green Square library provides an 
important educational, social and community space for the community. The Waranara Early 
Education Centre provides 74 much needed child care spaces for children in the area. These 
facilities fulfil the community demand for high quality, safe and accessible places which 
respond to their needs and supports their wellbeing.  

These community facilities in Green Square are “development contingent”. They would not 
have proceeded if there was not the huge scale of development bringing new populations to 
the Green Square area. The need for new community facilities in the Green Square area was 
driven almost entirely by these large-scale developments, rather than underlying population 
growth trends. 

 
The Gunyama Park aquatic centre is a vital piece of infrastructure for the high density communities of 
Green Square and offers swimming lessons – a vital life skill.  

Proposal risks future provision of community facilities buildings  
Between 2013 and 2020, the City managed to acquire approximately 2.2 hectares of land for 
the provision of new open space and/or community facilities in Mandible Street, Alexandria. 
The City funded approximately 85% of this land acquisition through local infrastructure 
contributions collected under its s7.11 plan.  

The proposed changes to the s7.11 regime mean the City would not be able to use s7.11 
contributions to fund any community facilities buildings on this land. Any community facilities 
buildings which the City needs to provide would have to be funded through other income 
sources, such as rates. This is fundamentally unfair to existing rate payers, who will in effect 
be funding infrastructure resulting from demand generated by new development. If rate 
increases are required to fund community facilities buildings, this could have the perverse 
effect of making existing rate payers less accepting of new development. 



Submission on  
NSW Government infrastructure contributions changes 

31 

Step 2: Development contingent 
The City does not support the NSW Productivity Commissioner’s view that only “development 
contingent costs” should be funded by new development, where these costs were defined as 
having a “causal connection to a development because they would be avoided in the event the 
development did not proceed”. 

This proposal is overly strict and does not recognise that new development across a geographical 
area cumulatively creates demand for new infrastructure. Having to directly identify causal demand 
between a particular development and an infrastructure item in a contributions plan is an onerous 
and impractical requirement on councils. 

IPART propose that costs included in a s7.11 contributions plan should relate to the provision of 
“development contingent” local infrastructure. Local infrastructure will be considered to be 
“development contingent” where the following three criteria are met:  

– the expected development creates a demonstrable increase in demand for public amenities 
and services;  

– the types of public facilities proposed in the contributions plan are required to meet that 
demand, and; 

– the proposed facilities consider the extent to which existing facilities have capacity to meet that 
demand.  

A broader interpretation of “development contingent” infrastructure, as suggested by IPART, is 
more realistic than the direct causal relationship recommended by the NSW Productivity 
Commissioner.  

The principle of nexus is already well established under the existing s7.11 contributions 
system and this should be respected without further undue restriction. The existing 
apportionment methodology already ensures that new development does not pay for 
existing community needs.  
In preparing our current s7.11 plan, the City prepared category specific Infrastructure Strategies for 
Open Space, Community Facilities, Traffic and Transport and Stormwater drainage, supported by 
population forecast data. Each of these Infrastructure Strategies identified the new population’s 
demand for the particular category of infrastructure and set out how the City would use 
contributions to address this demand. Relevant technical studies specific to each infrastructure 
category were relied upon to inform decisions. The Infrastructure Strategies were included in the 
Plan as appendices.  

The City is comfortable with different approaches to demonstrating nexus according to 
infrastructure category as we consider this achieves the best infrastructure outcomes for our new 
communities. It is however a resource intensive approach. It is important that plan administration 
costs can include all costs associated with technical studies, including the council’s administration 
of any contracts for the delivery of such.   

Step 3: Efficient design and delivery 
IPART proposes that for the cost of land and/or facilities to be included in a contributions plan, 
councils must identify the most cost-effective means of providing that infrastructure to meet 
development contingent demand. IPART proposes that councils achieve these principles of 
efficient design and delivery by:  

– restricting infrastructure delivery to a base level of performance having regard to relevant 
government regulations or industry standards and community needs, and;  



Submission on  
NSW Government infrastructure contributions changes 

32 

– providing value for money by selecting the most cost-effective option for delivering base level 
infrastructure (noting this may not be the option with the lowest up-front cost).  

Base level of performance 
It is the City’s view that, in line with the impactor pays principle, development contributions should 
continue to be the primary funding source for infrastructure needed to support new populations. 
Further, the standards to which this this is done should remain a matter for individual councils 
taking into account their specific community needs.  

Whether councils choose to top-up infrastructure costs should remain a matter for individual 
councils. It should not be a given that councils will top-up funding from other revenue sources as a 
result of Government-imposed assumptions around what constitutes “base level” infrastructure. It 
is also worth noting that the ongoing existence of the $20,000 cap on residential dwelling 
contributions has meant that councils have been inadequately compensated for the infrastructure 
costs imposed by development for well over a decade. Putting this additional pressure on councils 
to find funding from other sources to meet the standards expected by their communities will not 
assist in ensuring the timely delivery of infrastructure.  

This proposal has the potential to result in financial uncertainty for councils. It fails to acknowledge 
that while councils list works items in their contributions plans to respond to new demand, it is 
rarely the case that they have prepared detailed proposals for that infrastructure. Given that 
contributions plans typically have a 10-15 year horizon, this situation is to be expected. Under this 
proposal, by listing an infrastructure item in a s7.11 plan, councils will be committing to only using 
contributions to fund base level infrastructure that is the minimum necessary to meet design 
standards/technical specifications and community needs. Often, community expectations around 
infrastructure exceed what may be deemed base level. This may result in difficulties for councils 
who may attract criticism for providing infrastructure below the standards expected or who may 
need to find “top up” funding from other sources to deliver infrastructure commensurate with 
community expectations.   

With regard to design standards and technical specifications being a factor for consideration when 
designing base level infrastructure, many councils, including the City, have their own technical 
standards, codes and drawings for infrastructure such as streets, footpaths and stormwater 
drainage. These technical standards, codes and drawings have been specifically developed to take 
into account local circumstances and respond to particular needs and therefore they differ between 
councils.  

For example, the Sydney Streets Code 20219 sets the guidelines, design coordination 
requirements and material palettes for land owned/managed by the City as well as land that is to 
be dedicated to the City. This Code recognises our particular circumstances as a local government 
area with a diverse range of streets which have different functions ranging from those which 
support our world class CBD through to local residential roads. If developers are undertaking 
works-in-kind infrastructure in the City, they are required to build according to the City’s technical 
standards, codes and drawings. Many developers who work in this City appreciate this, as this 
provides certainty around what is expected to be delivered. Ultimately, the delivery of infrastructure 
to an appropriate quality and consistent standard adds to the desirability of an area and is to the 
benefit of all stakeholders, including developers.  

We note that it is proposed for updated advice about design standards and technical specifications 
to be included in a future Practice Note. The Practice Note should include references to councils’ 
individual technical standards and drawings and provide sufficient flexibility to account for changes 
to standards and specifications.  

 

 

9  https://www.cityofsydney.nsw.gov.au/design-codes-technical-specifications/sydney-streets-code 

 

https://www.cityofsydney.nsw.gov.au/design-codes-technical-specifications/sydney-streets-code


Submission on  
NSW Government infrastructure contributions changes 

33 

Value for money  
The City agrees that all communities deserve infrastructure that represents good value for money. 
As IPART acknowledges, “lowest up front cost” does not necessarily translate to value for money 
in relation to infrastructure provision. A more relevant consideration is “lowest lifecycle cost” taking 
into account capital and operating costs over the life of an infrastructure item.  

The City notes the example used by IPART in relation to the turfing of playing fields in its Draft 
Report (pg. 41). This situation is relevant in the City, where our open spaces need to withstand the 
impacts of high intensity use. Our playing fields and all the associated facilities that go along with 
them (eg. change rooms) need to be designed for at least 60 hours of use per week, rather than 
the 20 hours of use that may be reasonable elsewhere. We know that synthetic turf is more 
expensive up front than regular turf, but once installed it can withstand the high intensity of use 
required of it in the City without the ongoing maintenance costs of regular turf. In this instance, if 
the City were required to provide infrastructure according to the lowest up front cost, the perverse 
outcome would be that we would need to acquire more land for open space as regular playing 
fields would not withstand the intensity of use.  

Additional resource implications 

The City objects to the extent to which councils will be expected to demonstrate value for money 
through the assessment of options for meeting performance outcomes in their contributions plans. 
The City’s current s7.11 contributions plan has 161 items listed within the Schedule of Works. It 
would be a resource intensive task to have to demonstrate the decision making framework used to 
determine the preferred option, explain how that option will meet performance outcomes and 
address different cost levels for each individual works item.  

Contributions plan preparation is already a resource intensive process often taking years, and the 
additional resource implications involved in having to justify how options were arrived and how they 
are cost effective is likely to result in plans taking even longer to prepare. This, coupled with the 
possibility that councils may need to prepare more contributions plans alongside planning 
proposals, does not bode well for the timely and responsive preparation of plans. The City is 
concerned that unreasonable expectations on timing will be imposed, particularly in relation to the 
preparation and consideration of planning proposal specific contributions assessments.  

Upgrading existing infrastructure 

In infill areas, it is not always possible or appropriate to provide new infrastructure. Upgrading of 
existing infrastructure to reflect the size and expectation of a growing community is the appropriate 
response in many cases in urban infill areas, not only from an economic perspective but also to 
ensure the sustainability and resilience of that existing infrastructure.  

Forward funding 

IPART encourages borrowing to forward fund and support the early delivery of infrastructure to 
reduce the need for staging and temporary facilities. In the City’s experience, forward funding of 
infrastructure does not reduce the need for staging or temporary facilities – as there can be other 
factors at play that influence this. For example, Gunyama Park in Green Square was delivered in 
two stages as it involved land not owned by the City. It is also important to note that in brownfield 
environments such as the City, the staging of works can be a major but unavoidable cost. 

Stormwater 

The City notes that whole of catchment stormwater planning may not be practical or feasible in 
established brownfield areas. In the City, we have small catchments, each of which already has a 
Floodplain Risk Management Plan which has been informed by modelling and identifies and 
prioritises infrastructure options. In our LGA, catchment behaviour (generally floods which occur 
rapidly) and constraints (for example, existing development, road alignments) mean that we need 
onsite stormwater detention systems which serve as smaller basins as larger, whole of catchment 
basements are not feasible. In some extreme situations, viable infrastructure solutions do not exist 



Submission on  
NSW Government infrastructure contributions changes 

34 

and therefore other means of addressing stormwater disposal are required such as education and 
emergency planning.  

A new special purpose authority or a water utility would have been beneficial at the time when 
there was an urgent need for the delivery of a 2.4 kilometre stormwater drain to address serious 
flood risk in Green Square. This trunk drain was a critical piece of enabling infrastructure to support 
development in Australia’s largest urban renewal area. The City instigated action to secure the 
delivery of this drain, with a $140M joint funding agreement reached with Sydney Water. The City 
funded 53% of the works, with funding sourced from s7.11 contributions and general revenue. The 
City supports collaboration between interested parties if it serves to deliver the right infrastructure 
in a timely manner. Councils must retain the flexibility to come up with innovative and responsive 
solutions in order to facilitate the orderly development of their areas where appropriate.  

Step 4: Determine costs to be levied 
The Infrastructure Bill proposes that “the cost of providing public amenity or public services must 
be calculated in accordance with the regulations and relevant Ministerial directions”. The NSW 
Government proposes to allow IPART to “develop and maintain standardised benchmark costs for 
local infrastructure that reflect the efficient cost of provision”10.  

In their October 2021 Draft Report, IPART proposes that costs can be levied for infrastructure in a 
contributions plan in two ways: 

1. by using standardised benchmark costs, and; 
2. by using a site specific costing approach (including actual costs, whether the infrastructure has 

already been constructed).  

IPART note that the use of site specific cost estimates should be minimised, with standardised 
benchmark costs as the preferred approach to simplify the infrastructure contributions system.  

Standardised benchmark costs  
The City raises serious concerns about the proposal to introduce standardised benchmark costs 
for the costing of infrastructure to be funded through development contributions.  

Setting infrastructure delivery costs in contributions plans should remain a council 
responsibility. Councils are best placed to understand the delivery costs associated with 
infrastructure delivery within their local context in order to reduce the risk of there being 
inadequate funds to allow for the timely delivery of infrastructure.  

Proposed benchmark costs are too low  

The City asserts that the proposed benchmark costs are grossly inadequate and are not 
representative of the actual delivery costs of base level infrastructure items within the City 
of Sydney local government area.  
To demonstrate this, one base level item from each of the three infrastructure categories (i.e. 
transport, stormwater and open space) is listed below with the benchmark costs recommended by 
Cardno in their benchmark costs report11 for IPART against the actual costs to deliver as set out in 
the City’s Schedule of Rates for infrastructure delivery. The City’s Schedule of Rates reflect market 
pricing for infrastructure items. Figure 9 demonstrates the significant cost differences: 

 

 
10 https://www.ipart.nsw.gov.au/Home/Industries/Local-Government/Reviews/Contributions-Plan/Review-of-benchmark-
costs-for-local-infrastructure  
11 Cardno Pty Ltd for the Independent Pricing and Regulatory Tribunal (IPART). Supplementary Report – Benchmark 
Datasheets. 10 November 2021.  

https://www.ipart.nsw.gov.au/Home/Industries/Local-Government/Reviews/Contributions-Plan/Review-of-benchmark-costs-for-local-infrastructure
https://www.ipart.nsw.gov.au/Home/Industries/Local-Government/Reviews/Contributions-Plan/Review-of-benchmark-costs-for-local-infrastructure


Submission on  
NSW Government infrastructure contributions changes 

35 

Figure 9. Comparison of IPART benchmark costs and City 
Schedule of Rates  
Infrastructure  Proposed  

benchmark 
cost 

Proposed 
benchmark cost 
(+40 per cent 
adjustment 
factor) 

City Schedule of 
Rates (“market 
rates”) 

Cost difference 
(between City 
rate and IPART 
benchmark plus 
40 per cent)  
 

Standard 
streetlights 

$12,600 each $17,640 each $30,000 each $12,360 

Gross pollutant 
trap (750mm) 

$65,000 each $91,000 each $200,000 each $109,000 

Turfing $40 per sqm N/A*  $200 per sqm $160 per sqm 

* No adjustment factor is proposed for open space infrastructure items. 

Figure 9 demonstrates that even if a 40% adjustment factor to account for site constraints were 
incorporated, the proposed benchmark costs would still fall far short of market prices for the 
delivery of infrastructure items in the City. If the City were to use the benchmark costs for 
preparing the cost estimates in our contributions plans, we would be forgoing millions of 
dollars in critical infrastructure funding.  
The City has applied the proposed benchmark costs to two real life examples for the purposes of 
determining how these costs compare to actual delivery costs. These examples demonstrate the 
gross inadequacy of the benchmark cost approach for the City.  

In the Shannon Reserve Playground example in Surry Hills (see page 40 of this submission), if 
IPART’s benchmark costs approach were used, the City would be able include a cost estimate of 
around $389,000 in the contributions plan, which means that contributions could be collected for 
this amount. The actual cost to the City of delivering the playground upgrade in 2020 was in the 
order of $1.5 million. This huge price discrepancy can be attributed to:  

– the benchmark costs not being reflective of market prices and entirely insufficient for works in 
highly constrained areas;  

– no price variables being proposed for open space works to account for the inner city location; 

– no benchmark costs being proposed for certain items of infrastructure which are considered 
reasonable for “base level” infrastructure in a park, such as site preparation works and furniture 
(garbage bins, water bubblers, signage).  

In the Gadigal Avenue and Lachlan Street intersection example (see page 41 of this submission), if 
IPART’s benchmark costs approach were used, a cost estimate of almost $1.1 million could be 
included in a contributions plan for the collection of levies. The actual cost to the City to deliver this 
work in 2020 was in the order of $4.1 million. This huge price discrepancy can be attributed to:  

– the benchmark costs not being reflective of market prices and entirely insufficient for busy inner 
city intersections and streets;  

– benchmark costs for the intersection works only being provided for street lights and kerb 
ramps, despite there being other associated works involved such as the construction of cycle 
ways and public domain improvements (e.g. widening and repaving of footpaths).  

Use of benchmark costs is inappropriate at plan preparation stage  

The proposal to introduce standardised benchmark costs does not recognise that the preparation 
of a contributions plan is an early stage in the process of infrastructure delivery, involving forecast 



Submission on  
NSW Government infrastructure contributions changes 

36 

population demand and the identification of infrastructure items. IPART’s Draft Report (pg. 47) 
states that “the aim of setting benchmark costs is to simplify the process of contributions plan 
preparation, enabling plans to be prepared earlier and exhibited with rezoning proposals”. The 
proposal makes this aim entirely unachievable.  

Requiring councils to provide detailed cost estimates in contributions plans, even with the aid of 
standardised benchmark costs and scopes, would require the preparation of detailed design 
proposals for each piece of infrastructure in a schedule of works so that all the component parts 
can be factored into costings. This is an incredibly resource intensive task to be expected to do the 
point of preparing a draft contributions plan. Detailed project planning often takes place for 
separate infrastructure items listed in contributions plans over the course of years in consultation 
with local communities. Being required to know the detail of projects upfront to provide 
detailed cost estimates is not practical, would have major resourcing implications for many 
councils and may have the perverse effect of slowing down the preparation of plans.  

It is not considered practical to require a council to know how many BBQ areas or shade sails it 
may need for a planned park at the time of preparing a contributions plan. It is also not in the public 
interest as the community are an important stakeholder in contributing to the final design of our 
infrastructure.   

If the City had been required to frontload the plan preparation process by providing detailed 
costings for each of the 161 works items listed in its current s7.11 plan, this would have required 
detailed proposals to have been prepared for each item upfront to know which of the 63 
benchmarked costs and scopes to apply. This proposed requirement would result in significant 
additional resource being expended in the plan preparation process and slow it down considerably. 
Ultimately, this would not be a helpful or efficient use of public monies.  

Even if councils were able to prepare detailed design proposals taking into account benchmark 
costs and scopes to work out cost estimates, it would be impossible to cover all potential scenarios 
that may arise in the development process. It is not uncommon for unforeseen issues to be 
discovered during the construction phase itself. Dealing with unforeseen issues in the construction 
stage often adds costs to a project. While IPART propose standardised allowances for inclusion 
such as contingency, project management and design, the costs proposed for this are seriously 
underestimated.  

List of infrastructure items for benchmarking is deficient   

The current list of infrastructure items for benchmarking is deficient. The list does not cover all 
components that work together to deliver an infrastructure project. The effect of this is that councils 
may be financially disadvantaged by not being able to levy contributions for certain component 
items of infrastructure.  

The benchmark costs are poorly resolved in relation to brownfield environments. For example, the 
benchmark costs for transport relate to new infrastructure delivery only, however in the City, 
upgrades to transport infrastructure are a major priority to support population growth. 

In the Shannon Reserve Playground example in Surry Hills (see page 40 of this submission), the 
following items were either not provided with benchmark costs or were provided with insufficient 
benchmark costs:  

– demolition and alterations: insufficient benchmark costs provided given that demolition can be 
a complex process and often requires demolition and / or alteration of works other than 
buildings e.g. retaining walls, hard landscape / paved areas etc;  

– site preparation: no benchmark scope or cost provided to allow for site preparation works - this 
is essential work that will always be required; 

– pavement works: insufficient benchmark costs provided with no allowances made for steps, 
ramps (including handrails), tactile indicators etc; 

– furniture: no benchmark costs provided for basic items such as garbage bins, water bubblers, 
signage; 



Submission on  
NSW Government infrastructure contributions changes 

37 

– service works: no benchmark costs / allowances made for services which will be required e.g. 
new power / water supply for open spaces, modification of existing services.  

In the Gadigal Avenue and Lachlan Street intersection example (see page 41 of this submission), 
the proposed benchmark costs are not suitable for brownfield urban renewal areas. The following 
items were not provided with benchmark costs or were provided with insufficient benchmark costs:  

– cycleways: no benchmark cost has been provided for cycleways (although one has been 
provided for a cycleway bridge);  

– public domain improvements: no benchmarks have been provided for associated widening / re-
paving of foot paths;  

– pedestrian improvements: no benchmarks have been provided for associated kerb extensions;   

– trees and planter beds: no benchmarks provided for associated tree/planting works but these 
are important in the fight against climate change.  

Adjustment for complexity  
IPART propose that “adjustment factors” be included in benchmark costs to account for variations 
between different sites and circumstances. The Draft IPART report (pg. 51) lists congestion, 
location and ground conditions as factors that can be considered to recognise additional costs of 
construction in some areas. IPART consider that by allowing for adjustments for complexity, 
benchmarks will be applicable to a broader range of projects which will minimise the need for 
councils to use the site-specific costing approach.  

Notwithstanding the City’s serious concerns about benchmark costings, it is noted that the 
inclusion of adjustment factors is considered one way to account for the range of site and 
locational circumstances that impact on construction costs. However, even with the inclusion of 
adjustment factors, the base benchmark costs from which the adjustment factors stem would have 
to be reflective of a realistic base level scope of works, and that the adjustment factors be 
calculated based on a detailed review of the price differentials that need to be considered.  

Additional costs for infill sites  

The Cardo technical report12 prepared for IPART notes that infill (brownfield) sites “present a large 
number of additional costs that are not necessarily comparable between sites”. However, Cardno 
have not determined what the range of additional costs that can be incurred on infill sites will be. 
This again demonstrates the premature and deficient nature of the proposal package. It is clear 
that an entirely inadequate timeframe has been provided to IPART for the current process 
and therefore the current IPART review should be abandoned.  
In the City’s experience, traffic management and night works, remediation works, demolition and 
utility relocation can seriously impact the cost of works on infill sites. Remediation works can 
increase construction costs considerably, while night works can increase construction costs in the 
order of 30%. In addition, new utility items or conduits for new utilities can also add considerable 
cost to infrastructure delivery. It is often the case that utility providers will only approve plans on the 
condition that new utilities and associated conduits are provided. 

Chapter 7 of the Cardno technical report looks at the components of cost estimates and also seeks 
to develop ranges within which adjustment factors can be set to reflect site circumstances. Page 
10 of this report specifically states that the recommended site constraint factors to apply for 
minimally/ moderately/ highly constrained sites would apply in relation to roads and stormwater 
infrastructure (Refer to Table 7.3, page 10). The proposal is flawed in that it doesn’t include any 
constraint factors for open space as these are often constrained by similar issues.  

 

 
12 Cardo Pty Ltd for the Independent Pricing and Regulatory Tribunal (IPART). Draft Benchmarking Items and Costing 
Methodology: Benchmark Costs for Local Infrastructure. 27 October 2021 



Submission on  
NSW Government infrastructure contributions changes 

38 

The Cardo technical report specifically states that the site constraint factors listed would not be 
appropriate for use for the Sydney CBD, as this area is a special case. The City asserts that not 
only is our CBD a special case, but also many areas throughout the City’s local government area 
where site constraints can increase costs in the order of 200%. This is far in excess of the 30-40% 
additional cost proposed for highly constrained sites in the technical report.  

Pages 11 and 12 of the Cardno technical report refer to ground conditions impacting on 
development costs, but adjustments seem only to be proposed in relation to bearing capacity, with 
no adjustments proposed for other ground conditions. The City notes that contamination, ground 
water levels and acid sulphate soils are all matters that impact on development costs in our area 
(as will be the case for most urban infill councils, particularly where brownfield land is being 
redeveloped to support population targets). Remediation costs can regularly have a significant cost 
implication and are not an “optional extra”. If no adjustment factors are proposed for these other 
ground conditions, councils will have little choice other than to use the site specific costing 
approach to ensure that the significant costs of dealing with these ground conditions are properly 
accounted for.  

Level of functionality 

The proposals fail to consider the level of functionality of infrastructure, which takes into account 
likely intensity of use in relation to population demand. In the City, we must design infrastructure 
that accounts for a high intensity of use by our high worker, visitor and resident populations. Using 
open space as an example, the City already experiences significant challenges in providing local 
open space to fulfil demand, particularly in terms of accommodating sports fields. We are unlikely 
to meet the needs of our new populations in our constrained urban environment. Therefore, part of 
our strategy to respond to demand and constraints is to ensure that new open space has high 
functionality and amenity through appropriate embellishment, and that upgrades to existing open 
space also increases functionality. There is a relative relationship between new population 
demand, availability of land and intensity of use.  

Flooding 

The design and construction of infrastructure is significantly more complex when a site is subject to 
flooding, and this impacts on cost. In the City where land choice is limited, there are times when we 
have little choice but to select sites for infrastructure provision which are burdened by constraints 
such as flooding. In a recent case in the City, we were required to raise ground levels for a whole 
playing field by a minimum of 900mm to mitigate flood impacts. This added significant cost to the 
project both at the design phase where additional expert studies were required, and construction 
costs have increased to account for additional material required (imported fill and retaining walls) 
as well as additional labour costs. Infrastructure built today must be constructed taking into account 
the challenges of the future, particularly in relation to the impacts of climate change. It is important 
that these restrictive proposals do not force councils to construct infrastructure which fails to 
address significant future issues, such as increased flood risk. The necessity for consideration of 
these issues will only increase over time to ensure that infrastructure is resilient in the face of 
climate change impacts.   

Project allowances  
The proposed standardised council on-cost rates for the internal and external activities involved in 
infrastructure delivery (for example detailed planning and design, geotechnical investigations, 
heritage studies etc) do not reflect the City’s circumstances.  

In the City, most of our infrastructure projects require multiple technical studies and approvals to 
facilitate delivery. The costs of these studies, along with project design that takes addresses 
complex site factors means that for small scale projects the City’s on costs would be in the order of 
30-35% (not the 17-22% proposed) while for a larger project, the on-costs would typically be 20-
25% (not the 12% proposed).  

The City does not support the proposed contingency rates. The City’s complex urban environment 
is such that there are often multiple uncertainties in projects that may result in additional costs. The 



Submission on  
NSW Government infrastructure contributions changes 

39 

proposal to include a contingency relating to the design stage is impractical as this level of detail is 
not typically known at the contributions plan preparation stage. A contingency rate of at least 25 – 
30% of estimated project costs is more realistic at the contributions plan preparation stage, in order 
to provide a sufficient buffer against unforeseen circumstances.   



Submission on  
NSW Government infrastructure contributions changes 

40 

Shannon Reserve Playground, Surry Hills 
Benchmark costs versus actual costs 
The City’s current s7.11 plan collected contributions for an upgrade to the Shannon Reserve 
Playground located on Crown Street in Surry Hills. Acquiring land for open space is 
challenging in constrained urban environments, therefore part of our strategy in response to 
new demand is to provide high functionality upgrades to improve capacity in existing parks. 
This park upgrade caters for the needs of young children aged 6 months to 8 years and 
incorporates inclusive play elements so that all children can enjoy the reserve as well as an 
accessible entry point. The upgraded playground significantly increases the amenity of the 
existing park, provides capacity improvements and also greater safety and accessibility.   

Estimated cost in s7.11 contributions plan: $1.14 million (100% apportionment) 
Estimated cost using IPART’s proposed benchmark costs  

 
*Adjustment factors not included noting that “constraint considerations” in IPARTs technical 
reports only apply to transport and stormwater projects.  
Actual cost for council to deliver (2020) 
Construction total  $1,216,357 (including contingency)  
On Cost     $351,891 (29% of construction costs)  
FINAL TOTAL   $1,568,248 

 



Submission on  
NSW Government infrastructure contributions changes 

41 

Gadigal Avenue and Lachlan Street intersection, Lachlan Precinct 
Benchmark costs versus actual costs 
The Lachlan Precinct is a 10-hectare former industrial area located within the north-east of the 
Green Square Urban Renewal Area. Since 2011 it has transitioned from an industrial to a 
residential mixed-use precinct. By 2030 it will accommodate 6,600 residents, 3,500 homes and 
neighbourhood retail shops and businesses. Its renewal has required the delivery of enabling 
physical infrastructure including 15,000 square metres of new public open space, high quality 
streetscapes, cycleways, trees and planting that enhances habitats for local wildlife and 
natural ecosystems. 

A new signalised intersection at Gadigal Avenue and Lachlan Street was required to provide 
enhance pedestrian and cycle safety and access to and from the Lachlan Precinct. 

Scope of works deemed to be ‘base level’ improvements by the City:  
– construction of a four-way signalised intersection; 

– footpath widening/improvement adjoining intersection; 

– construction/adjustment of separated cycleway, and; 

– planter beds. 

Estimated cost using IPART’s proposed benchmark costs 

 
*IPART’s benchmark costs for transport related infrastructure do not include any allowance / 
scope for general public domain improvements such as pavement works, planter beds etc 
Actual cost for council to deliver (2020) 
Construction Total $3,810,503 (including contingency)  
On Cost     $312,398 (8% of construction costs) 
FINAL TOTAL   $4,122,091 

 



Submission on  
NSW Government infrastructure contributions changes 

42 

 
Costing approach as an alternative to using benchmark costs  
The proposed benchmark costs will not be applicable to the vast majority of infrastructure delivered 
within our area which is home to some of the most important economic centres in Australia (e.g. 
the CBD and our southern employment lands) and some of Australia’s densest urban communities 
(e.g. Green Square, Potts Point and Kings Cross). Even taking into account adjustment factors and 
project allowances, the complexity of delivering infrastructure in the City where there are significant 
site constraints means that the proposed benchmark costs would not provide the most accurate 
estimate of efficient costs for base level infrastructure. Furthermore, infrastructure in areas such as 
the City, which serves a significant worker and visitor population in addition to an increasing 
residential population, needs to be of high functionality to withstand high intensity of use.  

Under the proposals, the City would have to replace benchmark costs with alternative costings for 
the vast majority of infrastructure items it intends to fund through s7.11 contributions or risk being 
significantly worse off financially. It is acknowledged that the City already does prepare costings for 
its infrastructure projects, often using historical costs of similar projects and actual costs where 
available. The key difference with this proposal is that these costings will be required very early on 
in the infrastructure delivery process, so that they can be included in a contributions plan. Noting 
again that the City’s current s7.11 contributions plan has 161 works items, using a costing 
approach to develop cost estimates to be included at the plan preparation stage would be a hugely 
resource intensive task at such an early stage of the process. In their Draft Report, IPART describe 
the site-specific cost estimate process as both “lengthy” and “costly for councils”. The City is not 
convinced that this is a viable alternative. 

IPART’s Draft Report notes that “ideally costs estimates should be based on competitively 
procured tenders for the specific project or infrastructure in question” (page 65). This is wholly 
unrealistic. For the vast majority of infrastructure items proposed to be funded through 
contributions, it is unrealistic for a competitive tender process to have been undertaken (or 
completed) at the point of contribution plan preparation. If this approach were to be adopted all 
council contributions plans would be in a constant state of recoupment, which is not a financially 
realistic option for most councils. 

IPART propose governance arrangements to support the use of specific estimates or actual costs, 
and that councils will need to explain the costing approach followed for estimating costs. These 
proposals unreasonably place the onus on councils to justify and explain their proposed costings, 
including with reference back to benchmark costs for comparative purposes. IPART state that the 
level of information and justification to be provided by councils on their cost estimates is to be 
proportionate to the cost in the contributions plan, and note that for larger costs, specialist reports 
may be required. Again, these proposals represent unrealistic resource imposts on councils.  
  



Submission on  
NSW Government infrastructure contributions changes 

43 

Step 5: Plan updated over time 
Process for updating the benchmark costs over time 
The NSW Government has asked IPART to not only develop standardised benchmark costs for 
local infrastructure, but also to maintain them into the future. IPART propose to:  

– update benchmark costs annually to escalate them to ensure they keep pace with cost 
increases; 

– undertake regular reviews (possibly every 4 years but more frequently in the early years) of 
benchmark scope and whether it continues to reflect changes to standards, current practices or 
technologies, or other changed or emerging trends.  

Notwithstanding the City’s strong objection to benchmark costs, indexing is important to avoid the 
ongoing financial loss that councils currently face with the caps on residential contributions which 
have not been indexed since their implementation around 10 years ago.  

It is important for any indexing of the benchmark costs to align with indexing of s7.11 contributions 
rates both in terms of the index to be applied and the frequency of indexation. This will ensure that 
the benchmark costs that can be applied for infrastructure and the contribution rates that can be 
levied remain in lockstep. In this regard, it is noted that the ABS PPS Road and Bridge 
Construction Index for NSW is proposed to apply for both the transport and stormwater benchmark 
categories, but the ABS PPI Non-Residential Building Construction Index for NSW is proposed for 
the Open Space benchmark category. However, when it comes to indexing 7.11 contributions rates 
themselves, the draft Regulation only refers to the ABS PPI Road and Bridge Construction Index, 
which means that for there will be a misalignment between the indexing of benchmark costs and 
the contributions rates for open space.  

Without regular reviews of benchmark scopes, their accuracy and relevance would be 
questionable. Only through thorough and meaningful consultation directly with councils will it be 
understood how standardised benchmark costs are working on the ground.  

Updates over the life of a contributions plan  
The NSW Government proposes that s7.11 contributions plans be reviewed every four years, 
starting from 1 July 2024. IPART propose that contributions plans which are developed using 
benchmarks or cost estimates will require updating to maintain currency and ensure costs in the 
plan continue to remain cost reflective. IPART propose that all higher value contributions plans 
should be reviewed at a fixed four year period, but they are less clear as to when reviews should 
be undertaken in relation to other contributions plans.  

It is important to acknowledge the process of updating and reviewing contributions plans is 
resource intensive. It is the City’s views that the proposed reforms will significantly increase 
councils’ workloads, particularly to front load costings at the plan preparation stage. The 
preparation the City’s current 7.11 plan took around two years from the start of the process to its 
commencement. Many councils, including the City, have more than one contributions plan, and the 
new requirement to prepare contributions plans at the same time as planning proposals means that 
councils are likely to end up with multiple contributions plans. The new requirements for providing 
cost estimates for infrastructure projects will require councils to know much more detail about 
potential projects earlier in the process, which equates to much more upfront work.  

The combination of more contributions plans and the higher volume of work required to 
develop cost estimates, means that there will be more impost on council resources. This in 
turn means more public money spent on the administration of these matters and 
consequently unable to be spent on the actual construction, maintenance and operation of 
public facilities and infrastructure.  
 



Submission on  
NSW Government infrastructure contributions changes 

44 

Deferral of contribution 
payments 
Although not expressly part of the exhibition package, it is clear that the NSW Government still 
proposes to use the Infrastructure Bill to make permanent the temporary Covid-19 related Direction 
currently in place which allows a “payment holiday” of contributions from construction certificate to 
occupation certificate stage.  

The City has consistently argued against this policy change and is strongly opposed to the 
proposal to make it permanent. This approach is fundamentally flawed, undermines the entire 
purpose of development contributions and presents a further challenge to the ongoing financial 
stability of councils.  

This policy change is in direct conflict with the NSW Government’s aim of delivering the right 
infrastructure at the right time to improve the productivity of communities and deliver jobs. If 
infrastructure contributions are only payable to councils at occupation certificate stage, then 
councils will have received the funding too late to ensure that infrastructure is delivered and 
operational when the occupants of a new development move in. Infrastructure lag behind new 
development, already a long-held concern by the property industry and a key challenge under the 
current infrastructure system, will inevitably be exacerbated as councils are receiving fewer 
contributions and only after populations have increased.  

This proposal represents an additional impost on councils who will already have their income 
significantly reduced under the proposed reforms. It will force many councils to either borrow or will 
lead to them being unable to build and maintain infrastructure. This may ultimately lead to the risk 
of them being in breach of their obligations under the guiding principles established in the Local 
Government Act.  

Millions in contributions payments already deferred  
In the City, the Covid-19 related Direction is in place in relation to our s7.11 contributions plan. As 
a result of this Direction which commenced in July 2020, the City is aware of at least $26.5 
million in development contributions where payment has been deferred from the 
construction certificate stage to the occupation certificate stage. This is $26.5 million in 
public monies that the City should currently be spending to deliver the infrastructure 
needed to support incoming new populations for developments currently under 
construction. However, the City will not see this money until the point when these new 
developments are to be occupied and infrastructure won’t be delivered until years later.  

The City is also aware of around $45 million in development contributions that developers may be 
eligible to defer payment on under the Direction for developments where construction certificates 
have not yet been issued. Furthermore, as this Direction has been applied retrospectively, it is a 
significant challenge to quantify or forecast the full breadth of contributions amounts that may be 
deferred as a result of several years of development consents.  

This policy is having a direct impact on local contributions receipts in the City. This impact will be 
exacerbated now that this policy also applies to our new Central Sydney Development 



Submission on  
NSW Government infrastructure contributions changes 

45 

Contributions Plan 202013. In the long term this policy will seriously impact on the City’s ability to 
fund and deliver infrastructure.  

Figure 10. Financial impact on City since July 2020 of deferral of 
contributions payments  

 

Significant risk of delinquency  
With the deferral of payment from construction certificate to occupation certificate stage, there 
remains a high risk of delinquency by developers and private certifiers. While the NSW 
Government intends to introduce measures to address this risk, it remains that private certifiers 
may be put under pressure to issue occupation certificates, and that there are rogue development 
companies that may fold upon building occupation. It is critical to note that development companies 
are often Special Purpose Vehicles ($2 subsidiary companies), designed to isolate parent 
company assets, operations or risks. These Special Purpose Vehicles can be easily wound up 
should liabilities outweigh assets, which may make the recovery of unpaid contributions extremely 
difficult.  

The issues of private certifiers failing to properly attend to their obligations in relation to certifying 
developments were identified by the City many years ago and have now been well documented in 
relation to building defects. It is not appropriate to extend the risks in those areas to contributions 
payments, with the effect of creating both an additional cost to councils to follow up on compliance 
and a significant risk (ultimately borne by the community) that contributions will not be paid and 
that consequently essential infrastructure will not be able to be delivered. The burden of 
enforcement in this area will fall on councils and the risk of revenue loss is significant. 
  

 

 
13 Contributions under s61 of the City of Sydney Act 1988 were not captured by this Direction. Therefore contributions 
levied through the Central Sydney Development Contributions Plan 2013 remain payable at construction certificate 
stage.  



Submission on  
NSW Government infrastructure contributions changes 

46 

Modelling has never been released  
Despite requests, the Department has failed to share any modelling undertaken to justify this 
policy. The City has previously requested that they share their cost benefit analysis which shows 
how much development is likely to be incentivised as a result of this Direction versus the impacts 
on infrastructure delivery for councils and lost economic benefits of those infrastructure projects.  

Interestingly, it is the City’s experience that a commitment to infrastructure delivery is one of the 
key drivers in moving development forward. This is evident in the redevelopment of Green Square 
following the City’s commitment to take on numerous infrastructure works, including drainage 
works and the commitment of council owned land to facilitate the delivery of necessary educational 
facilities. Councils will not be able to provide such commitments if their infrastructure funding is 
delayed or at risk.  

The Government should abandon its plans to implement this as there is no justification in 
maintaining this emergency measure on a permanent basis.  

Financial assistance and full indemnification for councils 
The Minister’s recent flagging by press release of a willingness to investigate providing financial 
assistance for councils who can demonstrate financial hardship as a result of this change is an 
entirely inadequate response to the very real issues caused by this proposal.  

Should the Minister proceed with making this unjustifiable policy permanent, any financial 
assistance must include a full indemnification by the NSW Government of all local contributions 
which are not paid due to the insolvency or other default of developers prior to payment to ensure 
that councils are not left out of pocket and unable to deliver infrastructure when (not if) these 
situations arise.  

If it is the Government’s position that there is little or no risk of developer default as a result of this 
policy position, then there should be no concern by the Government in providing a full 
indemnification to councils. 

   



Submission on  
NSW Government infrastructure contributions changes 

47 

Land Value 
Contributions 
An alternate approach to funding land acquisition 
The Infrastructure Bill and draft Regulation propose to enable councils to incorporate a mechanism 
to capture a proportion of increased land value as a result of a planning decision into their s7.11 
contribution plans. 

The proposed land value contribution is an optional alternative approach to collecting monetary 
contributions for new public land through s.7.11 contributions.  

Traditionally, a proportion of s7.11 developer contributions paid by a developer goes towards the 
acquisition of land for a public purpose. This can be an inefficient system of acquiring land because 
it can take a long time for councils to accrue sufficient contributions towards acquiring new public 
land. Land values can increase rapidly and often increase on early signs of land being considered 
for future development, which increases land acquisition costs to provide public infrastructure. 

Under the proposal, a contributions plan that introduces a requirement for a land value contribution 
will be a site-specific contributions plan and must be developed concurrently with a planning 
proposal for the same land. Councils wishing to apply a land value contribution must say so as part 
of their request for a gateway determination. A draft contributions plan will also be required to be 
submitted as part of the planning proposal package (see Figure 11). 

Where a council has chosen to adopt a land value contribution, a land value contribution comes 
into effect when land is rezoned by a concurrent planning proposal. However, the contribution is 
only payable (via dedication or equivalent value) upon either sale of land or development, 
whichever occurs first after rezoning. This is to ensure that the immediate beneficiary of the 
rezoning (the landowner or developer) makes a contribution but only when action is taken to sell or 
develop the land.  

On the full satisfaction of the contribution, the land value contribution requirement is discharged 
from the land and no further land value contribution payment is required. 

Land value contributions relate to the proportion of land required for public purposes and are 
expressed as a percentage. The maximum rate is 20% to ensure an efficient approach to 
infrastructure design. The land value contribution is calculated based on the value of the land at 
the time that the contribution is triggered. This is the value of land for rating purposes as defined by 
the NSW Valuer General. These values to not include the value of structures on site but includes 
land improvements like drainage, excavating, retaining walls etc. It is not market value of the land. 

The land value contribution mechanism is specifically designed for greenfield release areas where 
changes to the planning controls enable more intensive development and result in higher land 
values. However, the Regulation amendments do not restrict its use to greenfield areas.  
  



Submission on  
NSW Government infrastructure contributions changes 

48 

The City supports the principle of a land value contribution 
The City supports the principle of a land value contribution, with the obligation created at rezoning 
stage when development uplift is realised.   

The City already does this through the Green Square community infrastructure floor space system, 
the deferred Green Square Town Centre LEP process and various site-specific planning proposals 
tied to Voluntary Planning Agreements.    

This approach represents an appropriate mechanism to ensure that the gain which flows to 
landowners upon upzoning is offset by some contribution to the costs of future population growth 
and should be developed in consultation with other councils outside this proposed package of 
changes.  

Notwithstanding the City’s fundamental concerns about the package of proposed changes as a 
whole, it is critical that the proposed land value contribution system does not prevent these existing 
methods for capturing a proportion of land value now and into the future.  

Figure 11. Land Value Contribution procedure and process 

 



Submission on  
NSW Government infrastructure contributions changes 

49 

Land use planning 
process changes 
New Ministerial directions 
The exhibited changes include two new Ministerial Directions addressing: 

– Local Infrastructure Contributions – Planning Proposals, and 

– Dual and shared use of open space and public facilities. 

The Planning Act permits the Planning Minister to direct councils to prepare planning proposals 
consistent with Ministerial Directions. 

Ministerial Directions relate to principles consistent with the Planning Act and may require the 
inclusion in planning proposals of provisions to achieve or give effect to particular principles, aims, 
objectives or policies like the Greater Sydney Region Plan. 

Ministerial Directions usually require planning proposals to be strictly consistent or substantially 
consistent with the terms of the Direction, or the Direction provides for the circumstances in which 
an inconsistency can be justified. 

A new direction to align growth with infrastructure 
The objectives of the new Local Infrastructure Contributions – Planning Proposals direction are to: 

– encourage the preparation and exhibition of draft contribution plans at the same time as 
planning proposals where a new or amended contributions plan is required to accommodate 
the increased demand for public amenities and public services 

– facilitate the provision of appropriate public amenities and services for new development, and 

– provide certainty as to the likely development costs, including local infrastructure contributions, 
that will arise from decisions to facilitate development through changes to planning controls. 

The new direction requires that when a planning proposal authority (either Council or the Minister) 
is considering a new planning proposal, they must determine whether: 

– existing local contributions plans adequately address the need or increased demand for public 
amenities or public services that will result from the proposal, and  

– if existing local contributions plans will not adequately address that need or increase in 
demand, whether local infrastructure contributions are necessary to meet the cost of providing 
the public amenities or public services concerned, including where the council has already 
incurred that cost. 

While the City already undertakes this assessment when considering planning proposals, the 
implication of the new direction is that it requires councils to document an assessment of each 
planning proposal against the new direction and submit that assessment to the Department when 
requesting Gateway Determination. This is an unreasonable additional administrative burden for 
inner city councils dealing with urban infill areas. 

For inner city councils, our local strategic planning statements provide a solid basis for 
understanding where development and growth is likely to occur. To require a full contributions 



Submission on  
NSW Government infrastructure contributions changes 

50 

review for each planning proposal is unnecessary. The direction will contribute to increased 
timeframes for processing planning proposals as councils and proponents get used to operating 
under the direction and procedures are developed.  

The proposal is likely to lead to disagreements between councils/proponents/the NSW 
Government about the need for new or updated contribution plans and when and how these 
situations are resolved.  

The direction risks holding up planning proposals until issues around infrastructure are 
agreed between parties, including NSW Government infrastructure/service providers.  

A new direction to encourage the dual use of public facilities 
The objectives of the new dual and shared use of open space and public facilities direction are to: 

– encourage the efficient use of public open space, drainage and public facilities land to support 
new residential development and renewal areas, by incorporating opportunities for the shared 
use of such land for a variety of public amenities and public services, and 

– to ensure that new housing, including in a mixed-use zone and new commercial development 
have appropriate access to public amenities and services. 

The direction doesn’t seek to reduce the totality or types of public amenities and public services to 
be provided in connection with residential development and instead encourages the consideration, 
as part of a planning proposal, of opportunities for the sharing of public open space, drainage 
purposes and public facilities land for a variety of public purposes. 

The new direction requires that when a planning proposal authority is considering a new planning 
proposal, they must demonstrate the efficient use of land used for public open space, drainage 
purposes or public facilities. This includes considering measures to share use of publicly owned 
land and facilities to enable more than one public amenity or public service (whether local or State) 
to be provided on that land or in that facility. 

The City already does this when planning public open space and facilities. The implication of the 
new direction for the City is that it will need to document an assessment of each planning proposal 
that involves public open space and facilities against the new direction and submit that assessment 
to the Department when requesting Gateway Determination. This is an additional administrative 
burden for councils. 
 



Submission on  
NSW Government infrastructure contributions changes 

51 

Other matters 
Local contributions must apply to State Significant Development 
Notwithstanding the City’s fundamental concerns about the package of proposed changes as a 
whole, the City requests the application of local infrastructure contributions to State Significant 
Development be mandatory (unless a different approach is supported by the relevant council in a 
particular instance) rather than the current situation where the State decides whether to attach 
conditions requiring them on a case-by-case basis.  

Large developments are often undertaken as State Significant Development. In the City this can 
include works by universities, hotels and buildings over Metro stations. In the City’s experience, it 
is regularly the case that during the assessment of these applications, the Department fails to 
impose local infrastructure contributions or agrees to applicant requests for offsets against local 
contributions for public domain works in circumstances where the offsets are not supported by the 
council. The failure to attach a condition requiring payment of local contributions, or a decision to 
offset, can result in a significant loss of contributions income for councils as well as generate a 
funding gap and affordability risk for the local infrastructure contributions plan works program. 
Historically the Department’s application of contribution consent conditions and offsets has been 
inconsistent and arbitrary, and not supported by any consistent principles or criteria.  

The application of contributions to State Significant Development should be mandatory unless the 
relevant council supports an alternative approach (such as an agreed offset) in a particular 
circumstance. Where the council and a relevant consent authority are in disagreement as to 
whether local infrastructure contributions should apply to a development, there should be a formal 
dispute resolution mechanism through, for example, the Independent Planning Commission. 

Simplifying and standardising exemptions 
The Regulations are proposed to be amended to exclude the following development from paying 
local infrastructure contributions: 

– public housing; 

– affordable housing carried out by or on behalf of a social housing provider, and; 

– Crown development for the purposes of schools, health service facilities, emergency services 
facilities, public administration buildings 

This proposal fails to ensure that private development on Crown land will not be exempted from the 
need to pay local contributions.  

Practice note review 
The Department is reviewing existing local infrastructure contributions practice notes with an aim to 
make them a user focused, multi-faceted online experience. The review seeks to achieve the 
following: 

– reform policy advice and settings to support a principles based system; 

– implement standard approaches and processes to make the system more efficient and 
consistent; 



Submission on  
NSW Government infrastructure contributions changes 

52 

– update guidance materials to make the system simple, certain, and transparent, and; 

– engage with the community and stakeholders in all phases of the policy development process. 

There are nine draft practice note modules on exhibition. The City has not reviewed the nine draft 
practice note modules. The Department has not provided sufficient time to review the 
practice notes when combined with the over 500 pages of additional exhibition material 
councils have had to review. The City can provide comments on the practice notes, but 
additional time is required in order to provide a thorough and meaningful review. It is noted that the 
practice notes can be amended and updated anytime by the NSW Government without the need 
for consultation or exhibition. 

Minor amendments 
The Regulations are proposed to be amended to clarify that councils’ contributions registers are to 
include complying development certificates. The City notes that councils do not always get all the 
correct information submitted by private certifiers to enable the registers to be accurately 
completed for complying development certificates. Therefore, the NSW Government needs to 
address this issue with private certifiers for the sake of accuracy of registers. 

Reporting requirements for affordable housing contributions 
The Regulations are proposed to be amended to require councils: 

– to keep and make public an affordable housing contributions register; 

– require councils to report expenditure of affordable housing contributions by project in their 
annual reports, and; 

– require councils to publish the affordable housing contributions information required in annual 
reports on the NSW planning portal as well as on their own websites. 

Affordable housing contributions are collected in the City via a number of different means. For 
example, directly paid to a community housing provider, directly paid to the Department or other 
agency and then passed to a community housing provider, directly paid to council or delivered as 
work in kind. There is no clarity in regard to the scope of register and reporting requirements and if 
councils will be responsible for capturing data on each of these scenarios. Where the City is not 
involved in a transaction affordable housing contributions accurate data may not always be readily 
available. 

  



Submission on  
NSW Government infrastructure contributions changes 

53 

 

n.xThis is an additional administrative burden but can be reasonably resourced and 
accommodated. 

 

 

 



Council 21 February 2022 
 

 

Item 11 

Questions on Notice 

1. Leaf Blowers 

By Councillor Scott 

Question 

1. Please list the contracts in which it is permissible to use a petrol fuelled leaf blower for 
green space maintenance or construction? Broken down by contract when do they 
expire? 

2. Please detail the emissions annually produced by leaf blowers broken down by 
contract permitting their use? 

X086668 

2. Pandemic Leave and Stand Downs for City Staff 

By Councillor Scott 

Question 

1. Broken down by year, how many City staff have been stood down under the Splinter 
Award, and for how long?  

2. Broken down by month, how many City staff have had their hours reduced since 
lockdown began in June 2021? 

X086668 

3. Fitness Passports 

By Councillor Scott 

Question 

1. How many members are affected by the City’s decision to remove its facilities from the 
Fitness Passport program? 

2. What community consultation was undertaken on the City’s decision to remove its 
facilities from the Fitness Passport program? 

3. What compensation financial or other will members receive from this reduction in 
services? 



Council 21 February 2022 
 

 

4. What are the projected savings from cutting the City services from the Fitness 
Passport program and where will these funds be redirected to? What will the savings 
be for the City as a result of cutting City services and what are the savings for 
Belgravia? 

X086668 

4.  Community Consultation on proposed changes to resident parking in 
Cross, Foss, Clare and Woolley Streets Glebe/Forest Lodge 

By Councillor Weldon 

Question 

1. Does the City of Sydney Neighbourhood Parking Policy state that “the community will 
be consulted on proposed changes”? 

2. Where changes to parking arrangements are being considered by Council, what 
process, steps and actions by Council constitute “community consultation”? 

3. What community consultation was undertaken by Council on proposed changes to 
resident parking in Cross, Foss, Clare and Woolley Streets Glebe/Forest Lodge during 
2020-2022? 

4. In 2020/2021 did Council recommend to Transport for NSW that a number of parking 
spaces in Cross, Foss, Clare and Woolley Streets be converted from 2hr parking with 
resident and visit exemptions to 15-minute parking, 8am to 10pm, 7 days per week? 

5. If the answer to 4 is yes, did Council circumvent its own Neighbourhood Parking policy 
in relation to community consultation? 

6. Are there changes proposed by Council to resident/visitor parking in Cross, Foss, 
Clare and Woolley Streets Glebe/Forest Lodge to vary the current 2 hr parking limit 
with resident/visitor exemptions? 

X086670 

5.  Initiatives endorsed by City of Sydney for World Pride 2023 

By Councillor Weldon 

Question 

1. What is the current position regarding the incentives unanimously endorsed by the City 
of Sydney Council to activate the day and night economy in Oxford Street in 
preparation for an influx of visitors and locals for World Pride 2023? 

2. How and when will Councillors be updated regarding the readiness of the City of 
Sydney for this important global event? 

X086670 



Council 21 February 2022 
 

 

6.  Increasing Foot Traffic in the CBD 

By Councillor Weldon 

Question 

1. What is the timetable for Council employees returning to work in Council offices in the 
CBD? 

2. What action is Council proposing to take to encourage businesses in the CBD to 
require employees to return to work in the CBD? 

3. What Council initiatives are currently in effect to increase foot traffic in the CBD? 

X086670 



Council 21 February 2022 
 

Item 12 

Supplementary Answers to Previous Questions 

Supplementary Answers to Questions on Notice are as follows: 

Question on Notice – Council 26 July 2021 

Green Square School 

By Councillor Scott 

Question 

1. When was the last valuation of the site to be entered into the proposed Project 
Development Deed? What was the valuation quantum? 

2. Please detail the compensation (in kind or otherwise) the City will be provided for this 
land, proposed to be provided to Department of Education under the Project 
Development Deed. 

3. Please detail, broken down by year, other land transfers to the NSW Government for 
public benefit uses, since 2011, and the monetary or in-kind public benefit or otherwise 
that the City has received. 

4. Please detail, broken down by year, land transfers from the NSW Government to the 
City of Sydney for public benefit uses, since 2011, and the monetary or in-kind public 
benefit or otherwise that the City has received. 

5. Is there asbestos present in the site of the proposed new Green Square primary 
school site? If so, please detail how this will be removed and remedied safely, noting 
the early education and care centre in close proximity. 

S129275 

Answer by the Chief Executive Officer 

1. This information is contained on page 2 of Confidential Attachment F (19 July 2021 
Corporate, Finance, Properties and Tenders Committee – Item 5 -Draft Project 
Development Deed - Green Square Town Centre Integrated Community Facility and 
School) – under the heading “Site Valuation”. 

  



Council 21 February 2022 
 

2. The Department of Education will be contributing financially to the capital cost of City 
owned facilities (the shared facilities). This information is contained on page 44 of 
Schedule 3 of Confidential Attachment C (19 July 2021 Corporate, Finance, Properties 
and Tenders Committee – Item 5 -Draft Project Development Deed - Green Square 
Town Centre Integrated Community Facility and School) – in the table “Apportionment 
of Payments”. These financial capital contributions from the Department of Education 
are more than the value of the stratum being transferred to Department of Education. 
Furthermore, the substantial additional cost to the City of not entering to the 
Development Deed with Department of Education and then constructing the same 
proposed community facilities alone is contained on page 3 of Confidential Attachment 
F (19 July 2021 Corporate, Finance, Properties and Tenders Committee – Item 5 -
Draft Project Development Deed - Green Square Town Centre Integrated Community 
Facility and School) – under the heading “Options”. The additional costs are 
significantly more than the value of the stratum being transferred to Department of 
Education. 

3. This information will take some time to compile. The City will provide this information to 
Councillors via the CEO Update when available. 

4. This information will take some time to compile. The City will provide this information to 
Councillors via the CEO Update when available. 

5. The City has successfully decontaminated the rest of the former South Sydney 
Hospital site and all other projects it has worked on in the Green Square precinct. A 
Remediation Action Plan is developed by a qualified Environmental Consultant, which 
is approved by an accredited Independent Environmental Auditor before any 
demolition or construction commences. Any works involving removal of asbestos 
would be undertaken as per stringent regulation and safety requirements, and the City 
will notify adjacent landowners, businesses and residents. 

Supplementary Answer 

Answers to questions 3 and 4 were provided to Councillors via a Confidential CEO Update 

on 2 December 2021. 



Council 21 February 2022 
 

Item 13.1 

Notices of Motion 

Vale Sadie King OAM 

By Councillor Scott 

It is resolved that: 

(A) Council note: 

(i) the passing of long-time Glebe resident and champion of the Labor movement 
Sarah ‘Sadie’ King OAM on 17 January 2022 at the age of 100; 

(ii) Sadie was born in Glasgow and immigrated to Sydney with her family at the age 
of seven; 

(iii) Sadie moved to Glebe after working in the defence industry during World War 2; 

(iv) Sadie was the first woman in the APTU (the predecessor union to the CEPU), 
the first woman to be elected to the NSW state executive and was instrumental 
in establishing the APTU Women's Committee; 

(v) Sadie became a member of the NSW branch of the Australian Labor Party in 
1965 and was awarded life membership in 2009; 

(vi) Sadie fought for the rights of fellow public housing tenants, contributing to the 
protection of the Glebe Estate and became a tenants’ representative to the 
Glebe Project; 

(vii) Sarah ‘Sadie’ King OAM will be remembered as a beloved Glebe local and a 
passionate advocate for public housing tenants, women’s rights and the labor 
movement; and 

(viii) Federal Member for Sydney Tanya Plibersek has requested Council consider 
placing a plaque commemorating Sadie’s life at “Sadie’s Corner”, the corner of 
St Johns Road and Glebe Point Road, Glebe;  

(B) all persons attending this meeting of Council observe one minute’s silence to 
commemorate the life of Sarah ‘Sadie’ King OAM and her significant contribution to the 
labor movement, public housing advocacy, women's rights and the Glebe community;  

(C) Council express its condolences to Sarah ‘Sadie’ King OAM’s family;  

(D) the Lord Mayor be requested to convey Council’s condolences to Sadie’s family. Vale 
Sarah ‘Sadie’ King OAM; and 

(E) the Chief Executive Officer be requested to investigate installing a plaque 
commemorating Sadie’s life and contribution to the City of Sydney at “Sadie’s Corner” 
the corner of St Johns Road and Glebe Point Road, Glebe and report back to 
Councillors via the CEO Update. 

X086655 



Council 21 February 2022 
 

Item 13.2 

Notices of Motion 

Closing the Gap  

By Councillor Scott  

It is resolved that:  

(A) Council note:  

(i) the City of Sydney is keenly committed to Reconciliation and addressing the 
disproportionate disadvantage experienced by Aboriginal and Torres Strait 
Islander peoples;  

(ii) a National Agreement on Closing the Gap has been developed to enable 
Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people and governments to work together to 
overcome the inequality experienced by Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander 
people, and achieve life outcomes equal to all Australians;  

(iii) the National Agreement requires each jurisdiction (state and territory) to have an 
implementation plan in place to Close the Gap by July 2021;  

(iv) the NSW Coalition of Aboriginal Peak Organisations and NSW Government have 
been developing a NSW Implementation Plan for Closing the Gap which is 
currently Cabinet-in-confidence and not publicly available;  

(v) the NSW Coalition of Aboriginal Peak Organisations have notified the City that 
they will conduct community consultations in our local area for our community to 
provide input into the NSW Government’s Closing the Gap Implementation Plan; 

(vi) councils across Australia are highly engaged in the priority reform areas and 
socio-economic targets referred to throughout the National Agreement on 
Closing the Gap including early childhood care and development; social and 
emotional wellbeing initiatives; housing, health, disability inclusion, social 
cohesion, inclusion and anti-racism initiatives; prevention of family and domestic 
violence and community infrastructures;  

(vii) local government engagement will be crucial to ensuring the success of Closing 
the Gap initiatives;  

(viii) all councils have a role to play and should develop their own strategies to close 
the gap;  

(ix) City staff have met with staff from the NSW Government Department of 
Aboriginal Affairs who have advised that they will issue guidance to Local 
Government on their proposed aims and methodology for Closing the Gap 
Strategy;  



Council 21 February 2022 
 

(x) the NSW Government Department of Aboriginal Affairs briefed the City’s 
Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Advisory Panel at their October 2021 
meeting;  

(xi) draft priority reform areas and socioeconomic targets to Close the Gap that the 
Council is already taking, and will contribute in future, have been added to the 
City’s draft Community Strategic Plan: Sustainable Sydney 2030-2050 to be 
considered by Council by June 2022; and 

(xii) the City will undertake a stocktake of partnerships between the City and 
Aboriginal community and stakeholders, and provide this to the Closing the Gap 
team at NSW Aboriginal Affairs by March; and 

(B) the Chief Executive Officer be requested to develop a City of Sydney Closing the Gap 
Strategy for Council endorsement by June 2022 that:  

(i) is developed in partnership with local Aboriginal stakeholders and organisations; 
and 

(ii) builds on and links to the existing City Reconciliation Action Plan, further 
outlining in detail how Council can contribute and is contributing to the priority 
reform areas and socioeconomic targets in the National Agreement on Closing 
the Gap. 

X086655 



Council 21 February 2022 
 

Item 13.3 

Notices of Motion 

Theatres and Studios  

By Councillor Gannon 

It is resolved that: 

(A) Council note: 

(i) on 18 October 2021, the NSW Government through Create NSW announced $5 
million for a Theatre and Film Strategy: 

(a) the purpose of this strategy was for the development of a film studio and 
theatre infrastructure policy that will help secure international productions 
and strengthen the local industry; and 

(b) the City of Sydney is the best placed Local Government Area for 
international productions;  

(ii) the importance of the arts and cultural industry in the City of Sydney; 

(iii) the need for more theatres in the City of Sydney; 

(iv) the significance of the arts and cultural industry in the revitalisation of the Sydney 
CBD and night time economy; and 

(v) on 15 December 2020, a joint feasibility study commissioned by the City of 
Sydney and Create NSW was published on the viability of the Minerva Theatre in 
Potts Point: 

(a) the study indicated that reinstatement of the Minerva as a commercially 
operated theatre is a viable proposition; and 

(b) the Theatre and Film strategy will have implications on the future of sites 
like the Minerva theatre within the City of Sydney; and 

(B) the Lord Mayor be requested to write to the Minister for the Arts: 

(i) requesting an update on the Theatre and Film Strategy on behalf of Council; 

(ii) conveying Council’s support for the Theatre and Film Strategy as expressed in 
this motion; 

(iii) calling on the NSW Government to continue its investment in cultural capital 
projects; and 

(iv) provide an update to Councillors on receipt of a response from the Minister. 

X086658 



Council 21 February 2022 
 

Item 13.4 

Notices of Motion 

Harbour Baths  

By Councillor Gannon 

(A) Council note: 

(i) on 4 November 2021, the Premier and Minister for Planning and Public Places 
announced the NSW Government’s $50 million Open Spaces Program: 

(a) the Places to Swim package offers $16.7 million to better connect people 
to water, supporting the health and wellbeing of the community as we re-
emerge from the pandemic; 

(b) the City of Sydney is eligible to apply for this funding; and 

(c) not applying for this funding would be a missed opportunity for Council; 

(ii) on 18 October 2021, the Lord Mayor announced a plan to make Sydney Harbour 
more accessible and safer for swimmers through a harbour baths policy; and 

(iii) the delivery of new harbour baths in the Local Government Area has broad 
support in this Chamber; and 

(B) the Chief Executive Officer be requested to: 

(i) update Council on where the Council is currently with its harbour baths plans; 

(ii) review the NSW Government’s Open Space program and determine if the City of 
Sydney can apply for this funding; and 

(iii) apply for funding on the behalf of Council. 

X086658 



Council 21 February 2022 
 

Item 13.5 

Notices of Motion 

Protecting Cyclists and Proper Community Consultation on Cycleways  

By Councillor Weldon 

It is resolved that: 

(A) Council note: 

(i) data on the NSW Centre for Road Safety website shows the City of Sydney 
(City) Local Government Area has the highest number of cyclist casualties from 
crashes in any NSW Local Government Area during the most recent reporting 
period 2015-2020: 

(a) it is the public duty of the City to ensure that any cycleway (including a pop-
up cycleway) is safe before it is opened, only encouraging cyclists to use it 
after all safety issues have been fully assessed; 

(b) it is also the public duty of the City to properly consult with residents and 
other stakeholders affected by installation of cycleways by loss of access, 
convenience and enjoyment of their residences or places of work, removal 
of parking spaces, including disability parking and safety impacts; 

(c) pop-up cycleways were identified by Transport for NSW and the City in 
March 2020 as part of a temporary solution to ease demand for public 
transport during the Covid-19 pandemic. 

(d) in a 18 May 2020 Lord Mayoral Minute, the Lord Mayor announced that 
"the NSW Government will provide an additional $3,680,000 to deliver six 
new temporary cycleways in partnership with the City of Sydney"; 

(e) these six temporary pop-up cycleways were created under an Order of the 
Minister for Planning due to expire on 31 March 2021 which was extended 
until 31 March 2022; 

(f) in March 2021, Transport for NSW invited the community to share their 
views about the Bridge Road, Glebe and Sydney Park Road, Erskineville 
pop-up cycleways, before any decision was made on whether to make the 
cycleway permanent; 

(g) the City of Sydney is responsible for deciding the future of the other pop-up 
cycleways in Dunning Avenue, Pitt Street, Henderson Road, Moore Park 
Road and Fitzroy Street;  

  



Council 21 February 2022 
 

(h) independent pre-opening Road Safety Audits were conducted by DC 
Engineering on the pop-up cycleways that were-installed in Moore Park 
Road, Paddington, Sydney Park Road Erskineville, and Bridge Road 
Glebe. The reports of these audits refer to sections of the cycleways 
excluded from the audits and other safety issues not addressed in the 
audits; and 

(i) cyclist accidents have in fact occurred on the cycleways including some 
accidents where children have been hospitalised;  

(ii) the pop-up cycleways have created several adverse consequences for residents 
including: 

(a) residents, their friends, family, and service providers experiencing 
difficulties accessing residences, especially those with no rear lane access. 
This has exacerbated social isolation, particularly for some disabled and 
elderly residents; 

(b) chaos for garbage collection due to removal of clearways; 

(c) anxiety and upset for residents from accidents that have occurred on the 
cycleways and may be expected to occur in the future; 

(d) significantly increased costs of delivery/removal of goods imposed by 
Council due to permits required for delivery vehicles and additional time 
moving goods to and from parking locations some distance from 
residences; and 

(e) removal of disabled parking spots then relocation of the spots to locations 
inconvenient to disabled residents;  

(B) the Chief Executive Officer be requested to: 

(i) provide community consultation reports undertaken by Council on the Dunning 
Avenue, Pitt Street, Henderson Road, Moore Park Road and Fitzroy Streets pop 
up cycleways; 

(ii) provide a status update on any proposals to make the Dunning Avenue, Pitt 
Street, Henderson Road, Moore Park Road and Fitzroy Streets pop up 
cycleways permanent including designs;  

(iii) provide a status update on the proposed cycleway on Oxford Street from Taylor 
Square to Centennial Park announced to replace the Moore Park Pop Up 
Cycleway, including any designs and timetable for community consultation; 

(iv) contact Transport for NSW to request that they provide community consultation 
reports undertaken in March 2021 for the Bridge Road, Glebe pop-up cycleway; 

(v) contact Transport for NSW to request that they provide a status update on any 
consideration to make the Bridge Road and Sydney Park Road cycleways 
permanent including any designs;  

  



Council 21 February 2022 
 

(vi) provide copies of Design Stage Road Safety Audits and Pre-Opening Road 
Safety audits for each pop-up and permanent cycleway installed in the City of 
Sydney Local Government Area in the past 10 years; and 

(vii) provide all the above information to Councillors via the CEO Update. 

X086653 


	Agenda
	1 Confirmation of Minutes
	2 Disclosures of Interest
	3.1 Vale Leon Parmeter Carter OBE
	3.2 Donation to Tonga Disaster Appeal
	4.1 Council Committees - Functions, Membership and Election of Deputy Chairpersons
	Attachment A - Functions, Delegations, Policies and Procedures of Council Committees

	4.2 Central Sydney Planning Committee - Election of Councillors
	4.3 Local Pedestrian, Cycling and Traffic Calming Committee - Policies and Procedures, Membership and Appointment of Chairperson
	Attachment A - Policies and Procedures of the Local Pedestrian, Cycling and Traffic Calming Committee

	4.4 Central Sydney Traffic and Transport Committee - Nomination of Alternate Member
	4.5 Council Representation on External Bodies - Southern Sydney Regional Organisation of Councils
	4.6 Council Representation on Internal Committees, Advisory Panels and Working Groups
	4.7 Local Government NSW Special Conference 2022
	5 Matters for Tabling
	6 Report of the Corporate, Finance, Properties and Tenders Committee
	7 Report of the Environment Committee
	8 Report of the Cultural and Community Committee
	9 Report of the Transport, Heritage and Planning Committee
	10 Submission - Changes to NSW Infrastructure Contributions
	Attachment A - Submission on NSW Government Infrastructure Contributions Changes
	Executive summary
	The proposed changes will leave the City financially worse off
	Sydney’s global city status is at risk from these changes
	The proposed changes are seriously flawed
	Breaking the nexus
	Regional Infrastructure Contributions
	Certainty and clarity

	The right infrastructure will not be delivered at the right time
	The City makes the following recommendations

	Regional Infrastructure Contributions
	The feasibility analysis is seriously flawed and misleading
	The NSW Government is restricting councils while granting itself unrestrained flexibility

	Local levy conditions  (s7.12)
	Section 7.12 contribution plans
	A new approach to s7.12 contributions
	Our economic and social recovery from Covid-19 is at risk
	The approach undermines existing evidence-based planning
	Discounted rates for alterations have adverse financial impacts
	The new approach adds considerable complexity
	Transitional arrangements
	Other matters that require justification
	No justification for certain dollar rates
	Additional bedrooms
	Non-private residential and tourist accommodation


	Local infrastructure conditions (s7.11)
	s7.11 changes raise significant uncertainty for councils
	Financial impacts are uncertain
	IPART’s five step framework for s7.11 plans
	Step 1: Essential Works List
	Application of the Essential Works List to all s7.11 plans
	Proposed Essential Works List
	Community facilities works are essential works

	Step 2: Development contingent
	Step 3: Efficient design and delivery
	Base level of performance
	Value for money
	Additional resource implications
	Upgrading existing infrastructure
	Forward funding
	Stormwater

	Step 4: Determine costs to be levied
	Standardised benchmark costs
	Proposed benchmark costs are too low
	Use of benchmark costs is inappropriate at plan preparation stage
	List of infrastructure items for benchmarking is deficient

	Step 5: Plan updated over time
	Process for updating the benchmark costs over time
	Updates over the life of a contributions plan


	Deferral of contribution payments
	Millions in contributions payments already deferred
	Significant risk of delinquency
	Modelling has never been released
	Financial assistance and full indemnification for councils

	Land Value Contributions
	An alternate approach to funding land acquisition
	The City supports the principle of a land value contribution

	Land use planning process changes
	New Ministerial directions
	A new direction to align growth with infrastructure
	A new direction to encourage the dual use of public facilities

	Other matters
	Local contributions must apply to State Significant Development
	Simplifying and standardising exemptions
	Practice note review
	Minor amendments
	Reporting requirements for affordable housing contributions



	11 Questions on Notice
	12 Supplementary Answers to Previous Questions
	13.1 Vale Sadie King OAM
	13.2 Closing the Gap
	13.3 Theatres and Studios
	13.4 Harbour Baths
	13.5 Protecting Cyclists and Proper Community Consultation on Cycleways

